CHANGING BACKGROUNDS AND GROUNDBREAKING CHANGES: GYNECOLOGICAL SURGERY IN THE THIRD DECADE OF THE 21ST CENTURY

EDITED BY: Rafał Watrowski and Radmila Sparic PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Surgery and Frontiers in Medicine







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83250-508-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83250-508-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

CHANGING BACKGROUNDS AND GROUNDBREAKING CHANGES: GYNECOLOGICAL SURGERY IN THE THIRD DECADE OF THE 21ST CENTURY

Topic Editors: **Rafał Watrowski**, Helios Hospital Müllheim, Germany **Radmila Sparic**, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Citation: Watrowski, R., Sparic, R., eds. (2022). Changing Backgrounds and Groundbreaking Changes: Gynecological Surgery in the Third Decade of the 21st Century. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83250-508-3

2

Table of Contents

- 05 Editorial: Changing Backgrounds and Groundbreaking Changes: Gynecological Surgery in the Third Decade of the 21st Century Rafał Watrowski, Stoyan Kostov and Radmila Sparić
- O8 Parallel Loop Binding Compression Suture, a Modified Procedure for Pernicious Placenta Previa Complicated With Placenta Increta
 Mengdi Fu, Hualei Bu, Yan Fang, Chunling Wang, Li Zhang, Yang Zhang, Xiao Sun, Mingbao Li, Chengjuan Jin, Yintao Xu and Lijun Chen
- 16 The Development of Laparoscopy—A Historical Overview Ibrahim Alkatout, Ulrich Mechler, Liselotte Mettler, Julian Pape, Nicolai Maass, Matthias Biebl, Georgios Gitas, Antonio Simone Laganà and Damaris Freytag
- 28 A Novel Multi-Port Containment System for Laparoscopic Power Morcellation to Prevent Tumoral Spread: A Retrospective Cohort Study Wenhui Wang, Haiyan Liang, Fang Zhao, Huan Yu, Chunhong Rong, Weiwei Feng, Qingyun Chen, Yanjun Yang, Qian Li, Dingqing Feng, Yuxiao Dong, Ming Xue, Jing Liang and Bin Ling
- 37 Single-Port Laparoscopic Surgery for Adnexal Mass Removal During Pregnancy: The Initial Experience of a Single Institute Ling Han, Qi Wan, Yali Chen and Ai Zheng
- 43 Left External Iliac Vein Injury During Laparoscopic Pelvic Lymphadenectomy for Early-Stage Ovarian Cancer: Our Experience and Review of Literature

Raffaele Tinelli, Miriam Dellino, Luigi Nappi, Felice Sorrentino, Maurizio Nicola D'Alterio, Stefano Angioni, Giorgio Bogani, Salvatore Pisconti, Stefano Uccella and Erica Silvestris

48 Treatment of Placenta Increta With High-Intensity Focused Ultrasound Ablation and Leaving the Placenta in situ: A Multicenter Comparative Study

Xiaoping Guan, Xiaoqin Huang, Min Ye, Guohua Huang, Xiao Xiao and Jinyun Chen

56 Safety and Feasibility of Vaginal Delivery in Full-Term Pregnancy After Transvaginal-Natural Orifice Transluminal Endoscopic Surgery: A Case Series

Shoufeng Zhang, Zhiyong Dong, Junling Liu, Zhenyue Qin, Huihui Wang, Mingyue Bao, Weiwei Wei, Ruxia Shi, Jiming Chen and Bairong Xia

62 Fertility-Sparing Treatment for Young Patients with Early-Stage Cervical Cancer: A Dawn of a New Era

3

Charalampos Theofanakis, Aristotelis-Marios Koulakmanidis, Anastasia Prodromidou, Dimitrios Haidopoulos, Alexandros Rodolakis and Nikolaos Thomakos

66 Laparoscopic Lateral Suspension (LLS) for the Treatment of Apical Prolapse: A New Gold Standard?

Patrick Dällenbach

74 Nomogram Predicting Lymph Node Metastasis in the Early-Stage Cervical Cancer

Shimin Yang, Chunli Liu, Chunbo Li and Keqin Hua

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Stefano Cianci University of Messina, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Rafał Watrowski rafal.watrowski@gmx.at

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Obstetrics and Gynecological Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Surgery

RECEIVED 03 October 2022 ACCEPTED 04 October 2022 PUBLISHED 02 November 2022

CITATION

Watrowski R, Kostov S and Sparić R (2022) Editorial: Changing backgrounds and groundbreaking changes: Gynecological surgery in the third decade of the 21st century. Front. Surg. 9:1060503. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2022.1060503

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Watrowski, Kostov and Sparic. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Changing backgrounds and groundbreaking changes: Gynecological surgery in the third decade of the 21st century

Rafał Watrowski^{1,2*}, Stoyan Kostov³ and Radmila Sparić^{4,5}

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Helios Hospital Müllheim, Müllheim, Germany, ²Faculty Associate, Medical Center–University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ³Department of Gynecology, University Hospital "Saint Anna", Medical University of Varna, Varna, Bulgaria, ⁴Clinic for Gynecology and Obstetrics, University Clinical Centre of Serbia, Belgrade, Serbia, ⁵Faculty of Medicine, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia

KEYWORDS

gynecological surgery, surgical complication, pregnancy, laparoscopy, placenta increta, primum non nocere, lymphadenectomy, contained morcellation

Editorial on the Research Topic Changing backgrounds and groundbreaking changes: Gynecological surgery in the third decade of the 21st century

By Watrowski R, Kostov S and Sparić R. (2022) Front. Surg. 9: 1060503. doi: 10.3389/fsurg. 2022.1060503

In the third decade of the 21st century, gynecological surgeons are faced with new technical developments but also with new expectations. The surgical evolution is reflected by individualized approaches to patients and treatments (1), increasing role of "omics" and advanced imaging methods for surgical decisions (2, 3), the substantial shift from vaginal to laparoscopic concepts in urogynecology (4–6), increasing role of the robotic-assisted surgery or increased awareness about surgical complications and their prevention (7).

These favorable developments do not eliminate unresolved problems of the past (e.g., the role of the human factor in surgical complications) and add new pitfalls and uncertainties, e.g., the controversy about laparoscopic tissue morcellation (7), the doubts about the oncological risks and long-term results of minimally invasive procedures following the LACC trial (8–10), or issues regarding fertility preservation in oncological patients (11).

We welcome several high-quality articles within this Research Topic that perfectly illustrate these chances and challenges. The publication by *Alkatout* et al. introduces this topic by showing the milestones and pitfalls of gynecological laparoscopy from its beginnings to the present day. This contribution opens our Research Topic and can

serve as a compendium of historical knowledge, but also as a source of reflection that technical evolution alone does not absolve its pioneers from personal defeats and that each stage of development of gynecology brings with it challenges and risks that were unpredictable in the early days of laparoscopy. Alkatout et al. remember in the first sentence of their article that the maxim 'primum non nocere', originating from the Hippocratic tradition, remains relevant also with regard to current and future developments in surgery. Notably, we live in a time when many of the principles of the Hippocratic Oath-that formed a bedrock of medical ethics for centuries -are being increasingly ignored or overshadowed by nonscientific and non-medical concepts. Gratifyingly, and in keeping with the Research Topic, many authors have focused on the modern implementation of Hippocarates' principle: 'When dealing with illness, practice two things: either help or do not harm the patient' (12).

The papers published in this Research Topic address different laparoscopical approaches (classical, natural orifice, single-port), different areas of gynecologic surgery (urogynaecology, oncology) or deal with specific problems that are the price for the development of minimally invasive approaches, e.g., morcellation risks or safety concerns when performing laparoscopy in pregnancy. Importantly, all authors have proposed constructive solutions that go beyond simply reporting of difficulties. For instance, *Tinelli* et al. describe the management of an external iliac vein injury during laparoscopic pelvic lymphadenectomy, supplementing a didactic surgical video with case report and literature review; *Wang* et al. evaluated the utility of a novel multi-port system for contained laparoscopic morcellation; *Yang* et al. developed a nomogram predicting lymph node metastasis in early-stage cervical cancer.

One of the hallmarks of modern gynecological surgery is the changed paradigm of the surgical approach to pelvic organ prolapse (POP). While vaginal techniques, including transvaginal mesh applications, flourished in the late 20th century, laparoscopic concepts have rapidly evolved over the past two decades. Modern surgeons "discovered" fixation points for mesh or autografted tissue at different levels of the lateral pelvic wall, leading to the development of techniques like pectopexy or laparoscopic lateral suspension (LLS), both applicable via the classical and robotic laparoscopic approaches, and thus significantly expanding the therapeutic spectrum for POP beyond the laparoscopic sacrocolpopexy. Dällenbach compares the LLS vs. laparoscopic sacrocolpopexy for apical pelvic organ prolapse, and postulates the LLS as the new "gold standard". We are confident that this not entirely uncontroversial opinion can stimulate scientific debate and sharpen the senses of clinicians regarding the best current treatment for POP (4, 6).

A very special feature of this Research Topic is that every second article is dedicated to surgical interventions in women who are pregnant or want to preserve their fertility. The latter aspect in regard to young patients diagnosed with cervical cancer has been reviewed by Theofanakis et al. The challenge of any surgical procedure during pregnancy is that the preservation of the pregnancy should not significantly compromise the safety of the mother or the effectiveness of the treatment (13). In line with these considerations is the preliminary study of Han et al. reporting of positive experiences with laparoscopic removal of adnexal mass during pregnancy. The study by Zhang et al. applies a retrograde perspective to analyze peripartum outcomes in 12 patients with a prior transluminal endoscopic transvaginal natural opening (vNOTES), including 10 cases of vaginal delivery and 2 cases of cesarean section. A vaginal fornix incision during vNOTES does not appear to compromise the safety and feasibility of vaginal delivery in a subsequent full-term pregnancy. We believe this small study will enhance interest in vNOTES and stimulate larger, multi-center evaluations. Finally, two papers are dedicated to two serious complications of pregnancy and childbirth (which often occur concomitantly): the spectrum of placenta increta and placenta previa. Fu et al. describes a parallel loop binding compression suture as an an effective and safe method to reduce postpartum bleeding in women with placenta previa complicated with placenta increta. Guan et al. presents the results of a multi-center study evaluating the innovative treatment of placenta increta left in situ by high-intensity focused ultrasound ablation. Both articles show therapeutic options of potentially vital importance.

We thank all authors who contributed to this research topic those whose contributions were accepted, but also those whose contributions were rejected—for their efforts and their openness to reviewer comments. We thank the reviewers for their insightful comments and constructive criticism. Finally, we thank the editorial team for their support in handling the manuscripts.

We sincerely hope that the works that constitutes this Research Topic will help clinicians make the right decisions, inspire researchers to further evaluate their surgical practice, and in view of the work of *Alkatout* et al. encourage someone to re-read the original Hippocratic Oath.

Author contributions

RW, RS, SK: conceptualization. RW, RS: writing-first draft. RW: writing final version, literature search. RW, RS, SK: reviewing of the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their

References

1. Bizzarri N, Nero C, Sillano F, Ciccarone F, D'Oria M, Cesario A, et al. Building a personalized medicine infrastructure for gynecological oncology patients in a high-volume hospital. J Pers Med. (2021) 12:3. doi: 10.3390/jpm12010003

2. Li K, Sun H, Guo Q. Combinative evaluation of primary tumor and lymph nodes in predicting pelvic lymphatic metastasis in early-stage cervical cancer: a multiparametric PET-CT study. *Eur J Radiol.* (2019) 113:153–7. doi: 10.1016/j. ejrad.2019.02.013

3. Bizzarri N, Boldrini L, Ferrandina G, Fanfani F, Pedone Anchora L, Scambia G, et al. Radiomic models for lymph node metastasis prediction in cervical cancer: can we think beyond sentinel lymph node? *Transl Oncol.* (2021) 14:101185. doi: 10.1016/j.tranon.2021.101185

4. Noé K-G, Schiermeier S, Alkatout I, Anapolski M. Laparoscopic pectopexy: a prospective, randomized, comparative clinical trial of standard laparoscopic sacral colpocervicopexy with the new laparoscopic pectopexy-postoperative results and intermediate-term follow-up in a pilot study. *J Endourol.* (2015) 29:210–5. doi: 10.1089/end.2014.0413

5. Campagna G, Vacca L, Panico G, Caramazza D, Lombisani A, Scambia G, et al. Laparoscopic lateral suspension for pelvic organ prolapse: a systematic literature review. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2021) 264:318–29. doi: 10. 1016/j.ejogrb.2021.07.044

6. Szymczak P, Grzybowska ME, Sawicki S, Futyma K, Wydra DG. Perioperative and long-term anatomical and subjective outcomes of laparoscopic pectopexy and sacrospinous ligament suspension for POP-Q stages II-IV apical prolapse. J Clin Med. (2022) 11:2215. doi: 10.3390/jcm11082215 affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

7. Watrowski R, Kostov S, Alkatout I. Complications in laparoscopic and robotic-assisted surgery: definitions, classifications, incidence and risk factors an up-to-date review. *Wideochir Inne Tech Maloinwazyjne*. (2021) 16:501–25. doi: 10.5114/wiitm.2021.108800

8. Ramirez PT, Frumovitz M, Pareja R, Lopez A, Vieira M, Ribeiro R, et al. Minimally invasive versus abdominal radical hysterectomy for cervical cancer. *N Engl J Med.* (2018) 379:1895–904. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1806395

9. Touhami O, Plante M. Minimally invasive surgery for cervical cancer in light of the LACC trial: what have we learned? *Curr Oncol.* (2022) 29:1093–106. doi: 10. 3390/curroncol29020093

10. Röseler J, Wolff R, Bauerschlag DO, Maass N, Hillemanns P, Ferreira H, et al. Challenges and controversies in the surgical treatment of cervical cancer: open radical hysterectomy versus minimally invasive radical hysterectomy. *J Clin Med.* (2021) 10:3761. doi: 10.3390/jcm10173761

11. Di Tucci C, Galati G, Mattei G, Chinè A, Fracassi A, Muzii L. Fertility after cancer: risks and successes. *Cancers (Basel).* (2022) 14:2500. doi: 10.3390/cancers14102500

12. Kos H. Hippokrates: Sämtliche Werke (German Edition). In: K Brodersen, editors. Sämtliche werke. Darmstadt: wbg Edition (2022). p. 455–7.

13. Watrowski R. Pregnancy-Preserving laparoscopic treatment of acute hemoperitoneum following lutein cyst rupture in early gestation. Z Geburtshilfe Neonatol. (2019) 223:109–12. doi: 10.1055/a-0853-8131





Parallel Loop Binding Compression Suture, a Modified Procedure for Pernicious Placenta Previa Complicated With Placenta Increta

Mengdi Fu^{1†}, Hualei Bu^{1†}, Yan Fang¹, Chunling Wang², Li Zhang², Yang Zhang³, Xiao Sun⁴, Mingbao Li¹, Chengjuan Jin⁵, Yintao Xu^{1*} and Lijun Chen^{1*}

¹ Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Qilu Hospital, Cheeloo College of Medicine, Shandong University, Jinan, China, ² Department of Anesthesia, Qilu Hospital, Shandong University, Jinan, China, ³ Department of Radiology, Qilu Hospital, Shandong University, Jinan, China, ⁴ Department of Ultrasound, Qilu Hospital, Shandong University, Jinan, China, ⁵ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Shanghai General Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rafał Watrowski, University of Freiburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Ani Amelia Zainuddin, National University of Malaysia, Malaysia Banuhan Sahin, Amasya University, Turkey

*Correspondence:

Yintao Xu xuyintao2010@163.com Lijun Chen chenlijun@email.sdu.edu.cn

[†]These authors share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetrics and Gynecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Surgery

Received: 30 September 2021 Accepted: 08 November 2021 Published: 29 November 2021

Citation:

Fu M, Bu H, Fang Y, Wang C, Zhang L, Zhang Y, Sun X, Li M, Jin C, Xu Y and Chen L (2021) Parallel Loop Binding Compression Suture, a Modified Procedure for Pernicious Placenta Previa Complicated With Placenta Increta. Front. Surg. 8:786497. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2021.786497 **Objective:** To evaluate the efficacy and safety of parallel loop binding compression suture of the lower uterus during cesarean section in pernicious placenta previa complicated with placenta increta.

Methods: This retrospective study was performed in patients with pernicious placenta previa complicated with placenta increta or percreta between November 2014 and December 2020 at the Qilu Hospital of Shandong University. Patients underwent parallel loop binding compression suture surgery were defined as study group, and patients underwent traditional surgery with figure-of-eight sutures as the main hemostatic method were defined as control group. Postpartum hemorrhage was evaluated as the primary outcome. The secondary outcomes included age, gestational weeks, operative time, fetal childbirth time, prevention of hysterectomy, blood transfusion, duration of postoperative catheterization, duration of antibiotic treatment, and postoperative hospitalization (days). Additionally, neonatal outcomes were evaluated.

Results: A total of 124 patients were enrolled in the study, including 38 patients receiving parallel loop binding compression suture surgery in the study group, and 86 patients in the control group. With parallel loop binding compression suture, the average operation time was significantly reduced (109.0 ± 33.5 vs. 134.4 ± 54.2 min, p = 0.00), and the volume of blood lost were also decreased (2152.6 ± 1169.4 vs. 2960.5 ± 1963.6 ml, p = 0.02), which correspondingly reduced RBC transfusion (7.2 ± 3.5 vs. 10.3 ± 8.7 units, p = 0.03) and FFP transfusion (552.6 ± 350.3 vs. 968.0 ± 799.8 ml, p = 0.00). The fetal childbirth time was extended (14.1 ± 5.6 vs. 11.0 ± 8.0 min, p = 0.03), however, there was no increase in NICU admission rates (36.9 vs. 34.9%, p = 0.83). Except for one premature infant (32 weeks) death in the control group, all infants at our hospital were safely discharged after treatment.

Conclusion: Parallel loop binding compression suture is an effective, swift, practical, and safe method to reduce postpartum bleeding in women with pernicious placenta

8

previa, complicated with placenta increta. Besides, it has no adverse effects on newborns.

Keywords: parallel loop binding compression suture, pernicious placenta previa, placenta increta, cesarean section, newborns

INTRODUCTION

Placenta previa is an obstetric complication in which the placenta is partially or wholly inserted in the lower uterine segment (1, 2). In the past decades, women have increasingly opted for cesarean section (CS), leading to an increasing incidence of placenta previa (3, 4). Globally, postpartum hemorrhage accounts for the death of 140,000 women annually (5). Placenta previa is an independent risk factor for maternal hemorrhagic morbidity (6) and can also lead to morbidity and mortality in pregnant women and neonates (7).

Pernicious placenta previa is a special type of placenta previa, in which the placenta attaches to previous cesarean delivery scars (8), remaining a challenge in obstetric practice. Placenta increta, whereby the villi invade the myometrium, is a type of accreta placentation (9). Pernicious placenta previa complicated with placenta accreta, particularly placenta increta or percreta, has a high risk of maternal hemorrhage prior to, during, and after CS (10).

In previous decades, various surgical methods have been proposed to control bleeding associated with placenta previa, including hysterectomy (11–13). Nevertheless, during the operative treatment of pernicious placenta previa, reducing blood loss remains a challenge. However, there is also the strong desire to preserve the uterus and fertility; therefore, an alternative to hysterectomy is required. This study aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of parallel loop binding compression suture of lower uterus regarding control of bleeding and prevention of hysterectomy during cesarean section in pregnant women with pernicious placenta previa, complicated with placenta increta.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Patients

Between November 2014 and December 2020, patients at Qilu Hospital of Shandong University fulfilled with the following criteria were enrolled in this study: (1) diagnosis of pernicious placenta previa by ultrasound and/or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), the specific image performance is shown in **Figure 1**; (2) placenta increta or placenta percreta complication. Emergency surgeries were excluded from the study. Patients underwent parallel loop binding compression suture surgery were defined as study group, and patients underwent traditional surgery with figure-of-eight sutures as the main hemostatic method were defined as control group. The application of this suturing technique was approved by the hospital's ethics committee, and all patients provided written informed consent before surgery.

Data Collection

The following clinical characteristics of patients and newborns were routinely collected, including age, history of gestation, number of cesarean sections, time since last CS (years), weeks of gestation, use of balloon occlusion of the abdominal aorta, operation time (min), adjunctive hemostatic procedures, blood transfusion (units), estimated blood loss (mL), duration of indwelling urethral catheter (days), postoperative hospital stay (days), duration of antibiotic use (days), neonatal birth weight, Apgar scores at 1- and 5 min, and duration of hospitalization (days) at the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU).

Normally distributed data are presented as means \pm standard deviation and medians and interquartile ranges (IQRs), whereas categorical variables are expressed as numbers and/or percentages. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 26.0 (IBM SPSS Statistics, Armonk, NY, USA). Significance levels were *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01.

Parallel Loop Binding Compression Suture Procedure

An experienced multidisciplinary team involving anesthetists, interventional radiologists, hematologists, obstetricians, gynecologists, and neonatologists was consulted to prepare for the surgery. The decision whether to preset the abdominal aorta balloon was made by senior obstetrics professionals based on imaging and clinical characteristics of the patient. Balloon catheter occlusion of the abdominal aorta was performed by an interventional radiologist on the day of surgery. Elective cesarean section was preferentially routinely performed during weeks 35–38, but it also depended on the patient's clinical symptoms.

To expose the lower part of the uterus, the bladder is pushed down through top or side approach; the broken blood vessels on the bladder are ligated simultaneously, and the bladder is pushed down to the maximum extent. The exposure operation is aborted if the lower segment of the uterus ruptures or bleeding becomes difficult to control. The abdominal aorta balloon is inflated (if preset before surgery). When incising the uterus, the placenta should be avoided. If it is difficult to avoid the placenta, the placenta should be punched, and the fetus delivered quickly. The uterus is quickly moved out of the abdominal cavity and the lower segment of the uterus is bound with occluding cuff. The placenta is quickly removed, and the adhesion or implantation region cleaned. The bladder is pushed down until it is below the placenta attachment site. A Fr28 abdominal drainage silicone tube is placed from the uterine cavity to the vagina and a parallel loop binding suture ligation applied from the cervix to the lower part of the uterus. The first needle is inserted laterally near the front of the lower margin of the cervix, walked along the lateral wall, unto the lateral posterior



FIGURE 1 | (A–C) Patient No.16 of study group: marginal placenta previa. The placenta invaded the serous layer of the uterus and the posterior wall of the bladder, and the adjacent areas showed rich blood flow signals. (D–F) Patient No.23 of study group: complete placenta previa. The placenta invaded the serous layer of the uterus, and the adjacent areas showed rich blood flow signals.



of the cervix. The same procedure is performed $\sim 1 \text{ cm}$ above the first suture site and is repeated 3-4 times to completely seal the bleeding on the placental dissection surface of the upper cervix and lower uterus, and then the weak myometrium is sutured and reinforced. Finally, the ascending branches of the bilateral uterine arteries are sutured (if necessary). B-Lynch uterine suture is performed (if necessary). Uterine cavity drains are kept for 4–6 h, and the Fr28 abdominal drainage



FIGURE 3 | Corresponding surgical pictures. (A) Pernicious placenta previa complicated with placenta increta. (B,C) The anterior wall of uterus after parallel loop binding compression suture was performed, and adequate hemostasis effect was achieved. (D) The posterior wall of uterus after parallel loop binding compression suture was performed.

silicone tube is subsequently removed (see Figures 2, 3 and Supplementary Videos 1–3).

| TABLE 1 Comparisons of surgical information between study and control | b |
|---|---|
| groups. | |

| Characteristic | Study group (N = 38) | Control group (N = 86) | Р |
|--|-------------------------|---------------------------|--------|
| Age (years) | 34.6 ± 4.4 | 34.0 ± 4.6 | 0.53 |
| GA (weeks) | 36.3 ± 1.7 | 36.3 ± 1.4 | 0.81 |
| No. of CS | 1.3 ± 0.5 | 1.4 ± 0.6 | 0.66 |
| Antibiotic (days) | 4.7 ± 1.6 | 4.7 ± 1.4 | 0.95 |
| Post-operation hospitalization (days) | 6.6 ± 2.7 | 6.5 ± 2.7 | 0.74 |
| Neonatal birth weight (g) | $3,000.9 \pm 530.2$ | $2,948.3 \pm 469.8$ | 0.58 |
| Fetal childbirth time (min) | 14.1 ± 5.6 | 11.0 ± 8.0 | 0.03* |
| Total time of operation (min) | 109.0 ± 33.5 | 134.4 ± 54.2 | 0.00** |
| Urethral catheter (days) | 2.5 ± 1.2 | 4.1 ± 2.7 | 0.00** |
| Blood loss (ml) | $2,152.6 \pm 1,169.4$ | $2,\!960.5\pm1,\!963.6$ | 0.02* |
| RBC Transfusion (unit) | 7.2 ± 3.5 | 10.3 ± 8.7 | 0.03* |
| FFP Transfusion (ml) | 552.6 ± 350.3 | 968.0 ± 799.8 | 0.00** |

GA, Gestational age; CS, Cesarean section; RBC, Red blood cell; FFP, Fresh frozen plasma.

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01.

Follow-Ups

The first follow-up for all women was conducted at 6 weeks after the cesarean section and ultrasound was performed. Additional follow-up was conducted every 3 months for the first year and annually by telephone until May 2021.

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics Between Two Study Groups

A total of 124 patients fulfilled with the criteria were included in the study, 38 of whom underwent parallel loop binding suture surgery, and another 86 patients underwent traditional surgery with figure-of-eight sutures as the main hemostatic method. The comparisons of surgical information between two study groups were listed in **Table 1**, and the detailed characteristics of the study group and control group were shown in **Table 2** and **Supplementary Material 1**, respectively.

The mean age of the study group and the control group were 34.6 (SD: \pm 4.4, range: 26–45) and 34.0 (SD: \pm 4.6, range: 22–46) years, respectively, with no statistical difference (p = 0.35), and the gestational weeks of termination were relatively consistent (36.3 \pm 1.7 vs. 36.3 \pm 1.4, p = 0.81). There were 13 cases (34.2%) in the study group and 26 cases (30.2%) in the control group of patients with more than one cesarean section, without statistical difference between the two groups (p = 0.81). Based on the imaging and clinical characteristics of the patients, an abdominal aortic balloon was placed preoperatively in 10 women (26.3%) of study group, and 15 women (17.4%) of control group (p = 0.26).

The Advantages of Parallel Loop Binding Compression Suture

The average operation time was 109.0 ± 33.5 min with parallel loop binding compression suture, which was significantly reduced compared with traditional operation method ($134.4 \pm$ 54.2 min, p = 0.00). The volume of blood lost were also decreased significantly ($2,152.6 \pm 1,169.4$ vs. $2,960.5 \pm 1,963.6$ ml, p =0.02), which correspondingly reduced RBC transfusion (7.2 ± 3.5 vs. 10.3 ± 8.7 units, p = 0.03) and FFP transfusion (552.6 ± 350.3 vs. 968.0 ± 799.8 ml, p = 0.00). Besides, parallel loop binding compression suture could shorten the duration of postoperative catheter indwelling (2.5 ± 1.2 vs. 4.1 ± 2.7 days, p = 0.00). Due to the hospital's routine surgical procedures, the durations of postoperative antibiotic use (4.7 ± 1.6 vs. 4.7 ± 1.4 days, p =0.95) and postoperative hospitalization (6.6 ± 2.7 vs. $6.5 \pm$ 2.7 days, p = 0.74) were consistent both in the study group and control group.

In the study group and the control group, 3 (7.9%) and 6 (7.0%) patients underwent hysterectomy due to massive blood loss, respectively, with similar proportions (p = 0.86), suggesting that parallel loop binding compression suture is also effective in avoiding hysterectomy compared with traditional surgery methods.

The most recent postoperative follow-up of study group was updated in May 2021, and the postoperative menstrual cycle and menstrual flow of patients both returned to normal levels.

Parallel Loop Binding Compression Suture had No Adverse Effect on Neonatal Prognosis

The corresponding dominant characteristics of the newborns were shown in **Table 3** and **Supplementary Material 2**. Because the bladder should be pushed down to the maximum extent to expose the lower part of the uterus in parallel loop binding compression suture procedure, the fetal childbirth time was extended (14.1 ± 5.6 vs. 11.0 ± 8.0 min, p = 0.03), however, there was no increase in NICU admission rates (36.9 vs. 34.9%, p = 0.83). Multiple neonatal complications were common in preterm infants, which delayed the discharge time. Except for one premature infant (32 weeks) death in the control group, all infants at our hospital were safely discharged after treatment.

DISCUSSION

Pernicious placenta previa remains a life-threatening obstetric problem, particularly in women with placenta increta. The increasing application of CS and medical abortion had a direct effect on the incidence of all grades of placenta accrete (14). Placental abnormality, including placenta accreta and placenta previa, is one of the most important causes of postpartum hemorrhage (15). Severe bleeding may lead to diffuse intravascular coagulation, multiple organ failure, and even death (16). Massive transfusion and aggressive surgical management, such as hysterectomy, have been the primary treatment to manage severe postpartum bleeding. Up to now, it is the first study to evaluate the safety and effectiveness of parallel loop

TABLE 2 | Clinical characteristics of study group.

| No. | Age | GA (week) | G/P/A | No. of CS | Fetal childbirth time(min) | Total time (min) | Blood loss (ml) | Blood transfusion (unit PRBC/ml FFP) | Urethral catheter (days) | Antibiotic (days) | Post-operation (days) |
|-----------------|-----|--------------|-------|--------------|-------------------------------|---------------------|--------------------|---|--------------------------------|----------------------|--------------------------|
| 1 | 28 | 36 + 2 | 2/1/0 | 1 | 12 | 83 | 1,000 | 2/0 | 2 | 4 | 4 |
| 2 ^a | 35 | 36 + 6 | 4/2/1 | 2 | 13 | 115 | 2,000 | 8/800 | 2 | 6 | 8 |
| 3 | 38 | 35 + 2 | 7/2/4 | 2 | 14 | 85 | 2,600 | 8/800 | 3 | 3 | 5 |
| 4 | 35 | 33 + 4 | 5/2/2 | 2 | 15 | 100 | 1,000 | 6/750 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| 5 | 34 | 35 + 4 | 6/2/3 | 2 | 12 | 72 | 800 | 4/600 | 1 | 3 | 3 |
| 6 | 33 | 35 + 4 | 3/1/1 | 1 | 13 | 95 | 2,000 | 8/400 | 2 | 3 | 5 |
| 7 | 34 | 37 + 3 | 3/2/0 | 1 | 11 | 92 | 1,800 | 4/400 | 3 | 5 | 5 |
| 8 ^a | 35 | 32 + 6 | 5/3/1 | 2 | 15 | 105 | 2,000 | 8/800 | 4 | 8 | 8 |
| 9 ^a | 45 | 36 + 5 | 3/2/0 | 1 | 5 | 70 | 1,500 | 8/800 | 3 | 7 | 10 |
| 10 | 36 | 37 + 3 | 3/2/0 | 2 | 8 | 138 | 3,000 | 12/1,000 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| 11 | 36 | 37 + 4 | 4/1/2 | 1 | 11 | 85 | 2,000 | 6/800 | 1 | 4 | 4 |
| 12 | 44 | 35 + 6 | 4/2/1 | 2 | 22 | 161 | 3,000 | 12/1,000 | 4 | 6 | 8 |
| 13 | 41 | 32 + 6 | 4/2/1 | 1 | 5 | 67 | 1,200 | 4/400 | 3 | 4 | 8 |
| 14 | 29 | 35 + 2 | 3/2/0 | 2 | 23 | 110 | 1,500 | 6/400 | 2 | 3 | 5 |
| 15 | 41 | 33 + 2 | 6/2/3 | 2 | 13 | 105 | 1,500 | 6/400 | 1 | 7 | 17 |
| 16 | 34 | 37 + 3 | 3/1/1 | 1 | 10 | 115 | 3,000 | 10/400 | 2 | 4 | 5 |
| 17 ^a | 35 | 37 + 4 | 5/2/2 | 2 | 10 | 105 | 2,000 | 6/400 | 7 | 8 | 8 |
| 18 ^a | 26 | 39 + 4 | 2/1/0 | 1 | 7 | 74 | 500 | 4/0 | 1 | 3 | 7 |
| 19 ^a | 28 | 39 + 6 | 4/1/2 | 1 | 12 | 107 | 2,000 | 8/800 | 4 | 4 | 4 |
| 20 ^a | 38 | 36 + 2 | 2/1/0 | 1 | 11 | 115 | 1,800 | 4/400 | 2 | 4 | 4 |
| 21 ^a | 32 | 36 | 3/2/0 | 2 | 10 | 113 | 1,800 | 8/800 | 3 | 5 | 5 |
| 22 ^a | 27 | 37 + 2 | 3/1/1 | 1 | 12 | 127 | 1,000 | 4/400 | 4 | 3 | 4 |
| 23 ^a | 29 | 36 + 5 | 2/1/0 | 1 | 12 | 102 | 700 | 4/0 | 2 | 7 | 12 |
| 24 ^b | 34 | 34 + 3 | 3/1/1 | 1 | 30 | 195 | 6,000 | 14/1,400 | 2 | 5 | 8 |
| 25 | 35 | 37 + 6 | 3/1/1 | 1 | 18 | 75 | 800 | 4/0 | 3 | 3 | 3 |
| 26 | 35 | 34 + 5 | 3/1/1 | 1 | 11 | 105 | 2,000 | 4/0 | 1 | 3 | 7 |
| 27 | 33 | 33 | 5/1/3 | 1 | 18 | 90 | 2,000 | 4/400 | 2 | 4 | 7 |
| 28 | 32 | 35 + 5 | 3/1/1 | 1 | 20 | 95 | 1,500 | 4/400 | 2 | 3 | 7 |
| 29 | 35 | 37 + 1 | 3/1/1 | 1 | 16 | 105 | 1,500 | 4/400 | 2 | 4 | 7 |
| 30 | 39 | 37 + 2 | 4/1/2 | 1 | 20 | 105 | 3,000 | 10/1,050 | 3 | 4 | 7 |
| 31 ^b | 37 | 35 + 6 | 3/1/1 | 1 | 15 | 150 | 5,000 | 16/1,200 | 2 | 5 | 7 |
| 32 ^b | 36 | 38 + 4 | 5/1/3 | 1 | 27 | 225 | 4,000 | 14/800 | 3 | 3 | 7 |
| 33° | 37 | 35 + 4 | 6/2/3 | 2 | 13 | 144 | 3,000 | 12/800 | 1 | 5 | 7 |
| 34 | 29 | 37 | 3/1/1 | 1 | 13 | 70 | 1,800 | 4/400 | 2 | 5 | 7 |
| 35 | 33 | 37 + 4 | 5/1/3 | 1 | 8 | 85 | 2,000 | 6/200 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
| 36 | 31 | 38 + 1 | 2/1/0 | 1 | 10 | 118 | 2,500 | 6/400 | 2 | 5 | 5 |
| 37 | 35 | 37 | 4/2/1 | 2 | 22 | 97 | 3,000 | 8/400 | 2 | 6 | 9 |
| 38 ^d | 39 | 37 + 2 | 4/1/2 | 1 | 17 | 145 | 4,000 | 12/1,000 | 2 | 9 | 10 |

^aAbdominal aortic balloon was placed preoperatively.

^bHysterectomy was performed due to massive blood loss.

^c20 units of cryoprecipitate were infused.

^d20 units of cryoprecipitate and 1 unit of platelet were infused.

G/P/A, Gravidity/Parity/Abortion; CS, Cesarean section.

binding compression suture in patients with pernicious placenta previa, complicated with placenta increta, which was proved to be effective, practical, and safe.

Various surgical sutures have been developed to reduce postpartum hemorrhage and preserve fertility in patients with placental abnormality during CS. Cho et al. (17) performed hemostatic multiple square suturing in women with postpartum hemorrhage who did not respond to conservative management during CS. However, the study was based on experiences from a limited number of women with placenta previa. Therefore, it could not be concluded that multiple square suturing can effectively treat postpartum hemorrhage in placenta previa. Hwu

TABLE 3 | Neonatal characteristics of study group.

| No. | Neonatal birth weight(g) | Apgar scores (1 min/5min) | Neonatal complication | hospitalization days in NICU | Prognosi |
|-----|--------------------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------------|
| 1 | 2,900 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 2 | 2,270 | 6/8 | 1;2 | 21 | Cure |
| 3 | 2,690 | 5/8 | 3 | 12 | Cure |
| 4 | 2,100 | 8/10 | 4 | 12 | Condition improved |
| 5 | 4,000 | 9/10 | 3 | 0 | Cure |
| 6 | 2,900 | 10/10 | 2 | 7 | Cure |
| 7 | 3,400 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 8 | 2,150 | 7/9 | 5 | 17 | Condition improved |
| 9 | 3,400 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 10 | 3,000 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 11 | 3,400 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 12 | 2,700 | 6/8 | 1;2;4;5 | 36 | Cure |
| 13 | 1,900 | 8/8 | None | Unknown | Unknown |
| 14 | 3,000 | 10/10 | 6 | 8 | Cure |
| 15 | 2,625 | 10/10 | 3 | 13 | Cure |
| 16 | 3,900 | 8/9 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 17 | 3,100 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 18 | 3,200 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 19 | 3,500 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 20 | 3,200 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 21 | 2,550 | 9/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 22 | 2,500 | 10/10 | None | 8 | Cure |
| 23 | 3,400 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 24 | 2,500 | 4/5 | 3;7 | 8 | Cure |
| 25 | 3,300 | 9/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 26 | 2,650 | 7/9 | 3 | 10 | Cure |
| 27 | 2,200 | 7/8 | 3;8;9 | 14 | Cure |
| 28 | 2,800 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 29 | 2,900 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 30 | 3,050 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 31 | 3,000 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 32 | 3,900 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 33 | 2,800 | 10/10 | 2;3 | 10 | Cure |
| 34 | 3,900 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 35 | 3,200 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 36 | 3,050 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 37 | 3,800 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |
| 38 | 3,200 | 10/10 | None | 0 | Cure |

Neonatal complication: 1, Neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy; 2, Neonatal hyperbilirubinemia; 3, Neonatal pneumonia; 4, Neonatal anemia; 5, Neonatal feeding intolerance; 6, Neonatal diarrhea; 7, Neonatal toxic erythema; 8, Neonatal respiratory distress syndrome; 9, Neonatal apnea.

et al. (18) reported that parallel vertical compression sutures were used to control postpartum hemorrhage in women with placenta previa or accreta. They modified and simplified Cho's method, requiring only one stitch instead of four. Parallel vertical compression sutures avoided the construction of a square dead space, which would prevent complications such as pyometra (19). Dedes et al. (20) achieved satisfactory results in six cases with the use of circular isthmic-cervical sutures to control peripartum hemorrhage in placenta previa accreta. However, this method interrupted blood circulation of the uterine artery, which could affect the recovery of uterine blood circulation. In recent studies, Li et al. (12) reported the use of funnel compression sutures to control postpartum bleeding during CS in the presence of placenta previa with or without placenta accrete; Ratiu et al. (21) performed parallel vertical compression sutures, but the reduction in postpartum hemorrhage was not as advantageous as traditional surgical methods in cases of placenta increta and placenta percreta.

Our modified procedure, parallel loop binding compression suture, can be applied in all types of placental abnormalities to reduce lower uterine segment bleeding. Using our method in patients with placenta increta or percreta, the average blood loss was 2,152.6 \pm 1,169.4 mL, which was lower than control group (2,960.5 \pm 1,963.6), and the infusion of blood products was significantly reduced. Although we selected patients with pernicious placenta previa complicated with placenta increta, however, our method was still effective at controlling lower uterine segment bleeding without hysterectomy compared to a previously reported method by Li (12), [92.11% (35/38) vs. 86.7% (18/22, respectively)].

Our modified method is similar to BH Zhao's transverse parallel compression suture (22). The main differences between the two methods are as follows: First, as an authoritative hospital in China, we usually accept a large number of patients with critical conditions and poor health status. At the same time, the inclusion criteria for our study are more stringent and we enrolled patients who were diagnosed with pernicious placenta previa with placenta increta; therefore, our study provides guidance for complex and difficult situations. Second, BH Zhao's study routinely preset the balloon catheter occlusion of bilateral iliac artery in all patients on the day of surgery. However, the rate of preoperative abdominal aortic balloon placement in our study was 26.32% (10/38). A randomized controlled trial reported that hospitalization costs and the rate of postoperative fever with internal iliac artery balloon occlusion were higher than others; further, balloon catheter occlusion of bilateral iliac artery did not reduce the volume of blood transfusion in patients with placental abnormalities and might increase unexpected bleeding risk (23). Third, BH Zhao's study started suturing 1-2 cm below the cesarean incision. In our method, we start stitching from the upper edge of the cervix and have 3-4 stitches to completely seal the bleeding on the placental dissection surface of the upper cervix and lower uterus. Our bottom-up suture method is conducive to fully exposing the bleeding site and avoiding the construction of a dead space in order to achieve more effective hemostasis.

The mean fetal childbirth time of 14.1 ± 5.6 min was longer than that of the control group (11.0 ± 8 min), but it was better for bladder protection and did not increase the rate of hospitalization in the NICU. The duration of indwelling catheter was significantly shortened in the study group, which is of great significance to the postoperative recovery of patients.

All neonatal complications have been reasonably treated and eventually cured. Therefore, such surgical method and anesthesia time do not affect the outcomes of neonates. Parallel loop binding compression suture procedure is worthy of choice.

Unfortunately, some patients missed the optimal time to terminate the pregnancy due to lack of regular prenatal examination in our hospital. Three patients in study group underwent hysterectomy due to complete penetration of the placenta through the lower uterine segment. Based on ultrasound and MR evaluation, hysterectomy might be avoided if the pregnancy could be terminated earlier. Thus, planned termination of pregnancy needs to balance the risk of postpartum hemorrhage and the risk of prematurity. Placental abnormalities are associated with considerable maternal and fetal morbidity and even mortality. Maternal complications are mainly the result of massive hemorrhage (10). Therefore, it is essential to regular check-ups and timely termination of pregnancy.

The counseling regarding the subsequent pregnancy is also important. It should be emphasized that subsequent pregnancy is not recommended and effective contraception is necessary. As the number of cesarean sections increases, the probability of placental abnormalities is significantly higher, especially in patients with a history of placenta previa (24), which again puts the patient at risk of postpartum bleeding, hysterectomy and even death. Studies have shown that the hysterectomy rate was 6% in primary cesarean delivery for placenta previa, however, the rate was 25% for patients with placenta previa undergoing repeat cesarean delivery (25). For women with a strong desire for pregnancy, it is recommended to follow the WHO guidelines for contraception for at least 2 years (26), but it is necessary to perform a strict ultrasound examination to pay attention to whether there is a cesarean scar pregnancy and recurrent placental abnormality. In addition, assisted reproductive technology will also significantly increase the risk of placenta previa, which should be noted (27).

There are several highlights in our parallel loop binding compression suture. (1) We chose 35–38 weeks as a routine termination time of pregnancy. There were less risks than those chose delivery before 34 weeks (28). Among 38 patients with our method, 27 (71.05%) patients chose to terminate the pregnancy at 35–38 weeks. Others depended on the patient's clinical symptoms and evaluation based on ultrasound and MRI. (2) Our method is conducive to fully exposing the bleeding site and can extend the area of hemostasis to the whole lower uterus. (3) It is

REFERENCES

- Ahn KH, Lee EH, Cho GJ, Hong SC, Oh MJ, Kim HJ. Anterior placenta previa in the mid-trimester of pregnancy as a risk factor for neonatal respiratory distress syndrome. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0207061. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0207061
- Wang Y, Hu C, Pan N, Chen C, Wu R. Prophylactic uterine artery embolization in second-trimester pregnancy termination with complete placenta previa. J Int Med Res. (2019) 47:345–52. doi: 10.1177/0300060518801455
- 3. Solheim KN, Esakoff TF, Little SE, Cheng YW, Sparks TN, Caughey AB. The effect of cesarean delivery rates on the future incidence of placenta previa,

simple to operate, and conducive to rapid hemostasis. (4) Parallel loop binding compression suture is also effective in preventing hysterectomy. (5) Adjacent organs were not damaged.

CONCLUSION

Parallel loop binding compression suture is an effective, swift, practical, and safe method to reduce postpartum bleeding in women with pernicious placenta previa, complicated with placenta increta. Besides, it has no adverse effects on newborns.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Qilu Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MF: data curation and writing—original draft preparation. HB: methodology, visualization, and writing—original draft preparation. YF, ML, and YX: data curation and supervision. CJ: methodology and software. XS, CW, LZ, and YZ: data curation. YX and LC: conceptualization and writing—reviewing and editing. All authors helped to perform the research and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fsurg. 2021.786497/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Video Clips 1–3 | Parallel loop binding compression suture procedure.

placenta accreta, maternal mortality. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. (2011) 24:1341–6. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2011.553695

- Downes KL, Hinkle SN, Sjaarda LA, Albert PS, Grantz KL. Previous prelabor or intrapartum cesarean delivery and risk of placenta previa. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2015) 212:669e1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2015. 01.004
- Alexander J, Thomas P, Sanghera J. Treatments for secondary postpartum haemorrhage. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2002) 2002:CD002867. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002867
- Gibbins KJ, Einerson BD, Varner MW, Silver RM. Placenta previa and maternal hemorrhagic morbidity. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. (2018) 31:494–9. doi: 10.1080/14767058.2017.1289163

- Ryu JM, Choi YS, Bae JY. Bleeding control using intrauterine continuous running suture during cesarean section in pregnant women with placenta previa. Arch Gynecol Obstet. (2019) 299:135–9. doi: 10.1007/s00404-018-4957-4
- Li N, Yang T, Liu C, Qiao C. Feasibility of infrarenal abdominal aorta balloon occlusion in pernicious placenta previa coexisting with placenta accrete. *Biomed Res Int.* (2018) 2018:4596189. doi: 10.1155/2018/4596189
- Jauniaux E, Collins S, Burton GJ. Placenta accreta spectrum: pathophysiology and evidence-based anatomy for prenatal ultrasound imaging. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2018) 218:75–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2017.05.067
- Silver RM. Abnormal placentation: placenta previa, vasa previa, placenta accreta. Obstet Gynecol. (2015) 126:654–68. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000001005
- Bhal K, Bhal N, Mulik V, Shankar L. The uterine compression suture-a valuable approach to control major haemorrhage at lower segment caesarean section. J Obstet Gynaecol. (2005) 25:10–4. doi: 10.1080/01443610400022553
- Li GT, Li GR, Li XF, Wu BP. Funnel compression suture: a conservative procedure to control postpartum bleeding from the lower uterine segment. *BJOG.* (2016) 123:1380–5. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.13685
- Fan Y, Gong X, Wang N, Mu K, Feng L, Qiao F, et al. A prospective observational study evaluating the efficacy of prophylactic internal iliac artery balloon catheterization in the management of placenta previa-accreta: a STROBE compliant article. *Medicine*. (2017) 96:e8276. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000008276
- Fox KA, Shamshirsaz AA, Carusi D, Secord AA, Lee P, Turan OM, et al. Conservative management of morbidly adherent placenta: expert review. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2015) 213:755–60. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2015.04.034
- 15. Wortman AC, Alexander JM. Placenta accreta, increta, and percreta. *Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am.* (2013) 40:137–54. doi: 10.1016/j.ogc.2012.12.002
- Silver RM, Branch DW. Placenta accreta spectrum. N Engl J Med. (2018) 378:1529–36. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp1709324
- Cho JH, Jun HS, Lee CN. Hemostatic suturing technique for uterine bleeding during cesarean delivery. Obstet Gynecol. (2000) 96:129–31. doi: 10.1097/00006250-200007000-00026
- Hwu YM, Chen CP, Chen HS, Su TH. Parallel vertical compression sutures: a technique to control bleeding from placenta praevia or accreta during caesarean section. *BJOG.* (2005) 112:1420–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2005.00666.x
- Ochoa M, Allaire AD, Stitely ML. Pyometria after hemostatic square suture technique. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2002) 99:506–9. doi: 10.1016/s0029-7844(01)01712-4
- Dedes I, Ziogas V. Circular isthmic-cervical sutures can be an alternative method to control peripartum haemorrhage during caesarean section for placenta praevia accreta. Arch Gynecol Obstet. (2008) 278:555–7. doi: 10.1007/s00404-008-0646-z

- Ratiu AC, Crisan DC. A prospective evaluation and management of different types of placenta praevia using parallel vertical compression suture to preserve uterus. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. (2018) 97:e13253. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000013253
- Zhao B, Lv M, Dong T, Chen Y, Xi F, Lv W, Luo Q. Transverse parallel compression suture: a new suturing method for successful treating pernicious placenta previa during cesarean section. *Arch Gynecol Obstet.* (2020) 301:465– 72. doi: 10.1007/s00404-020-05435-3
- Chen M, Liu X, You Y, Wang X, Li T, Luo H, et al. Internal iliac artery balloon occlusion for placenta previa and suspected placenta accreta: a randomized controlled trial. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2020) 135:1112–9. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000003792
- Klar M, Michels KB. Cesarean section and placental disorders in subsequent pregnancies-a meta-analysis. J Perinat Med. (2014) 42:571–83. doi: 10.1515/jpm-2013-0199
- Frederiksen MC, Glassenberg R, Stika CS. Placenta previa: a 22-year analysis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (1999) 180:1432–7. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(99)70031-1
- W. H. Organization. Report of a WHO Technical Consultation on Birth Spacing. Geneva 13-(2005). p. 15.
- Romundstad LB, Romundstad PR, Sunde A, von During V, Skjaerven R, Vatten LJ. Increased risk of placenta previa in pregnancies following IVF/ICSI; a comparison of ART and non-ART pregnancies in the same mother. *Hum Reprod.* (2006) 21:2353–8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/del153
- Spong CY, Mercer BM, D'Alton M, Kilpatrick S, Blackwell S, Saade G. Timing of indicated late-preterm and early-term birth. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2011) 118:323–33. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3182255999

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Fu, Bu, Fang, Wang, Zhang, Zhang, Sun, Li, Jin, Xu and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Development of Laparoscopy—A **Historical Overview**

Ibrahim Alkatout^{1*}, Ulrich Mechler², Liselotte Mettler¹, Julian Pape¹, Nicolai Maass¹, Matthias Biebl³, Georgios Gitas⁴, Antonio Simone Laganà⁵ and Damaris Freytag¹

¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University Hospital of Schleswig-Holstein, Kiel, Germany, ² Institute of History and Ethics of Medicine, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany, ³ Department of Surgery, Campus Charité Mitte and Campus Virchow-Klinikum, Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ⁴ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Campus Charité Mitte, Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ⁵ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, "Filippo Del Ponte" Hospital, University of Insubria, Varese, Italy

The advent of laparoscopy marked a fundamental change in the evolution of medicine. The procedure progressed consistently after the first time it was performed in a human being nearly a hundred years ago. The 1960's and 1980's witnessed groundbreaking changes. During this time, laparoscopy evolved from a purely diagnostic procedure into an independent surgical approach. Outstanding pioneers of the times were Palmer, Frangenheim and Semm. Laparoscopy advanced rapidly and influenced gynecology as well. The procedure was initially attacked most vociferously by the surgical fraternity. However, within a short period of time the pendulum shifted: laparoscopy became the preferred surgical approach for a variety of diseases—whether benign or malignant—in several medical disciplines. Laparoscopy has become a routine approach in the twenty-first century. Technical advancements have led to robot-assisted surgery. Future developments will include artificial intelligence and augmented reality. In the present article we address past milestones, current practices, and future challenges in laparoscopy.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rafał Watrowski, University of Freiburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Antoine Naem, Faculty of Medicine of Damascus University, Syria Huri Güvev. Private Parkhayat Hospital, Turkey

*Correspondence:

Ibrahim Alkatout lbrahim.Alkatout@uksh.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetrics and Gynecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Surgery

Received: 21 October 2021 Accepted: 17 November 2021 Published: 15 December 2021

Citation:

Alkatout I, Mechler U, Mettler L, Pape J, Maass N, Biebl M, Gitas G, Laganà AS and Freytag D (2021) The Development of Laparoscopy-A Historical Overview. Front. Surg. 8:799442. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2021.799442

Keywords: laparoscopy, history of medicine, Semm, kelling, minimally invasive surgery, Kiel

INTRODUCTION

Primum non nocere. Possibly, the Hippocratic impulse underlying the demand for moral action on the part of doctors was one of the many factors responsible for the introduction of minimally invasive surgery as we know it today. Surgeons and physicians have been consistently focused on minimizing the risks and complications of surgery.

Endoscopic procedures have become an integral part of all surgical specialties and are now a standard approach in all fields of surgery. An increasing number of complex surgical procedures are performed by the laparoscopic approach. The generation of the 2000s takes laparoscopy for granted. Conventional laparoscopy has been extended to include robotic-assisted surgery. In fact, we are on the verge of implementing artificial intelligence and augmented reality in laparoscopy (1-3). The history of laparoscopy reveals that a large number of steps and individuals were involved in the establishment of complex surgical techniques as we know them today (4-6).

Georg Kelling was the first to describe the basic principles of endoscopy of the abdomen. Kelling performed the procedure in a dog (5-8). Almost exactly a hundred years ago, Jacobaeus performed the first endoscopy in humans. Major advancements in endoscopy were accomplished from the 1960s to the 1980s, accompanied by a transition from diagnostic to surgical laparoscopy. These developments are inseparably linked with the names of Raoul Palmer in Paris and Kurt Semm in Kiel (5).

16

The first laparoscopic appendectomy was performed by Semm on 13 September 1980 at the department of obstetrics and gynecology, University of Kiel (5, 9, 10). It was an absolute rarity and an international sensation at the time. As a gynecologist and trained toolmaker, Semm revolutionized the course of traditional surgery. However, he aroused the criticism of many of his colleagues in gynecology and surgery. In his words, the medical world at the time reacted with the most violent hostility and opposition he had experienced during his entire career (9): "Both surgeons and gynecologists were angry with me, they virtually stoned me. All my initial attempts to publish a report on laparoscopic appendectomy were rejected with the comment that such non-sense does not, and will never, belong in general surgery." Thus, his first report on laparoscopic appendectomy was published no earlier than 1983 (10). In an interview, his close colleague Liselotte Mettler (born in 1939) said that Semm was summoned from the operating room and had to undergo a computed tomography investigation of his skull in order to prove that he was in good health.

In a letter written in 1981, the President of the German Society of Surgery urged the German Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology to revoke Semm's medical license. The fact that a gynecologist wished to show surgeons how to perform an appendectomy was simply inconceivable. Semm had exceeded a limit that was considered impassable until the time. However, he was cognizant of the immense potential of laparoscopy not only in gynecology but also in surgery, and persisted in his unwavering efforts to minimize surgical trauma for patients (5, 9).

The rapidity of this development had a significant impact, especially on gynecology. Entirely new pathways could be broached after the introduction of laparoscopy in hysterectomy, uro-gynecological interventions, and oncological surgery, including lymphadenectomy in different compartments of the body. Laparoscopy became firmly established in other specialties as well, such as surgery and urology.

The increasing complexity of the interventions was accompanied by significant demands on surgeons and technological equipment. A surgeon comes close to his physical and mental limits when performing endoscopic operations for several hours (1).

The subsequent development of endoscopy was closely linked with technical advancements. The aim of laparoscopic interventions such as NOTES (natural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery), or surgery performed through a single trocar (single-port technique) is to reduce access-related trauma by further minimization of the skin incision.

Robot-assisted surgery is the most dynamic form of minimally invasive surgery in our times. Better visualization of the field of surgery by means of 3D technology and extension of surgical instruments to 7 degrees of freedom permit the use of minimally invasive surgery even in complex situations. Robot-assisted guidance of the instruments enables the surgeon to work without tremor and with a low level of fatigue, which is very useful for surgeons as well as patients during complex interventions. Moreover, the surgeon is able to work simultaneously at two consoles. The learning curve is shortened, complication rates are reduced, and training in surgery is fostered (1). The introduction of endoscopy in surgical practice is one of the greatest success stories in the history of medicine. As far as the development of minimally invasive options is concerned, there is still no end in sight.

This report provides a historical overview of laparoscopy from its early beginnings to current times.

HISTORY AND PIONEERS

Endoscopy is derived from Greek and means "viewing the inner spaces of the human body" ("endo" and "skopein"). In addition to the usual investigation methods of palpation, auscultation and percussion, the very first written records of medicine bear evidence of the fact that doctors were always interested in the possibility of "looking into" (endoscopy) the human body (4).

Hippocrates II (born in 460 B.C., died in 375 B.C.), the principal representative of the school of Kos, described the use of a speculum for investigation of the rectum (4). Similar instruments for examination of the vagina were found in the ruins of Pompeii (destroyed in 70 A.D.) and have been described in other cultures as well. However, the scope of investigation was limited by the need to illuminate the field of investigation. Illumination has been a persistent issue in the history of laparoscopy (4).

Albukasim (912-1013 A.D), an Arabian physician, was the first to use reflected light to view the inside of the body. He held a glass mirror in front of the vulva and thus reflected light into the vaginal vault (4). Cardan (1501–1576) was the first to use a mechanical lamp. Aranzi (1530–1589), a Venetian, bundled light with the aid of a camera obscura. In 1768, the French gynecologist and surgeon George Arnaud de Rosil (1698–1774) constructed the first endoscopic investigation lamp with a shielded lantern. He was able to illuminate the vagina, previously unfolded with specula (11).

Philipp Bozzini (1773–1809), a doctor in Frankfurt, played a significant role in the development of modern endoscopy because he marks the transition from ancient to modern medicine (12). In 1806 Bozzini (**Figure 1**) published his report about his light conductor, a device consisting of an optical part with lighting equipment and a mechanical part aligned to the anatomy of the body orifice (12). He thus created an instrument for the vagina, the rectum, and the oral cavity, which could be used for inspection and to a lesser extent for performing surgery. Although the light conductor was much too weak and the field of vision too small, all further attempts to perform cystoscopy during the next 70 years were based on Bozzini's principle of illumination, namely that of a reflected extracorporeal light source (5, 12).

Antonin Jean Desormeaux (1815–1894) advanced this historical development in 1843 with the creation of the first portable endoscope (13). Antonin Jean Desormeaux was the first to clinically use Bozzini's light conductor for which many regard him as the "father of endoscopy" (**Figure 1**). His endoscope was a system of mirrors and lenses with an open flame as the light source, and was primarily used for the clarification of urological questions. One of the disadvantages was the enormous



FIGURE 1 | Pioneers of laparoscopy. (A) Philipp Bozzini (1773–1809), (B) Antonin Jean Desormeaux (1815–1894), (C) Georg Kelling (1866–1945), (D) Maximilian Nitze (1848–1906), (E) Heinrich Kalk (1895–1973), (F) Raoul Palmer (1904–1985).

heat generated by the light source, which led to burns (13). Endoscopes illuminated by electricity were developed only after the invention of the light bulb by Thomas Alva Edison in 1879, and the miniature version of the bulb in the form of a mignon lamp (5). Subsequent developments in endoscopy were initially focused on cystoscopy. Maximilian Nitze (1848–1906) modified Edison's light bulb. In 1877 Nitze (**Figure 1**) created the first urethroscope and cystoscope with an integrated light source for the illumination of body cavities, and thus laid the foundations of clinical endoscopy (14). Johann Mikulicz-Radecki (1850–1905) and Joseph Leiter, an instrument maker from Vienna, adopted Nitze's principle of a rigid optical system in 1881 and developed the first gastroscope for clinical use (15, 16).

Era of Diagnostic Laparoscopy (1901–1933)

In 1901 Georg Kelling (1866-1945), a surgeon and gastroenterologist from Dresden, demonstrated the first laparoscopy at the end of his lecture entitled "About the inspection of the esophagus and the stomach with flexible instruments"; he referred to the technique as "coelioscopy" (6). In his doctoral thesis, Kelling had focused on the anatomy and physiology of the gastrointestinal tract. Based on this knowledge and his discoveries about the insufflation of air into the abdomen, he was the first to develop the method further. He investigated the abdominal cavity of a dog he had insufflated earlier with filtered air, using a Nitze cystoscope. This invervention may be regarded as the natal hour of laparoscopy (7, 8). At the time, Kelling (Figure 1) concluded his lecture with the following words (6): "Gentlemen, I conclude this lecture by expressing the hope that endoscopic methods will be used to a greater extent in the digestive tract than has been common practice so far. In fact, in many instances, endoscopic methods are destined to replace laparotomy." However, Kelling is not known to many as the primary creator of the technique. One of the reasons is definitely the course of Kelling's life. Along with his second wife, he died in a heavy air attack on Dresden in February 1945. His reports and personal documents were lost at the time (6–8, 17).

the Swedish internist Nine vears later. Hans-Christian Jacobaeus (1879–1937) introduced the term "laparothoracoscopy" during the first endoscopic inspection of the human chest and abdominal cavity (18, 19). Jacobaeus published his experience of the first 17 laparoscopies in 1910 in the "Münchner Medizinischen Wochenschrift" (Munich Medical Weekly). The report was entitled "About the options of using cystoscopy for the investigation of serous cavities" (19). Jacobaeus recommended the technique for the endoscopic inspection of other body cavities as well. In contrast to Kelling, Jacobaeus introduced the trocars directly without creating a pneumoperitoneum. Jacobaeus started to release adhesions by viewing the body with the aid of thoracoscopy. He performed thoracoscopic investigations as early as 1913 and is therefore regarded as the founder of thoracoscopic operations (18, 19).

The first laparoscopy in the USA was performed by Bertram M. Bernheim (1880–1958) in 1911. He named his method organoscopy (20, 21). The instruments consisted of a proctoscope and simple lighting. Bernheim introduced his instrument through a mini-incision without creating a pneumoperitoneum (20). He was able to detect an enlarged gall bladder in his first patient. However, the actual diagnosis of a pancreatic carcinoma was established only after a subsequent laparotomy. After publication of his organoscopy, Bernheim lost interest in gastroenterology and devoted his attention to vascular surgery (21).

Insufflation of the abdominal cavity was improved. One day after the end of the First World War, a treatise on X-ray diagnosis of the abdominal cavity was published in the Munich Medical Weekly. Otto Goetze (1886–1957), an assistant surgeon and author, focused on radiological problems. He used oxygen to improve contrast on X-rays (22). In order to introduce oxygen safely into the abdomen, he developed a double-walled cannula in accordance with the "principle of solid displacement." The term "pneumoperitoneum" was also coined by him (22). In 1924 the Swiss gynecologist Richard Zollikofer replaced air with CO2 for the purpose of insufflation (19).

Laparoscopy became increasingly well-known and its application spread far and wide. The existing knowledge had to be summarized in a textbook. Roger Korbsch published the first textbook on the subject in 1927 (23).

Optics were also improved. Heinz Kalk (1895–1973), a gastroenterologist from Berlin, known as the founder of the German school of laparoscopy, developed a 135degree lens system and a double trocar (24). Kalk (**Figure 1**) used laparoscopy as a diagnostic procedure for diseases of the gall bladder and the liver. In a publication of his experiences in 1939, he reported on more than 2,000 liver punctures under local anesthesia without encountering a single fatality. He also released adhesions by the laparoscopic procedure (5, 24).



FIGURE 2 | Pioneers of operative laparoscopy. (A) Hans Frangenheim (1920–2001), (B) Kurt Semm (1927–2003), (C) Karl Storz (1911–1996).



FIGURE 3 | Introduction of intracorporeal knots (1974). Source: Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University Clinic of Kiel.

Era of Operative Laparoscopy

Apart from significant progress in equipment and technology, the surgical spectrum was widened as experience with the technique increased. In 1933, Carl Fervers succeeded in performing the first laparoscopic adhesiolysis, which may be regarded as the first surgical laparoscopy in the current sense of the term (25).



FIGURE 5 | Pelvi trainer (1985). Source: Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University Clinic of Kiel.





FIGURE 6 | Around 1970 Semm developed the "head ring," a simple device by which he freed his left hand. The optical device need not be held; it hangs on a small hook. Source: Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Kiel.



FIGURE 7 Always with the finger on the pulse of the latest technology. As early as 1970, just a few months after the German tech company Philips launched their first "portable" TV camera, Semm used it in the operating room. Several educational films were produced with the aid of the camera (41–43).

In 1937, the American J.C. Ruddock reported on more than 500 laparoscopic procedures with biopsies, mainly obtained from the liver. This internist, who published his work in surgical



FIGURE 8 | Technical breakthrough: electronic elements in the operating room at the Wertheim week in Kiel, organized by Semm in 1972. The operation was performed by Soichi Sakamoto and Semm and demonstrated by camera broadcast to a large number of national and international guests (camera work by Volker Rimkus, Semm's assistant). Source: Original interview with Volker Rimkus (born in 1939).



FIGURE 9 | 1972 Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology at the University Clinic of Kiel. The new technical options offered by the video camera enabled Semm to demonstrate his operations to a large number of national and international visiting doctors, who followed the operations with great interest. Semm referred to the event as the birth of video pelviscopy [33]. Source: Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University Clinic of Kiel.

journals, used pincers supplied with electrical power for the purpose of coagulation. Notably, Ruddock was the first to report a substantial number of complications with the technique (26).

A further milestone in the historical development of laparoscopy was achieved by the Hungarian internist and pulmonologist János Veres (1903–1979), who introduced his insufflation needle which had, in fact, been described earlier by Goetze but had slipped into oblivion. Veres developed a special canula with a spring mechanism. Its purpose was to create a pneumothorax in order to treat tuberculosis, which was a widespread disease at the time (27). Even today, the Veres needle is used to create a pneumoperitoneum safely in laparoscopy. Due



FIGURE 10 | Semm performing a sterilization by laparoscopy. Source: Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Kiel.

to its spring mechanism, it permits gas insufflation with a low rate of complications and prevents injury to internal organs when being introduced through the abdominal wall (27).

The first minor surgical interventions were performed in the sixties of the twentieth century, primarily by gynecologists. Raoul Palmer (1904–1985), a gynecologist from Paris, made notable achievements in this regard (28). Palmer (**Figure 1**) was mainly concerned with the diagnosis of sterility and its treatment. In 1944 he performed a laparoscopy in Trendelenburg position. He also conducted the first sterilization by laparoscopy. Although an incision site in the upper abdomen in the caudal aspect of the left costal margin is named after Palmer, in 1946 he performed the incision in the navel and preferred this site. Like Kelling, he also referred to the endoscopic procedure as coelioscopy (28).

Since the abdominal access was difficult because of the blind nature of insertion, in 1946 the American Albert Decker (1895– 1988) introduced the laparoscope transvaginally through the posterior vaginal vault and named the procedure culdoscopy. However, the diagnostic procedure was inadequate from this perspective and the technique, which was initially rather widely accepted, became less popular in the USA (29).

Pioneers of Operative Endoscopic Surgery

The development of laparoscopy in Germany after the Second World War is primarily linked with the names of Hans Frangenheim (1920–2001) and Kurt Semm (1927–2003) (Figure 2). Frangenheim encountered laparoscopy in 1952, when a tumor in the lower abdomen was discovered during an endoscopy of the liver at the Medical Clinic of Cologne, and the subsequent strategy had to be decided. In 1955 he attended a clerkship under Palmer in France and realized that laparoscopy was superior to culdoscopy, which was being used in Germany at the time. He devoted his efforts to the development of new instruments, photographic documentation of endoscopic reports, and the improvement of gas insufflation which was completely uncontrolled until this time. In cooperation with Dräger Company, Frangenheim developed a CO2 insufflator. His monographs, publications and lectures contributed to further dissemination of the method (30, 31).

The Kiel University Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology under Kurt Semm (1927–2003) is regarded as the birthplace of modern laparoscopy. He became the most productive researcher and innovative instrument maker in the field of modern endoscopic surgery (18).

In the 1960s, two decisive developments paved the way for a new era in endoscopy. The British physicist Harold Hopkins (1918-1994) developed the Hopkins optics in 1961 and achieved a further milestone in the field (32). This optical instrument consisted of so-called rod lenses. Its eighty-fold higher light transmission and enlarged field of vision yielded sharper and brighter images. The technique attracted the attention of the German instrument maker Karl Storz (Figure 2), who convinced Hopkins to work with him. As early as 1960, Karl Storz Company developed the cold light source, which replaced the bulb at the tip of the endoscope. The advantages of the cold light source were obvious: it provided much better illumination and caused less heat (32). Until 1970, intra-abdominal endoscopy was largely confined to diagnostic procedures. This limitation could be attributed to the fact that there were no means of arresting bleeding after surgical interventions. Semm aimed to use laparoscopy for purposes other than diagnosis alone. In order to distinguish this technique from internistic laparoscopy of the upper abdomen, he named his procedure pelviscopy (4). Being a precision mechanic himself, Semm developed many instruments personally. He had been engaged in endoscopy since 1955. His automatic CO2 insufflator, constructed in 1963, made operations in the abdominal cavity safer and more comfortable. Thermocoagulation was introduced in 1973, followed by the Roeder loop to stop bleeding (33). Semm developed a special suction irrigation device, an electronic insufflator, and the first morcellator in 1977. His spectrum of instruments and methods of hemostasis (endosuture with intra- and extracorporeal knots, as shown in Figure 3) enabled surgeons to perform increasingly complex surgical procedures (5). These innovations proved to be crucial prerequisites for the subsequent development of endoscopy.

However, a large number of gynecologists and surgeons criticized Semm for his "keyhole surgery" and believed that, thanks to modern anesthetic methods, laparotomy was no longer a problem. According to these critics, Semm had exaggerated the problem of adhesions which, they believed, could be easily resolved by open laparotomy. Some physicians treated Semm's reports of the new spectrum of endoscopic options (treatment of tubal pregnancy, adnexectomy, or ovariectomy) with disbelief, and asserted that Semm started an operation as a laparoscopy and ended with a laparotomy (5). Semm met with fierce resistance when he performed the first laparoscopic appendectomy in 1980, because surgeons saw no reason to replace an established surgical method by a technically complicated one (9, 10). The circumstance of a gynecologist showing surgeons how to perform an operation was simply inconceivable. Semm had crossed a limit that was considered impassable until the time. Cognizant of the immense potential of endoscopic surgery not only in gynecology but especially in surgery, Semm pursued his work in laparoscopy with unswerving commitment. He persisted in his efforts to reduce surgical trauma for patients (5, 9).

Two German surgeons, Gotz and Pier, pursued Semm's purpose and established laparoscopic appendectomy on a wide basis. Already in the early 90's, they performed hundreds of appendectomies by this approach and perfected the technique. They even used it in patients with acute appendicitis (5).

In 1985, the German surgeon Erich Mühe (1938–2005) performed the first laparoscopic cholecystectomy using the instruments developed by Semm (34). In 1987, he reported on 97 successful operations performed by this technique (35). Reich et al. described the first laparoscopic-assisted hysterectomy in 1989, while Mouret performed the first cholecystectomy by video laparoscopy in 1991 (36). At the time, the industry realized the importance and potential commercial benefits of this development and became more interested in laparoscopy.

However, there was still vehement opposition. Hans Troidl, then senior surgeon at the University Clinic of Surgery in Kiel reported that, at the 107th Congress of the German Society of Surgery in Berlin in 1990, an article on the first 100 laparoscopic cholecystectomies initially submitted and published by him was suddenly struck off from the official Congress program (from a personal communication with the authors IA and UM).

A video presentation of Semm's laparoscopic appendectomy at a gynecologists' convention in Baltimore in 1988 encouraged McKernan and Saye to perform the first laparoscopic cholecystectomy in the USA. They used Semm's instruments in combination with laser technology (5). Later on, many endoscopists visited the two surgeons in Nashville in order to learn the new technique. The news reached the media in the USA, and the technique was publicized in a talk show on television. This was followed by numerous training courses, which were fully booked within a very short period of time (5).

Figure 4 summarizes the historical steps of development from diagnostic to operative laparoscopy.

Advances in other fields of medicine delayed the subsequent evolution and application of laparoscopy. The development of laparoscopy was ignored by many surgeons in the 1970's and 1980's. The reasons were innovations in anesthesia and intensive medicine, and the new spectrum of medications which enabled surgeons to perform prolonged operations. Endoscopic cholecystectomy and appendectomy were considered daredevil artist's surgeries that offered risky solutions to safely resolved problems. The notion that major medical problems call for major solutions such as abdominal incisions was deeply ingrained in the minds of surgeons. The fundamental concept of laparoscopy was contrary to this notion (5).

Announcement of "Minimally Invasive Surgery"

In contrast to general trends at the time, a group of German surgeons founded the Surgical Task Group for Endoscopy and Ultrasonography in 1976. Five years later, the Society of American Gastrointestinal Endoscopic Surgeons (SAGES) was founded in the USA.

The first issue of the journal Surgical Endoscopy was published in 1987 and the first World Congress of Surgical Endoscopy was held in 1988. The convention was a major success and is regarded as a global breakthrough in laparoscopy (5).

The British urologist John E.A. Wickham (born in 1927) was the first to use the term "minimally invasive surgery" and attracted significant attention when he published his visions about endoscopic procedures in 1987 in the British Journal of Urology (37). Although Wickham was exposed to substantial criticism, his ideas are reflected in the trend of the 1980's, when doctors and patients alike became fascinated with laparoscopic techniques (5).

In 1987 he predicted the paradigm shift in practical surgery that took place a little later: "Surgeons applaud large incisions and denigrate "keyhole surgery." Patients, in contrast, want the smallest wound possible, and we at Britain's first department of minimally invasive surgery are convinced that patients are right" (37).

In the early 1990s, literally overnight endoscopic surgery was welcomed by widespread acceptance and rapid dissemination. This "laparoscopic revolution" was triggered by a sudden demand from patients, and its popularity heightened by avid media interest (38). The change was dramatic especially in cholecystectomy. The unprecedented demand gave rise to new problems: countless surgeons were unfamiliar with the new technique and had to undergo endoscopic training in a short period of time (38, 39).

The problem of imparting the knowledge and skills of endoscopy had been addressed for a long time. A breakthrough was achieved by the so called pelvi trainer (**Figure 5**), developed by Semm in 1985, which became an indispensable tool for learning laparoscopic techniques (40).

Technical Breakthrough With Electronic Video-Endoscopy

The introduction of electronic elements in the operating room (as shown in **Figures 6–10**), along with video transmission, aided the breakthrough in operative endoscopy (41-43).

The traditional monocular endoscope does not permit the surgeon to share his vision with others. For a long time, the surgeon guided the optical instrument himself and had only one hand for surgical work (**Figures 6**, **10**). The assistant surgeon had no means of viewing the field of surgery (as shown in **Figure 10**).

The introduction of the endoscopic video camera and image transmission to a monitor transformed the situation. The surgeon could now work with both hands and the assistant could



FIGURE 11 | Laparoscopic appendectomy past and present. (A,B) are original pictures of the first laparoscopic appendectomy performed by Semm in 1980: skeletization of the appendix was followed by its ligation at the base with a Roeder loop. (C,D) show the current standard of surgery with the use of a stapler. The significantly better image quality and advanced instruments are evident. Source: Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Kiel.



FIGURE 12 | Laparoscopic adnectomy past and present. (A,B) are original pictures of a laparoscopic adnectomy performed by Semm using the three-loop method in 1980. (C,D) show the current standard of surgery. The markedly better image quality is evident. Source: Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Kiel.



hemorrhagic corpus luteum cyst on the left side, endosalpingiosis of the left fallopian tube, and a scarred appendix. Source: Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Kiel.

follow the operation on the monitor. They could now operate as a team and demonstrate technical options to every observer. However, the first video cameras were heavy, cumbersome, and unsuitable for routine use. Electronic mini-cameras, introduced in 1987, resolved the problem (5).

Instruments and Equipment for Laparoscopy—Past and Present

Palpators were the sole instruments used in endoscopy until 1960. The diagnosis and treatment of female sterility, and later tubal sterilization, were the main procedures performed in gynecological laparoscopy until 1970 (5). Therefore, the first instruments to be developed were scissors and atraumatic grasping forceps for transection of the fallopian tubes. Thermal methods of hemostasis were needed after 1970. The methods of hemostasis developed by Semm (thermocoagulation, Roeder loop, endosuture with intra- and extracorporeal knots) and his extensive range of instruments enabled surgeons to perform increasingly complex operations (5).

Semm, who had completed an apprenticeship as a precision mechanic before entering medical school, found an effective means of putting his discoveries into clinical practice through his family. His father and brother were owners of WISAP, a company that produced medical instruments (9). While others had to wait for years before they could implement their ideas, Semm designs of new devices could be introduced in clinical practice



FIGURE 14 | International laparoscopy course at the Endoscopy School of Kiel with Professor Liselotte Mettler. Source: Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Kiel.

within a short period of time (9). This aroused the envy of many (9). Semm's numerous innovations extended the spectrum of surgical options to a significant extent (such as laparoscopic management of ectopic pregnancies, tubal sterilization by endocoagulation, salpingostomy, oophorectomy, salpingolysis, fimbriolysis, lysis of omental adhesions, bowel suturing, repair of uterine perforations, and myomenucleation) (9). In 1980, Semm and his staff member Liselotte Mettler reported the first endoscopic ovariectomies and adnectomies performed with the aid of the Roeder loop. The same year, Semm performed the first laparoscopic appendectomy which he published in 1983 (5, 9, 10). Figures 11-13 show original pictures of the first appendectomy and adnectomy performed by Semm in 1980, and original operation reports of the procedures (10, 41). In contrast, the procedures as they are performed today. Technological advancements such as miniaturized video cameras, innovative instruments, HD image quality and 3D technology show where we stand 40 years later. These innovations were driven forward at a rapid pace to the present day by several pioneers of operative laparoscopy and the technical industry.

Semm did not keep his knowledge to himself. Rather, he made it accessible to one and all. In his view, the art of laparoscopic surgery could not be learned by assisting an operation, as was the case for laparotomy. In 1985 he developed the Pelvi trainer, a phantom device for drilling operations (**Figure 5**) (40). The Kiel School of Gynecological Endoscopy was founded in 1990. Semm no longer needed to transport his technique elsewhere; he could make it accessible locally to one and all. A number of national and international courses have been held since this time (as shown in **Figure 14**).

Excursus: Anatomical Illustration—Past and Present

Viewing the transformations in surgery along with innovations in supporting medical specialties such as anesthesiology and intensive medicine, infectious diseases, pathology and others, it is almost disconcerting to note that illustrations of human anatomy, a basis for all medical specialties, were available in similar excellent quality 120 years ago and were by no means inferior to current visual presentations of human anatomy (as shown in **Figure 15**) (44).

Modern Era of Laparoscopy

The introduction of endoscopy in surgical practice is one of the greatest success stories in the history of medicine. This historical overview shows that laparoscopy has developed at an incredible pace in the last two decades and created unprecedented opportunities in gynecology.

Current developments are mainly focused on improving image display and making it more realistic. Furthermore, we have experienced consistent progress in robot-assisted surgery and new surgical accesses such as natural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery (NOTES) or access via a single trocar (singleport technique). Based on findings in pelvic neurofunctional anatomy and the introduction of laparoscopy in the dissection and visualization of the pelvic nerves Marc Possover introduced the concept of "Neuropelveology" in clinical practice. In 2014 the International Society of Neuropelveology was founded (45).

In an age of increasing specialization in medicine, the interdisciplinary approach is gaining importance and offers opportunities for endoscopic surgery (46). Thanks to the outstanding quality of digital imaging, operations can be shared more easily with surgeons of various specialties. This progress has been further aided by the development of new and user-friendly instruments that can be used in several specialties, and the simultaneous use of two consoles in robot-assisted surgery. Besides, modern operating rooms permit a rapid exchange of surgeons (47). Modern communication systems and telementoring allow the exchange of information over long distances. Thus, diverse specialties or surgeons can communicate intraoperatively without being physically present at the same site (48).



FIGURE 15 | (A) Anatomical illustration of the uterus, adnexa and parametrium in an ancient anatomical atlas (Dr. Carl Toldt, Berlin and Wien 1903 [44]) and (B) modern female anatomical illustration generated by Markus Voll.

The disadvantages include the high cost of installation and maintenance in robot-assisted procedures, which usually involve long operating times at least at the beginning and are associated with a renewed learning curve even for experienced laparoscopists. Furthermore, doctors as well as nursing staff must be trained in the use of the robot system (49, 50). Docking and the placement of trocars, and the unfamiliar actions at the console take more time in the initial phase. Notwithstanding the existing disadvantages of robot-assisted surgery, technological developments in this field will lead to further dissemination of miniaturized and economical integrated systems in the foreseeable future even in gynecology, and further enlarge the spectrum of minimally invasive operation techniques (5, 51).

CONCLUSION FOR CLINICAL PRACTICE

We await the coming decades of development in medical technology with a tear in one eye and a smile in the other.

REFERENCES

- Alkatout I, Holthaus B, Wedel T, Mettler L, Ackermann J, Maass N. Entwicklung der minimal-invasiven Chirurgie in der Gynäkologie und Überwindung assoziativer Herausforderungen. Der Gynäkologe. (2018) 51:737–43. doi: 10.1007/s00129-018-4292-7
- Alkatout I. An atraumatic retractor for interdisciplinary use in conventional laparoscopy and robotic surgery. *Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol.* (2018) 27:265–71. doi: 10.1080/13645706.2018.1440244
- Alkatout I, Mettler L. Hysterectomy a comprehensive surgical approach. J Turk Ger Gynecol Assoc. (2017) 18:221–3. doi: 10.4274/jtgga.2017.0097
- 4. Semm K. Pelviskopie und Hysteroskopie. *Farbatlas und Lehrbuch*. Stuttgart: F.K. Schattauer Verlag GmbH (1976). p. 7–14.
- Schollmeyer T, Semm K, Schollmeyer M, Mettler L. Practical Manual for Laparoscopic Hysteroscopic Gynecological Surgery. 2 Edn. In: Schollmeyer T, Mettler L, Rüther D, et al. eds. New Delhi: Jaypee Brothers Medical Publishers (2013) p. 3–11. doi: 10.5005/jp/books/11931_23
- Kelling G. Über Oesophagoskopie, Gastroskopie und Koelioskopie. Münchener Medizinische Wochenschrift (1902). p. 49:21.
- Hatzinger M, Badawi JK, Häcker A, Langbein S, Honeck P, Alken P. [Georg Kelling (1866–1945): the man who introduced modern laparoscopy into medicine]. Urologe A. (2006) 45:868–71. doi: 10.1007/s00120-006-1068-9
- Schollmeyer T, Soyinka AS, Schollmeyer M, Meinhold-Heerlein I. Georg Kelling (1866–1945): the root of modern day minimal invasive surgery. A forgotten legend? *Arch Gynecol Obstet.* (2007) 276:505–9. doi: 10.1007/s00404-007-0372-y
- Litynski GS. Kurt Semm and the fight against skepticism: endoscopic hemostasis, laparoscopic appendectomy, and Semm's impact on the "laparoscopic revolution". JSLS. (1998) 2:309–13.
- Semm K. Endoscopic appendectomy. *Endoscopy.* (1983) 15:59– 64. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-1021466
- Arnaud de Ronsil G. Memoires de chirurgie, avec quelques remarques historiques sur l'etat de la médecine et de la chirurgie en France et en Angleterre. Paris: Londres chez J. Nourse (1768).
- Bozzini P. Der Lichtleiter oder die Beschreibung einer einfachen Vorrichtung und Ihre Anwendung zur Erleuchtung innerer Höhlen und Zwischenräume des lebenden animalischen Körpers. Weimar: Verlag des Landes Industrie Comptoir (1807).
- 13. Desormeaux AJ. De'Lendoscope et ses applications au diagnostic et au traitement des affections de l'urethre et de la vessie. Baillière (1865).
- Nitze M. Über die Behandlungsmethode der Höhlen des menschlichen Körpers. Wien Med Wschr. (1879) 24:851–8.
- 15. Leiter J. Elektro-endoskopische Instrumente. Wien (1880).

With a smile because medicine and patient care will benefit from rapid global technological progress. With a tear because we do not know whether the original essence of our existence, namely exercising our manual skills on human beings, will be abolished in the near future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB. GG. and AL IA, DE UM, LM, JP, NM. contributed equally the formation, to writing, editing manuscript. and of this All authors approved contributed to the article and the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The subject of the article has been published in a similar form in German language (52).

- Mikulicz J. Gastroskopie und oesophagoskopie. Verh. dt. Ges. Chir. Berlin. (1882) 11:31–8.
- Litynski GS, Paolucci V. Origin of laparoscopy: coincidence or surgical interdisciplinary thought? World J Surg. (1998) 22:899–902. doi: 10.1007/s002689900490
- Litynski GS. Endoscopic surgery: the history, the pioneers. World J Surg. (1999) 23:745–53. doi: 10.1007/s002689900576
- Hatzinger M, Häcker A, Langbein S, Kwon S, Hoang-Böhm J, Alken P. Hans Christian Jacobaeus (1879–1937). Der Urologe. (2006) 45:1184– 6. doi: 10.1007/s00120-006-1069-8
- Kaiser AM, Corman ML. History of laparoscopy. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. (2001) 10:483–92. doi: 10.1016/S1055-3207(18)30045-0
- Morgenstern L. The first laparoscopist in the United States: Bertram m. Bernheim, MD. Surg Innov. (2007) 14:241–2. doi: 10.1177/1553350607309433
- 22. Goetze O. Die Röntgendiagnostik bei gasgefüllter Bauchhöhle; eine neue Methode. *Munch Med Wochenschr.* (1918) 65:1275–80.
- 23. Korbsch R. Lehrbuch der Laparoskopie und Thorakoskopie. München: Lehmann (1927).
- 24. Kalk H. Erfahrungen mit der Laparoskopie (zugleich mit Beschreibung eines neuen Instrumentes). Z Klin Med. (1929) 111:304–348.
- Fervers C. Die Laparoskopie mit dem Cystoscop. Ein Beitrag zur Vereinfachung der Technik und zur endoskopischen Strangdurchtrennung in der Bauchhöhle. *Med Klin.* (1933) 29:1042–5.
- Morgenstern L. No surgeon he. John C. Ruddock MD, F.A.C.P., pioneer in laparoscopy. Surg Endosc. (1996) 10:617–8. doi: 10.1007/BF00188512
- Veress J. Neues Instrument zur Ausführung von Brustoder Bauch Punktionen und Pneumothoraxbehandlung. Dtsch Med Wochenschr. (1938) 64:1480–1. doi: 10.1055/s-0028-11 23401
- Palmer R. La coelioscopie gynecologique. rapport du Prof. Mocquot. Acad De Chir. (1946) 72:363-8
- Decker A. Pelvic culdoscopy. In: *Progress in Gynecology*, JV Meigs editor. New York, NY: Grüne & Stratton (1946) p. 95–9.
- Frangenheim H. Die Laparoskopie und die Culdoskopie in der Gynäkologie. Stuttgart: Thieme Verlag (1959).
- Frangenheim H. Die Laparoskopie in der Gynäkologie, Chirurgie und Pädiatrie: Lehrbuch und Atlas. Stuttgart: Thieme Verlag (1970).
- Schollmeyer M, Schollmeyer T. Georg Kelling und die sächsischen Wurzeln der Laparoskopie – 100 Jahre Laparoskopie. Siebenlehn: Verein Oschatzer Frauenärzte e.V., Druckerei Wagner, Verlag und Werbung GmbH (2001).
- Semm K. Operationen ohne Skalpell: Ein Gynäkologe als Wegbereiter der Minimal invasiven Medizin (Autobiographie). Landsberg: Ecomed Verlag (2002).

- Mühe E 296. Die erste Cholecystektomie durch das Laparoskop. Langenbecks Arch Chiv (1986) 369:804. doi: 10.1007/BF01274615
- 36. Reich H. Laparoscopic hysterectomy. Surg Laparosc Endosc. (1992) 2:85-8.
- Wickham JE. The new surgery. Br Med J. (1987) 295:1581– 2. doi: 10.1136/bmj.295.6613.1581
- Schlich T, Tang CL. Patient choice and the history of minimally invasive surgery. *Lancet.* (2016) 388:1369–70. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31738-X
- Frampton S, Kneebone RL. John Wickham's New Surgery: 'Minimally Invasive Therapy', Innovation, and approaches to medical practice in twentiethcentury Britain. Soc History Med. (2017) 30:544–66. doi: 10.1093/shm/hkw074
- Semm K. Pelvi-Trainer, ein Übungsgerät für die operative Pelviskopie zum Erlernen endoskopischer Ligatur und Nahttechniken [Pelvi-trainer, a training device in operative pelviscopy for teaching endoscopic ligation and suture technics]. *Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd.* (1986) 46:60–2. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1036165
- Semm K. MIC. Bessere Lebensqualität durch Minimal Invasive Chirurgie (Better Quality of Life Through Minimally Invasive Surgery), 1 Edn. Kiel (1991). p. 18–42. doi: 10.3109/13645709109152795
- Semm K. Gynäkologische Pelviskopie Chromopertubation. Film D1100 des IWF Göttingen (1973).
- Semm K. Gynäkologische Pelviskopie Verwachsungen. Film D1101 des IWF Göttingen (1973).
- 44. Toldt C. Anatomischer Atlas. Für Studierende und Ärzte. Dritte, vermehrte und verbesserte Auflage, Vierte Lieferung. Berlin, Wien: Urban & Schwarzenberg Verlag (1903) p. 512.
- Possover M, Forman A, Rabischong B, Lemos N, Chiantera V. Neuropelveology: new groundbreaking discipline in medicine. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. (2015) 22:1140–1. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2015.06.009
- 46. Alkatout I, Egberts JH, Mettler L, Doniec M, Wedel T, Jünemann KP, et al. Interdisziplinäre Diagnostik und Therapie der tief infiltrierenden Endometriose [Interdisciplinary Diagnosis and Treatment of Deep Infiltrating Endometriosis]. Zentralbl Chir. (2016) 141:630–638. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1383272
- Hanly EJ, Miller BE, Kumar R, Hasser CJ, Coste-Maniere E, Talamini MA, et al. Mentoring console improves collaboration and teaching in surgical robotics. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A. (2006) 16:445– 51. doi: 10.1089/lap.2006.16.445

- Sebajang H, Trudeau P, Dougall A, Hegge S, McKinley C, Anvari M. The role of telementoring and telerobotic assistance in the provision of laparoscopic colorectal surgery in rural areas. *Surg Endosc.* (2006) 20:1389– 93. doi: 10.1007/s00464-005-0260-0
- Schollmeyer T, Mettler L, Jonat W, Alkatout I. Roboterchirurgie in der Gynäkologie. Der Gynäkologe. (2011) 44:196–201. doi: 10.1007/s00129-010-2709-z
- Herron DM, Marohn M, and The SAGES-MIRA Robotic Surgery Consensus Group. A consensus document on robotic surgery. Surg Endosc. (2008) 22:313–25; discussion 311-2. doi: 10.1007/s00464-007-9727-5
- Schollmeyer T, Elessawy M, Chastamouratidhs B, Alkatout I, Meinhold-Heerlein I, Mettler L, et al. Hysterectomy trends over a 9-year period in an endoscopic teaching center. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*. (2014) 126:45– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2013.12.017
- Alkatout I, Pape JM, Mechler U, Mettler L, Maass N, Freytag D. Geschichte und Pioniere der Laparoskopie. Der Gynäkologe. (2021). doi: 10.1007/s00129-021-04871-9

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor RW declared a past co-authorship with one of the author IA.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Alkatout, Mechler, Mettler, Pape, Maass, Biebl, Gitas, Laganà and Freytag. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Novel Multi-Port Containment System for Laparoscopic Power Morcellation to Prevent Tumoral Spread: A Retrospective Cohort Study

Wenhui Wang^{1,2}, Haiyan Liang², Fang Zhao², Huan Yu², Chunhong Rong², Weiwei Feng^{2,3}, Qingyun Chen², Yanjun Yang², Qian Li², Dingqing Feng², Yuxiao Dong^{2,3}, Ming Xue^{1,2}, Jing Liang^{2*} and Bin Ling^{1,2,3*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rafał Watrowski, University of Freiburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Antonio Simone Laganà, University of Insubria, Italy Andrea Tinelli, Moscow Institute of Physics and Technology, Russia

*Correspondence:

Jing Liang jacyliang@hotmail.com Bin Ling lingbin.ling@vip.sina.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetrics and Gynecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Surgery

Received: 28 October 2021 Accepted: 03 January 2022 Published: 03 February 2022

Citation:

Wang W, Liang H, Zhao F, Yu H, Rong C, Feng W, Chen Q, Yang Y, Li Q, Feng D, Dong Y, Xue M, Liang J and Ling B (2022) A Novel Multi-Port Containment System for Laparoscopic Power Morcellation to Prevent Tumoral Spread: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Front. Surg. 9:803950. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2022.803950 ¹ Graduate School of Peking Union Medical College, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, Beijing, China, ² Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, China-Japan Friendship Hospital, Beijing, China, ³ Graduate School of Beijing University of Chinese Medicine, Beijing, China

Objective: To report a novel multi-port containment (NMC) system for laparoscopic power morcellation to prevent tumoral spread and to evaluate its safety, validity, and feasibility.

Methods: This retrospective study included women who underwent laparoscopic myomectomy (LM) between January 2014 and August 2020 at a single academic institution. The NMC system was used in the study group (n = 193); the control group underwent unprotected LM (n = 1753).

Results: After 1:1 propensity score matching, no significant differences in the baseline characteristics were observed between 193 matched pairs. Bag damages were detected in two cases in the study group before morcellation, and the NMC systems were replaced. There were no significant differences between the two groups in terms of the complications, total operative time, estimated blood loss, or postoperative hospitalization duration. In the study group, all operations were completed and no system rupture or leakage was observed. The median follow-up times were 21 and 54 months in the study group. However, three (3/5, 0.6%) and six (6/1,753, 0.3%) patients in the control group experienced malignant and benign peritoneal tissue spread, respectively.

Conclusion: The NMC system for laparoscopic power morcellation is valid, safe, and feasible for preventing a tumor spread.

Keywords: uterine leiomyoma, laparoscopic myomectomy, power morcellation, containment system, uterine sarcoma

28

INTRODUCTION

Uterine leiomyoma (UL) is the most common tumor of the female reproductive system, with an incidence of >70% (1). Laparoscopic myomectomy (LM) is the most frequent fertility-sparing or uterine-conserving procedure (2, 3). Power morcellation facilitates the efficient fragmentation and removal of tissues *via* small incisions (4). However, unprotective morcellation seriously violates the principle of the no-touch isolation technique and challenges operational safety, thereby becoming a worldwide concern (5, 6).

Laparoscopic power morcellation in the management of uterine malignancy, especially occult uterine sarcomas, may inadvertently cause disease upstaging and negatively affect the prognosis (6–8). In 2014, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) reported that the incidence of occult uterine sarcoma was 1 per 352 individuals, and issued a black box warning about power morcellation (9). This was reiterated in 2020 and power morcellation for myomectomy was recommended only if performed with the containment system (10).

However, owing to the lack of compatibility between the containment system and laparoscopic instruments, the leakage rate of the bags is very high (11–13). A prospective multi-center study was paused due to blue dye spillage, mostly from the lateral puncture site, in 9.2% of the cases (12). In addition, bags render morcellation more cumbersome, resulting in increased operative times (14). The aim of this study was to report a novel multi-port containment (NMC) system for laparoscopic power morcellation for preventing tumor spread and to evaluate its safety, validity, and feasibility.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The flow chart of the study design is presented in **Figure 1**. LM was performed with an NMC system in a total of 193 patients (the study group) from August 1, 2018 to August 1, 2020 at the Gynecology Center of the China-Japan Friendship Hospital in Beijing, China. Considering the stability of the LM technique and the large sample size required for comparison, 1,753 patients treated with unprotected LM from January 1, 2014 to August 1, 2020 were included in the control group. A total of 364 patients were excluded for the following reasons: (1) age > 50 years; (2) largest tumor diameter < 4 cm; (3) history of malignancy; and (4) suspected malignancy. Another 23 patients were lost to follow-up, and were thus, excluded from the control group. All surgeries were performed by the same group of experienced surgeons (B.L., J.L., and H.L.); they were highly trained in minimally invasive procedures.

Demographic, perioperative, and follow-up data were collected and analyzed. The demographic data comprised age, body mass index (BMI), gravidity, parity, hypertension and diabetes status, the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) score, hemoglobin level, major indications of LM (such as menorrhagia), intestinal and urinary tract disorders, presence of abdominal distention or pain, and fertility requirements. Data were also collected on the history of previous abdominal/pelvic surgeries; the sizes, numbers, and locations of the leiomyomas; and the pathological types of the lesions. Perioperative data comprised the integrity of the system after morcellation, intraoperative complications (including visceral, vascular, or nerve injuries; estimated blood loss > 1,000 mL; or serious anesthesia complications), postoperative complications (12), total operative time (defined as the time from incision to closure), estimated blood loss (defined as the surgeon's estimate recorded in the operative record), and postoperative hospitalization duration. All patients were followed up with ultrasound or magnetic resonance imaging at 1 month, 6 months, and 1 year after the operation.

All surgeries were performed by senior surgeons who followed the same standardized procedures for each intervention; the patients were placed under general anesthesia in a semilithotomy position. A standard four-port operative laparoscope was introduced for direct visual entry. During each surgical intervention, a careful and systematic inspection of the uterus, ovaries, and entire pelvis was performed. In the control group, standard intra-abdominal uncontained power morcellation was performed using a reusable, uterine power morcellator (KANGJI medical) (15). The NMC system was used for the study group.

The main components of the NMC system are shown in **Figure 2** and include a detachable trocar (trocar base and trocar sheath) and a retrieval bag (soft bag body, hard sheath on the bag, and sealing cap).

The key steps of the surgical procedure involving the NMC system are illustrated in **Figure 3** and are also depicted in the **Supplementary Video 1**. The first stage was placement, and the steps involved are outlined hereafter: (a) the bag was placed in the abdominal cavity through the right lower 20-mm introduction sheath, (b) the myoma was resected into the bag via its large opening, (c) the edges around the opening of the bag were pulled out through the introduction sheath, (d) the hard sheaths on the bag were pulled from the body through the corresponding trocar incisions, (e) the sealing caps were replaced with the trocar bases, (f) the abdominal cavity was de-sufflated, and simultaneously, a pseudo-pneumoperitoneum (14 mmHg) was established by inflating the bag via the umbilical trocar. Thereafter, power morcellation was performed.

The next stage was extraction, and the steps involved are outlined hereafter: (a) after morcellation, the trocar bases were replaced with the sealing caps and sent back into the abdominal cavity, (b) the bag was de-sufflated, and the abdominal cavity was re-insufflated, and (c) the bag was removed through the introduction sheath.

After LM, the abdomen and pelvis were carefully examined for signs of tissue spillage. Surgeons visually examined the integrity of the system. The system was filled with 1,000 mL of methylene blue solution to identify potential disruptions. Precautions were outlined such that in case a system tear or leakage occurred at any time prior to or during the morcellation, the procedure would be halted and a new system would be utilized.

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 31.0 (IBM Corp., USA). Continuous data are summarized as means and standard deviations (SDs). The *t*-test was used for comparing continuous variables and the χ^2 test or the Fisher's exact test was used for comparing the categorical variables between the





FIGURE 2 | Main components of the novel multi-port containment (NMC) system. (A) The main components of the NMC system include the detachable peripheral trocar and the retrieval bag. (B) Detachable peripheral trocar (trocar base and trocar sheath). (C) Hard sheath on the bag and sealing cap. (D,E) Transposing sealing caps and trocar bases by threaded structures.

unmatched groups. Propensity score matching (PSM) was used to minimize bias; it has been widely used in previous studies as well (16). Based on previous reports and experience, the age; BMI; gravidity and parity; preoperative diabetes and hypertension status; hemoglobin level; ASA score; main surgical indications; history of abdominal/pelvic surgery; and the tumor size, number,



20-mm introduction sheath. (B) The myoma is resected into the bag via its large opening. (C) The sealing caps on the hard sheaths are unscrewed and replaced with trocar bases. (D) The abdominal cavity is de-sufflated, and simultaneously, a pseudo-pneumoperitoneum is established by inflating the bag via the umbilical trocar. Thereafter, power morcellation is performed. (E) After morcellation, the trocar bases are unscrewed and replaced with the corresponding sealing caps. (F) The bag is removed through the introduction sheath. (G) Tissue and fluid remnants after morcellation in the NMC system. (H) 1,000-mL methylene blue solution is used to identify eventual system integrity.

and location were considered to be important factors associated with the perioperative outcomes in the two groups. We calculated a propensity score for each patient through logistic regression modeling; thereafter, patients from the study and control groups were matched at a ratio of 1:1, with the caliper width set as 0.02 for the SD. The standardized mean difference was estimated before and after matching to evaluate the balance. Patient demographic data were adjusted to almost the same levels after matching. For proportional outcome comparisons between the two groups after PSM, the paired *t*-test was used for continuous variables and the McNemar test was used for binary variables. Two-sided *p*-values < 0.05 were considered to indicate statistical significance. The analysis was conducted in August 2021.

This study was approved by the institutional review board of the China-Japan Friendship Hospital. All patients were fully informed of the operation; they agreed to undergo it and consented to the further utilization of the data collected before and after the operation. Before the operation, all patients were informed in detail about the operative procedures, potential risks, and benefits of the intervention. The patients had the right to choose whether to undergo treatment using the NMC system, mainly based on their desires. Written informed consent was obtained from all the patients.

RESULTS

The baseline characteristics of the patients are displayed in **Table 1**. No significant intergroup differences in most of the baseline characteristics, except for gravidity, average diameter of the largest tumor, and main surgical indications, were observed. After PSM, 386 women were successfully matched

TABLE 1 | Patient characteristics before and after propensity score matching.

| | Proper | nsity score matching Before | , no. (%) | | After | |
|--|--------------------------|--------------------------------|-----------|--------------------------|----------------------------|---------|
| Characteristic | Study group (n = 193) | Control group $(n = 1753)$ | P-value | Study group (n = 193) | Control group (n = 193) | P-value |
| Age, mean (SD), y | 39.2 (6.4) | 39.2 (7.0) | 0.993 | 39.2 (7.0) | 38.7 (6.6) | 0.428 |
| BMI | | | 0.134 | | | 0.698 |
| <19 | 17 (8.8) | 141 (8.0) | | 17 (8.8) | 21 (10.9) | |
| 19–24 | 117 (60.6) | 946 (54.0) | | 117 (60.6) | 119 (61.7) | |
| >24 | 59 (30.6) | 666 (38.0) | | 59 (30.6) | 53 (27.5) | |
| Gravidity, mean (SD) | 1.4 (1.4) | 1.8 (1.5) | <0.001 | 1.4 (1.4) | 1.6 (1.5) | 0.292 |
| Parity, mean (SD) | 0.6 (0.6) | 0.7 (0.7) | 0.034 | 0.6 (0.6) | 0.7 (0.6) | 0.654 |
| ASA score | () | · · · · | 0.060 | . , | () | 0.335 |
| 1 | 161 (83.4) | 1,555 (88.7) | | 161 (83.4) | 158 (81.9) | |
| 2 | 32 (16.6) | 190 (10.8) | | 32 (16.6) | 35 (18.1) | |
| _ ≥3 | 0 (0) | 8 (0.5) | | 0 | 0 | |
| Diabetes | 3 (3) | 0 (010) | 0.099 | Ũ | Ū. | 1.000 |
| Yes | 4 (2.1) | 84 (4.5) | 0.000 | 4 (2.1) | 3 (1.6) | 1.000 |
| No | 189 (97.9) | 1,669 (95.2) | | 189 (97.9) | 190 (98.4) | |
| Hypertension | 100 (01:0) | 1,000 (00.2) | 1.000 | 100 (01.0) | 100 (00.4) | 0.724 |
| Yes | 3 (1.6) | 31 (1.8) | 1.000 | 3 (1.6) | 5 (2.6) | 0.121 |
| No | 190 (98.4) | 1,722 (98.2) | | 190 (98.4) | 188 (97.4) | |
| Hemoglobin level | 100 (001.) | (0012) | 0.630 | 100 (001.1) | 100 (0111) | 0.554 |
| Normal | 169 (87.6) | 1,560 (89.0) | 0.000 | 169 (87.6) | 164 (85.0) | 0.001 |
| Abnormal | 24 (12.4) | 193 (11.0) | | 24 (12.4) | 29 (15.0) | |
| Major indications | _ ((,) / | | 0.006 | _ ((_ , ,) | | 0.555 |
| Menorrhagia | 675 (38.5) | 675 (38.5) | | 88 (45.6) | 100 (51.8) | |
| Intestinal and urinary tract disorders | 174 (9.9) | 174 (9.9) | | 30 (15.5) | 21 (10.9) | |
| Abdominal distention or pain | 114 (6.5) | 114 (6.5) | | 13 (6.7) | 13 (6.7) | |
| Fertility requirements | 666 (38.0) | 666 (38.0) | | 54 (28.0) | 54 (28.0) | |
| Others | 124 (7.1) | 124 (7.1) | | 8 (4.1) | 5 (2.6) | |
| History of abdominal/pelvic surgery | | | 0.376 | | | 0.498 |
| No | 135 (69.9) | 1,169 (66.7) | | 135 (69.9) | 142 (73.6) | |
| Yes | 58 (30.1) | 584 (33.3) | | 58 (30.1) | 51 (26.4) | |
| Myomectomy | 8 | 75 | | 8 | 7 | |
| Cesarean section | 43 | 384 | | 43 | 37 | |
| Others | 14 | 178 | | 14 | 12 | |
| The average diameter of the largest tumor, mean (SD), cm | 7 (1.9) | 6.7 (2.1) | 0.001 | 7 (1.9) | 6.8 (2.0) | 0.147 |
| Location of the tumor | | | 0.590 | | | 1.000 |
| Uterus | 176 (91.2) | 1,626 (92.8) | | 176 (91.2) | 176 (91.2) | |
| Cervical or uterus ligaments | 17 (8.8) | 123 (7.0) | | 17 (8.8) | 17 (8.8) | |
| Others | 0 (0) | 4 (0.2) | | 0 (0) | 0 (0) | |
| Number of the tumor | 2.7 (2.5) | 2.5 (2.2) | 0.521 | 2.7 (2.5) | 2.8 (2.5) | 0.618 |

BMI, body mass index; Normal hemoglobin level is \geq 110 g/L.

such that the previously mentioned baseline differences were no longer present.

The perioperative outcomes of the two groups are displayed in **Table 2**. All operations were completed in the study group. In two cases, bag damages were detected before morcellation and the NMC systems were changed. Following PSM, no intraoperative complications were noted in the two groups. Furthermore, no significant differences in the postoperative complications were noted between the two groups (p = 1.000; **Table 3**). There was no significant difference in the mean total operative time between the study and control groups (119.9 \pm 46.4 vs. 120.2 \pm 44.2 min, p = 0.953). The difference in the estimated blood loss per patient was not statistically significant between the study and control groups (73.7 \pm 102.7 mL vs. 65.7 \pm 76.2 mL, p = 0.621). Additionally, there was no significant difference in the postoperative hospitalization duration between the study and control groups (3.8 \pm 1.3 vs. 4.0 \pm 1.4, p = 0.442; **Table 2**).

There were no significant differences in the initial pathological types between the two groups (p = 0.414; **Table 4**). Unexpected malignant uterine leiomyosarcoma (ULSM) was diagnosed in

TABLE 2 | Perioperative outcomes of the two groups.

| Propensity score matching, no. (%) | | | | | | | |
|--|--------------------------|-----------------------------|---------|--------------------------|----------------------------|---------|--|
| | | Before | | After | | | |
| Characteristic | Study group (n = 193) | Control group $(n = 1,753)$ | P-value | Study group (n = 193) | Control group (n = 193) | P-value | |
| Leakage | 0 | - | - | 0 | _ | _ | |
| Intra-op. complications | 0 | 4 | - | 0 | 0 | - | |
| Post-op. complications | 9 (4.7) | 99 (5.6) | 0.625 | 9 (4.7) | 10 (5.1) | 1.000 | |
| Total operative time, mean (SD), min | 119.9 (46.4) | 116.6 (46.7) | 0.349 | 119.9 (46.4) | 120.2 (44.2) | 0.953 | |
| Estimated blood loss, mean (SD), ml | 73.7 (102.6) | 66.2 (91.8) | 0.271 | 73.7 (102.7) | 65.7 (76.2) | 0.621 | |
| Postoperative hospitalization duration, mean (SD), d | 3.8 (1.3) | 3.6 (1.3) | 0.004 | 3.8 (1.3) | 4.0 (1.4) | 0.442 | |

TABLE 3 | Peri-operation complications of the two groups.

| | Proper | sity score matching, no. (%) | | | | |
|----------------------------|---|--|---------|--|--|---------|
| | | Before | | | After | |
| | Study group ($n = 193$) | Control group ($n = 1,753$) | P-value | Study group ($n = 193$) | Control group ($n = 193$) | P-value |
| Intra-op. complications | <i>n</i> = 0 | n = 4 (0.2) Bladder injury 1 AWV injury 1 EBL > 1,000 mL 2 | _ | <i>n</i> = 0 | <i>n</i> = 0 | _ |
| Post-op. complications | n = 9 (4.7) Incisional seroma 1 Incisional infection 1 Urinary tract infection 2 Hematuria 1 Uroschesis 2 Abdominal dressing allergy 2 | n = 99 (5.6) Blood transfusion 5 Phlebothrombosis 1 Pelvic infection 2 Incisional seroma 12 Incisional infection 15 Subcutaneous emphysema 8 Urinary tract infection 17 Hematuria 11 Uroschesis 15 Abdominal dressing allergy 13 | 0.625 | n = 9 (4.7) Incisional seroma 1 Incisional infection 1 Urinary tract infection 2 Hematuria 1 Uroschesis 2 Abdominal dressing allergy 2 | n = 10 (5.1) Incisional seroma 2 Incisional infection 1 Urinary tract infection 1 Hematuria 1 Uroschesis 2 Abdominal dressing allergy 3 | 1.000 |

EBL, estimated blood loss; AWV, abdominal wall vascular.

one patient (1/193, 0.5%) in the study group. In the control group, five patients (5/1,753, 0.3%) developed malignancy after LM; this included one endometrial stromal sarcoma and four ULSMs. Reoperations for the unexpected sarcomas included laparoscopic hysterectomy and bilateral salpingectomy (LH + BS) or laparoscopic hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy (LH + BSO) (**Table 5**).

The median follow-up times in the study and control groups were 21 months (range: 12–36 months) and 54 months (range: 12–92 months), respectively. No peritoneal tissue spread was found in the study group. However, 2–6 months after LM, three patients (3/5, 0.6%) in the control group experienced pathologically confirmed sarcoma peritoneal spread. Furthermore, six patients (6/1,753, 0.3%) developed a benign peritoneal tissue spread [the lesions included parasitic leiomyoma and disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis (DPL)] due to the recurrence of myomas, abdominal pain, or other reasons. The interval to subsequent surgery ranged from 31 to 73 months (**Table 6**).

TABLE 4 | Initial pathology types of the two groups.

| | Pathology types | Study group (<i>n</i> = 193) No. (%) | Control group (<i>n</i> = 1,753) No. (%) | P-vaule |
|----------------------------------|---|---|---|---------|
| Initial pathological types | UL | 143 (74.1) | 1,259 (71.8) | 0.414 |
| | Special types of UL ^a Uterine sarcoma | 49 (25.4) 1 (0.5) | 489 (27.9) 5 (0.3) | |

UL, uterine leiomyoma.

^aSpecial types uterine leiomyoma including atypical leiomyomas, cell-rich leiomyomas, and leiomyomas with uncertain malignant potential, et al.

DISCUSSION

The use of containment systems in power morcellation is accepted worldwide to thwart the spread of occult malignant tumors (5, 6). However, owing to the poor compatibility between the extraction bag and the surgical instrument, the bag has a

| TABLE 5 Patients with unexpected u | uterine sarcoma during laparoscopic surgeries for uterine leiomyoma. |
|--------------------------------------|--|
|--------------------------------------|--|

| Groups | Patients | Age | Pathology | FIGO stage | Supplementary treatment | Peritoneal dissemination (Time to the first operation) | Follow-up time (months) | Survival state |
|---------------|----------|-----|-----------|---------------|-------------------------|---|-------------------------------|----------------|
| Study group | 1 | 26 | ULMS | la | LH + BS | No | 24 | Survival |
| Control group | 1 | 32 | ULMS | la | LH + BSO | No | 62 | Survival |
| | 2 | 36 | ESS | lb | LH + BSO | Yes (2 months) | 25 | Die |
| | 3 | 41 | ULMS | la | LH + BSO | No | 72 | Survival |
| | 4 | 41 | ULMS | la | LH + BSO | Yes (5 months) | 73 | Survival |
| | 5 | 43 | ULMS | la | LH + BSO | Yes (6 months) | 71 | Survival |

FIGO, The International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics; ULMS, uterine leiomyosarcoma; ESS, endometrial stromal sarcoma; LH + BS, laparoscopic hysterectomy; bilateral salpingectomy; LH + BSO, laparoscopic hysterectomy, bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy.

TABLE 6 | Power morcellation-related reoperation of benign pathologies in the control group.

| Control group | Patients | Age (years) | Initial pathology | Interval to subsequent surgery (months) | Site |
|---------------|----------|----------------|---------------------|--|--------------------------------|
| Parasitic | 1 | 20 | Leiomyoma | 31 | Pelvic leiomyoma |
| leiomyoma | 2 | 35 | Leiomyoma | 33 | Pelvic leiomyoma |
| | 3 | 41 | Leiomyoma | 66 | Pelvic leiomyoma |
| | 4 | 37 | Cell-rich leiomyoma | 54 | Trocar site of the previous LM |
| DPL | 5 | 33 | STUMP | 36 | Peritoneum, Omentum, |
| | 6 | 36 | Leiomyoma | 73 | Peritoneum, Omentum, Mesocolon |

LM, laparoscopic myomectomy; DPL, disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis.

high leakage rate and is not easy to operate. This limits the development of minimally invasive surgery (11–14). Therefore, in this study, we reported an NMC system with the aim of realizing the integration of the containment bag and laparoscopic trocars to form a completely sealed containment barrier that prevents the spillage of liquids and tissue from the time the uterine tissue is morcellated and encapsulated in the system.

Several protected techniques by using endobag systems for UL power morcellation have been described in the literatures (17-27). Although these technologies can play a protective role, there are still three major shortcomings. First, the soft auxiliary sleeve is easily twisted and punctured when the surgical instruments enter the bag through a small incision. Second, the end of the auxiliary sleeve is sealed by knotting or suture ligation during removal through the abdominal wall incision; this is inadequate for preventing the sealing area from being contaminated by the tissue. Furthermore, when the bag is removed through the incision, an excessive pressure is generated inside the bag; this puts the sealed area at the highest risk of leakage. Moreover, it is inconvenient to operate by a single port or without the help of an assistant; this does not conform to the traditional laparoscopic operating habits and may increase the difficulty and risk of operation. In addition, using endobag inserted through the posterior colpotomy to remove the specimen is also an effective and feasible alternative technique, and has better a cosmetic effect (28-30). Nevertheless, transvaginal procedures cannot be performed in patients without a sexual history. Furthermore, it is extremely difficult to apply in patients with a narrow vaginal capacity, an obliterated cul-de-sac, or in whom larger myomas require removal (30).

To solve these problems, the system makes use of a hard sheath and sealing cap; these are connected through a reliable and stable threaded interface, thus providing good protection against the spread of tumors. The auxiliary sleeve of the system is composed of a hard material that effectively prevents the twisting or puncturing of the bag. In addition, a sealing cap is used to seal the hard sheath, which can maintain the integrity of the system during the extraction process. The uterine tissue in the bag is completely covered by the sealing cap and does not come in contact with the abdominal wall incision; compared with suture ligation or knotting, the threaded connection can provide tighter and more pressure-resistant protection to the end of the auxiliary sleeve.

In our study, bag damage occurred in two cases in the study group; however, in both cases, the damage was discovered before morcellation, and the NMC systems were replaced. The postoperative methylene blue solution test confirmed that there was no leakage. These two cases of damage occurred in the first 30 cases, and the damaged parts were near the small hard sheath. We considered that this may be due to a torsion between the rigid sheath and the bag body. We also considered that the laparoscopic instrument may have been introduced when not sufficiently adjusted, which may have caused the bag to puncture. In subsequent operations, full attention was paid to the procedure, and all the operations were performed under direct laparoscopic view; therefore, no damage occurred.

On analyzing the follow-up data in the control group, we identified three patients with uterine sarcomas who suffered intraperitoneal dissemination soon after LM (2-6 months); the spread rate was 0.6% (3/5). This result is consistent with the results of previous studies (31, 32). Unprotected morcellation is detrimental to the patient. In case of a malignant sarcoma, it will cause disease upstaging and negatively affect the prognosis. Only one patient in the study group had a ULSM; it has been followed up for 24 months with no evidence of dissemination. In addition to malignancy, there is a risk of benign tissue spread after unprotected morcellation (5, 18, 33, 34). Four cases were observed in the control group and none in the study group. Although there were certain discrepancies in the sample scale and follow-up time between the two groups, because the NMC system has an airtight protective effect and there was no damage or leakage during the operation, we believe that the probability of disseminated implantation is extremely low. Of course, a longer follow-up time is needed for further verification, especially of dissemination of benign tissues.

Finally, to ease manipulation, we used the multi-port rigid sheaths as auxiliary ports, because they can match with the multiport laparoscope to facilitate the operation with the help of an assistant.

Some studies have reported that the application of the endobag system could be time-consuming due to bag manipulation (27). Based on our findings, the total operative time did not differ significantly between the study and control groups. The reason may be that although the placement and extraction of the system spend more time, the time in searching for tissue fragments and performing repeat irrigation after morcellation can be saved, and the multi-port rigid sheath makes the operation easier.

There were some limitations in our study. The main limitations were the bias associated with patient selection and the retrospective nature of the study. Therefore, to provide stronger evidence, further prospective, multicenter, large-sample clinical studies (NCT 04392674) will be performed. Besides, the control group did not receive any protection during morcellation; thus, there was a risk of tissue dissemination. Although the U.S. FDA proposed a prohibition of power morcellation in 2014; in 2020, it updated the guidelines again to point out the need for morcellation containment system (9, 10). In fact, it was not until 2020 that China proposed the consensus on the implementation of laparoscopic power morcellation for UL (35). During this period, there were some disputes (36). Furthermore, in China, there are still great differences in the economic levels. Many protective devices have not been included in the reimbursement of basic medical insurance; this exerts additional economic

REFERENCES

 Stewart EA, Laughlin-Tommaso SK, Catherino WH, Lalitkumar S, Gupta D, Vollenhoven B. Uterine fibroids. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2016) 2:16043. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.43 burden on the patients. Therefore, some patients still take a chance to choose uncontained morcellation despite knowing the relevant risks; however, the number of patients who make such a choice has reduced significantly. In recent years, Chinese gynecologist have been making continuous efforts to ensure the safety of LM. Furthermore, apart from us, other research groups in China, are also investigating some self-made protective bags during morcellation. However, in general, we are still in the exploratory stage about the containment systems. We believe that the use of containment systems will prevent the risk of tumoral spread caused by power morcellation.

In conclusion, the NMC system is compatible with traditional laparoscopy and can easily comminute fully enclosed fibroids in the abdominal cavity. It is safe, effective, and feasible for the dissemination of tumors under laparoscopy.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of the China-Japan Friendship Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WW, WF, YD, and MX: statistical analysis. BL, JL, DF, HL, HY, and FZ: obtained funding. JL, BL, FZ, HY, QC, CR, and YY: administrative, technical, or material support. WW, JL, and BL: supervision. All authors: critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the China-Japan Friendship Hospital Funds (Nos. 2017-RC-4 and 2019-2-MS-2).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fsurg. 2022.803950/full#supplementary-material

 Vargas MV, Larson KD, Sparks A, Margulies SL, Marfori CQ, Moawad G, et al. Association of operative time with outcomes in minimally invasive and abdominal myomectomy. *Fertil Steril.* (2019) 111:1252–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019. 02.020
- Multinu F, Casarin J, Hanson KT, Angioni S, Mariani A, Habermann EB, et al. Practice patterns and complications of benign hysterectomy following the FDA statement warning against the use of power morcellation. *JAMA Surg.* (2018) 153:e180141. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2018.0141
- Xu X, Lin H, Wright JD, Gross CP, Boscoe FP, Hutchison LM, et al. Association between power morcellation and mortality in women with unexpected uterine cancer undergoing hysterectomy or myomectomy. *J Clin Oncol.* (2019) 37:3412–24. doi: 10.1200/JCO.19.00562
- Pepin K, Cope A, Einarsson JI, Cellini J, Cohen SL. Safety of minimally invasive tissue extraction in myoma management: a systematic review. J Minim Invas Gyn. (2021) 28:619–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2020.09.013
- Hampton T. Use of morcellation to remove fibroids scrutinized at FDA hearings. JAMA. (2014) 312:588. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.10041
- 7. Giuliani E, As Sanie S, Marsh EE. Epidemiology and management of uterine fibroids. *Int J Gynecol Obstetr.* (2020) 149:3–9. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.13102
- Taylan E, Sahin C, Zeybek B, Akdemir A. Contained morcellation: review of current methods and future directions. *Front Surg.* (2017) 4:15. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2017.00015
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Quantitative Assessment of the Prevalence of Unsuspected Uterine Sarcoma in Women Undergoing Treatment of Uterine Fibroids [archived]. Silver Spring (MD): FDA (2014). Available online at: https://www.fda.gov/downloads/MedicalDevices/Safety/AlertsandNotices /UCM393589.pdf (accessed November 5, 2018).
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. UPDATE: The FDA Recommends Performing Contained Morcellation in Women When Laparoscopic Power Morcellation Is Appropriate. Silver Spring, MD: FDA (2020). Available online at: https://www.fda.Gov/medical-devices/safety-communications/ update-fdarecommends-performing-contained-morcellation-womenwhenlaparoscopic-power-morcellation (accessed August 7, 2020).
- Toubia T, Moulder JK, Schiff LD, Clarke-Pearson D, O'Connor SM, Siedhoff MT. Peritoneal washings after power morcellation in laparoscopic myomectomy: a pilot study. J Minim Invas Gyn. (2016) 23:578–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2016.02.001
- Cohen SL, Morris SN, Brown DN, Greenberg JA, Walsh BW, Gargiulo AR, et al. Contained tissue extraction using power morcellation: prospective evaluation of leakage parameters. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2016) 214:251–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2015.08.076
- Lambat ES, Pluchino N, Petignat P, Tille JC, Pache JC, Pinto J, et al. Cell spillage after contained electromechanical morcellation using a specially designed In-Bag system for laparoscopic myomectomy: prospective cohort pilot study. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. (2019) 26:1351–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2019.01.014
- ACOG Committee Opinion No. 770 summary: uterine morcellation for presumed leiomyomas. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2019) 133:604–5. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000003127
- Venturella R, Rocca ML, Lico D, La Ferrera N, Cirillo R, Gizzo S, et al. In-bag manual vs. uncontained power morcellation for laparoscopic myomectomy: randomized controlled trial. *Fertil Steril.* (2016) 105:1369–76. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.12.133
- Shi Y, Jin J, Qiu W, Weng Y, Wang J, Zhao S, et al. Short-term outcomes after Robot-Assisted vs open pancreaticoduodenectomy after the learning curve. *JAMA Surg.* (2020) 155:389. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2020.0021
- Zapardiel I, Boria F, Halaska MJ, De Santiago J. Laparoscopic power morcellation: techniques to avoid tumoral spread. J Minim Invas Gyn. (2021) 28:1442–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2020.09.012
- Clark NV, Cohen SL. Tissue extraction techniques during laparoscopic uterine surgery. J Minim Invas Gyn. (2018) 25:251–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2017.07.030
- Leal MA, Piñera A, De Santiago J, Zapardiel I. Novel technique for contained power morcellation through umbilicus with insufflated bag. *Gynecol Obstet Inves.* (2017) 82:205–7. doi: 10.1159/000449157
- Zhang N, Chen S, Zuo N, Sun T, Yang Q. Laparoscopic myomectomy using self-made retrieval bag to contain tissue extraction. *Fertil Steril.* (2020) 113:679–80. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019.11.012
- Paul PG, Thomas M, Das T, Patil S, Garg R. Contained morcellation for laparoscopic myomectomy within a specially designed bag. *J Minim Invas Gyn.* (2016) 23:257–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2015. 08.004
- 22. Yang J, Song YJ, Na YJ, Kim HG. Two-port myomectomy using bagcontained manual morcellation: a comparison with three-port myomectomy

using power morcellation. Taiwanese J Obstetr Gynecol. (2019) 58:423-7. doi: 10.1016/j.tjog.2019.01.029

- Anapolski M, Panayotopoulos D, Alkatout I, Soltesz S, Mettler L, Schiermeier S, et al. Power morcellation inside a secure endobag: a pilot study. *Minimally Invasive Ther Allied Technol.* (2016) 25:203–9. doi: 10.1080/13645706.2016.1176932
- Desai VB, Guo XM, Xu X. Alterations in surgical technique after FDA statement on power morcellation. Am J Obstet Gynecol. (2015) 212:685–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2015.02.027
- Steller C, Cholkeri-Singh A, Sasaki K, Miller CE. Power morcellation using a contained bag system. J Soc Laparoendosc Surg. (2017) 21:e2016–95. doi: 10.4293/JSLS.2016.00095
- Won YB, Lee HJ, Eoh KJ, Chung YS, Lee YJ, Park SH, et al. In-bag power morcellation technique in single-port laparoscopic myomectomy. *Obstet Gynecol Sci.* (2018) 61:267–73. doi: 10.5468/ogs.2018.61.2.267
- Feghali EJ, Lagana AS, Daccache A, Bitar R, Garzon S, Uccella S, et al. Endobag use in laparoscopic gynecological surgeries: a systematic review. *Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol.* (2021) 1–6. doi: 10.1080/13645706.2021.1982727
- Casarin J, Laganà AS, Pinelli C, Cromi A, Ghezzi F. Minilaparoscopic single-site bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy: a scarless prophylactic procedure. *Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol.* (2020) 1–6. doi: 10.1080/13645706.2020.1790391
- Laganà AS, Garzon S, Gisone B, Casarin J, Ghezzi F. Intraperitoneal ultrasound scan by culdotomy before laparoscopic ovarian resection: a novel approach. *Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol.* (2020) 1–4. doi: 10.1080/13645706.2020.1815063
- Wang C, Yuen L, Lee C, Kay N, Soong Y. A prospective comparison of morcellator and culdotomy for extracting of uterine myomas laparoscopically in nullipara. J Minim Invas Gyn. (2006) 13:463–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2006.05.005
- Zhang J, Zhang J, Dai Y, Zhu L, Lang J, Leng J. Clinical characteristics and management experience of unexpected uterine sarcoma after myomectomy. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet.* (2015) 130:195–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2015.01.009
- Yuk JS, Ji HY, Lee SH, Park YS, Lee JH. Unexpected uterine malignancy in women who have undergone myomectomy. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet.* (2015) 129:270–1. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2014.12.004
- Perri T, Komem DA, Apter S, Inbar Y, Dick-Necula D, Levin G, et al. Spontaneous vs. morcellator-related benign metastasizing leiomyoma-A retrospective study. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*. (2021). doi: 10.1002/ijgo.13830
- 34. La Greca G, Colarossi C, Di Mattia P, Gozzo C, De Zuanni M, Piombino E, et al. Endomyometriosis of the rectum with disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis 8 years after laparoscopic myomectomy: a case report. *Front Surg.* (2021) 8:666147. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2021.666147
- 35. Lang J, Zhang G, Xiang Y, Di W, Li XP, Yang XS. Chinese expert consensus on the implementation of laparoscopic power morcellation of uterine fibroids. *Chin J Pract Gynecol Obstetr.* (2020) 36:626–32. Available online at: https:// www.cnki.com.cn/Article/CJFDTOTAL-ZGSF202007013.htm
- Rosenbaum L, Malina D. N-of-1 policymaking tragedy, trade-offs, and the demise of morcellation. *New Engl J Med.* (2016) 374:986–90. doi: 10.1056/NEJMms1516161

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Wang, Liang, Zhao, Yu, Rong, Feng, Chen, Yang, Li, Feng, Dong, Xue, Liang and Ling. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Single-Port Laparoscopic Surgery for Adnexal Mass Removal During Pregnancy: The Initial Experience of a Single Institute

Ling Han^{1,2}, Qi Wan^{1,2}, Yali Chen^{1,2*} and Ai Zheng^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, West China Second Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, ² Key Laboratory of Birth Defects and Related Diseases of Women and Children, Ministry of Education, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

Objective: Single-port laparoscopy has become a feasible and safe approach for the management of benign adnexal masses during pregnancy. To our knowledge, there are few reports on the feasibility and safety of single-port laparoscopy for adnexal mass removal during pregnancy. Our study reports the use of single-port laparoscopy in adnexal mass removal during pregnancy in our hospital.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rafał Watrowski, University of Freiburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Polat Dursun, Consultant, Ankara, Turkey Antonio Simone Laganà, University of Insubria, Italy

*Correspondence:

Yali Chen Yalichen182@163.com Ai Zheng aizheng716@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetrics and Gynecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 22 October 2021 Accepted: 27 December 2021 Published: 15 February 2022

Citation:

Han L, Wan Q, Chen Y and Zheng A (2022) Single-Port Laparoscopic Surgery for Adnexal Mass Removal During Pregnancy: The Initial Experience of a Single Institute. Front. Med. 8:800180. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.800180 **Methods:** We included 10 cases of single-port laparoscopic surgery for adnexal mass removal during pregnancy in the West China Second University Hospital between January 2017 and March 2020. Median values were found using SPSS20. When the p-value was < 0.05, the median and interquartile range were used. All patients provided informed consent.

Results: The following median values were recorded: surgical time, 112.50 min; blood loss, 25 ml; postoperative hospital stay, 3 days; postoperative pain [visual analog scale (VAS)] at 6 h, 3; and postoperative pain (VAS) at 24 h, 2. Our study reported no postoperative spontaneous abortions. There was one preterm birth.

Conclusion: Single-port laparoscopy appears to be safe for both the mother and the fetus.

Keywords: single-port laparoscopy, adnexal mass, pregnancy, obstetric outcome, ovarian mass

INTRODUCTION

Conventional laparoscopy has been widely used as a gold standard surgical method for adnexal mass removal. It is associated with shorter hospital stays, less operative pain, and fewer intraoperative complications when compared with laparotomy. Between 1:500 and 1:635, women require non-obstetric surgery during pregnancy (1). The most common gynecological non-obstetric surgery is adnexal mass removal, with an incidence rate between 0.1 and 2.4% (2). Single-port laparoscopic surgery (SPLS) has become a feasible and safe approach for the management of benign adnexal masses when compared with conventional laparoscopy (3). With the development of surgical experience in laparoscopic technology, it has been used more in pregnant patients. However, to our knowledge, there are few reports on the feasibility and safety of SPLS used in adnexal mass removal during pregnancy. Given the lack of consensus on adnexal mass treatment

during pregnancy, we aimed to compile evidence regarding the safety and efficacy of SPLS as a treatment. Our study reports the use of SPLS in adnexal mass removal during pregnancy in our hospital.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

We included 10 cases of SPLS for adnexal mass removal during pregnancy in the West China Second University Hospital between January 2017 and March 2020. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) adnexal torsion or rupture was suspected during surgery and (2) the adnexal mass was continually increasing in size during the second trimester of pregnancy and was > 6 cm in diameter.

Operative Techniques

First, we made a 2-3 cm umbilical incision longitudinally. We then inserted the single-port wound retractor into the incision and the port cap was fixed to the wound retractor. The singleport cap contained a gas inlet and four access ports (Kangji Medical). The other laparoscopic instruments were the same as those conventionally used, such as 30° , 10 mm laparoscopes that are placed into the pelvic cavity through the 10 mm port. Then, a pneumoperitoneum was established using CO₂ insufflation of up to 10-15 mmHg, and the abdominal pressure was maintained at around 12 mmHg during surgery. The entire surgical procedure of ovarian cystectomy and suturing of the ovarian tissue within the abdomen was carried out through the single-port. The ovarian tissue was sutured with 2-0 absorbable suture materials, and topical hemostats, such as oxidized cellulose and bipolar hemostat forceps, were used when necessary to reduce the risk of bleeding and to shorten the surgical time if suturing was difficult. Finally, the cyst was retrieved through the umbilical incision and placed in a bag before the umbilical incision was sutured.

Larger adnexal masses were removed using the singleport assisted extracorporeal method. In the single-port assisted extracorporeal method surgical procedure, after puncture and aspiration of the content of the ovarian mass, the cyst was extracted from the abdominal cavity through an umbilical incision. Ovarian cystectomy and suturing of the ovarian tissue were then performed outside of the abdomen (**Figure 1**).

Data Collection and Statistical Analysis

Basic patient data was recorded. This included age, body mass index (BMI), surgical history, parity, method of conception, gestational week, maximum diameter of the ovarian mass, location of the ovarian tumors, and tumor pathology. The perioperative parameters included the diagnosis, such as the cause of the surgery, duration of the surgery, blood loss, postoperative hospital stay, axillary trocar insertion, intraoperative complications such as blood vessel injury, ileus injury, and postoperative complications such as ileus, fever, and wound infection. Postoperative pain was assessed at 6 and 24 h. All patients were contacted to determine the mode of delivery and the gestational week of delivery. Data on the duration of surgery, blood loss, postoperative hospital stay, postoperative pain [visual analog scale (VAS)] at 6 h, and postoperative pain (VAS) at 24 h were analyzed using SPSS20. When the *p*-value was < 0.05, the median and interquartile range were used.

RESULTS

A total of 10 cases of SPLS for adnexal mass removal during pregnancy were included in our study. **Table 1** describes the basic characteristics of the included patients. Three of the ten procedures were performed because of torsion of the ovarian mass. The rest of the procedures were performed because of persistent enlarged ovarian masses which were >6 cm in the second trimester of pregnancy.

Table 2 presents the perioperative data of the patients. The median surgical time was 112.50 min (interquartile range, 88.75, 185). The median blood loss value was 25 ml (interquartile range, 20, 57.5). The median postoperative hospital stay was 3 days (interquartile range, 3, 4). The median postoperative pain score (VAS) at 6 h was 3 (interquartile range, 2, 3). The median postoperative pain score (VAS) at 24 h was 2 (interquartile range, 1.75, 2). The final histological pathology is included in **Table 2**. Mature teratomas accounted for 40% of the included cases. Hemorrhagic corpus luteal cysts were found in 30% of patients. Mucinous cystadenomas accounted for 20% of cases and only one borderline ovarian serous papillary cystadenoma occurred in the study.

Table 3 reports the obstetric outcomes of the patients. Seven patients delivered after a full-term pregnancy. One patient delivered at 34 + 4 gestational weeks, four patients delivered naturally, and six had a cesarean section delivery.



FIGURE 1 | Extracorporeal cystectomy procedure. (A) The intraoperative view shows the enlarged uterus and left ovarian mass. (B) The puncture and aspiration of the contents of the ovarian mass. (C) Cystectomy was performed and sutured extracorporeally. (D) The ovarian tissue was returned to the abdomen.

| Case | Age | BMI | Number of previous surgeries | Maximum diameter of the ovarian cyst(cm) | Parity | Gestational week | Method of conception | Location of the ovarian mass | Postoperative diagnosis |
|---------|-----|------|------------------------------------|---|--------|---------------------|-------------------------|------------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Case 1 | 25 | 20.3 | 0 | 10 | G2P0+1 | 16 + 1 | Natural | Left | Torsion of left ovarian mass |
| Case 2 | 26 | 21.6 | 0 | 8 | G1P0 | 16 + 4 | Natural | Right | Right ovarian mass |
| Case 3 | 31 | 25.7 | 0 | 6 | G2P0+1 | 13 + 2 | Natural | Right | Right ovarian mass |
| Case 4 | 24 | 18.4 | 0 | 10 | G1P0 | 17 + 6 | Natural | Bilateral | Bilateral ovariar mass |
| Case 5 | 33 | 21.5 | 0 | 11 | G2P0+1 | 14 | Natural | Left | Torsion of left ovarian mass |
| Case 6 | 32 | 24.2 | 0 | 10 | G1P0 | 18 | IVF-ET | Bilateral | Bilateral ovariar mass |
| Case 7 | 29 | 20.9 | 0 | 6 | G1P0 | 8+2 | Natural | Right | Right ovarian mass |
| Case 8 | 28 | 21.6 | 0 | 6 | G1P0 | 18 + 2 | Natural | Right | Torsion of right ovarian mass |
| Case 9 | 35 | 24.8 | 0 | 25 | G1P0 | 13 + 2 | Natural | Left | Left ovarian mass |
| Case 10 | 32 | 27.1 | 0 | 12 | G3P1+1 | 15 + 5 | Natural | Right | Right ovarian mass |

TABLE 1 | Demographic characteristics of the patients.

DISCUSSION

In the past, the laparoscopic approach to treat adnexal masses in the second and third trimesters of pregnancy has been discouraged. The main concerns were the risk of uterine perforation when using a Veres needle, the impact of intraabdominal pressure and CO2 on the feto-maternal circulation, longer surgical times compared to laparotomy, and potential harm from the use of monopolar current. Based on these concerns, open surgical techniques have been preferred during pregnancy. Pearl et al. (4) commissioned the guideline for laparoscopy in pregnancy which recommends that (1) End-tidal CO2 (ETCO₂) be used as a surrogate marker for maternal arterial CO₂ monitoring, (2) CO₂ insufflation be performed to 10-15 mmHg, and (3) that the abdominal operating pressure of 12 mmHg be observed to maintain feto-maternal perfusion and optimal utero-placental blood flow. Additionally, bipolar hemostasis has been reported to be safe to use in the course of laparoscopic surgery performed during pregnancy (5). Further studies have since reported maternal and fetal safety using a laparoscopic surgical approach in pregnant patients (5, 6). Laparoscopic surgery in pregnant women has also been associated with faster recovery, shorter hospital stays, and fewer wound infections compared with laparotomy (7). Single-port laparoscopy also has the advantages of conventional laparoscopy without the risk of Veres needle injury and with less postoperative incision pain, shorter hospital stays, and ease of specimen extraction through the umbilical incision (8).

We reported 10 cases of adnexal mass removal during pregnancy using SPLS and the obstetric outcomes for each

patient were optimal. We have also summarized the literature about the single port approach during pregnancy in **Table 4** (8– 16). To our knowledge, only seven studies have reported the use of SPLS for adnexal mass removal during pregnancy (8– 14). Jiang et al. (8) reported 15 cases of cystectomy during pregnancy with no instances of missed abortion or preterm birth. Lee et al. (9) reported 14 women with intrauterine pregnancies who underwent SPLS for adnexal disease during pregnancy with good obstetric outcomes. Takeda et al. (10) reported 29 cases of adnexal mass removal during pregnancy, four of which resulted in preterm birth. Scheib et al., Kim et al., Dursun et al., and Xiao et al. (11–14) detailed two, one, nine, and six case reports, respectively, where SPLS was performed on an adnexal mass during pregnancy, and the obstetric outcomes were also good.

According to the American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology committee (17), performing non-urgent laparoscopic surgery in the second trimester is the best option for adnexal mass removal during pregnancy. In women with persistent masses in pregnancy, the reported malignancy rate is 3.6 to 6.8% and the rate of torsion of adnexal masses during pregnancy is 10% (2). Persistently growing ovarian masses >6 cm in diameter in the second trimester can be considered for removal *via* elective surgery in cases of emergencies and malignancies (17). Diagnostic laparoscopy in the management of adnexal masses during pregnancy is safe unless clinical severity warrants laparotomy or malignancy is strongly suspected (4). In our study, we performed three emergency surgeries and seven elective surgeries.

Chong et al. (18) reported using a single-port assisted extracorporeal approach for the removal of an ovarian cyst that

| Case | Histological pathology | Surgery time (min) | Surgical blood loss (ml) | Postoperative Ancillary Hospitalstay trocar (days) insertion | Ancillary trocar insertion | Intraoperative complication | Postoperative complication | Postoperativepain Postoperativepain (VAS) 6h (VAS) 24h | Postoperativepain (VAS) 24h |
|---------|--|-----------------------|--------------------------------|--|----------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|---|--------------------------------|
| Case 1 | Hemorrhagic corpus luteal cyst | 06 | 30 | m | No | No | No | c | 0 |
| Case 2 | Mature teratoma | 100 | 20 | 4 | No | No | No | - | - |
| Case 3 | Borderline ovarian serous papillary cystadenoma | 185 | 20 | ю | No | No | No | 2 | 7 |
| Case 4 | Mature teratoma | 200 | 80 | ო | One | No | No | Ю | 2 |
| Case 5 | Mature teratoma | 185 | 20 | 9 | One | No | No | 7 | 4 |
| Case 6 | Hemorrhagic corpus luteal cyst | 120 | 100 | ю | No | No | Delayed wound healing | ς | 7 |
| Case 7 | Hemorrhagic corpus luteal cyst | 105 | 30 | 4 | No | No | No | 2 | 2 |
| Case 8 | Mature teratoma | 120 | 10 | ი | No | No | No | c | 0 |
| Case 9 | Mucinous cystadenoma | 83 | 50 | ო | No | No | No | c | 2 |
| Case 10 | Mucinous cystadenoma | 85 | 20 | 4 | No | No | No | 2 | 0 |

| TABLE 3 | Obstetric | outcome | of the | patients |
|---------|-----------|---------|--------|----------|
| IADEL U | Obstethe | outcome | | patiento |

| Case | Gestational age at delivery | Delivery method |
|---------|-----------------------------|-------------------|
| Case 1 | 37 + 6 | Natural labor |
| Case 2 | 40 | Natural labor |
| Case 3 | 39 + 1 | Cesarean delivery |
| Case 4 | 39 | Natural labor |
| Case 5 | 41 | Cesarean delivery |
| Case 6 | 34 + 4 | Natural labor |
| Case 7 | 38 + 3 | Cesarean delivery |
| Case 8 | 40 + 2 | Cesarean delivery |
| Case 9 | 39 | Cesarean delivery |
| Case 10 | 40 + 3 | Cesarean delivery |

measured > 8 cm in diameter on preoperative imaging. Kim et al. (12) first reported the safety of this method in adnexal mass during pregnancy. We adopted a single-port assisted extracorporeal approach for Case 9. The remaining patients underwent single-port laparoscopy. Ancillary trocar insertion was performed in two patients.

A meta-analysis reported by Liu et al. (19) showed that using laparoscopy for ovarian cyst removal is associated with better maternal and obstetric outcomes when compared with laparotomy. Three studies have reported on the safety and feasibility of single-port laparoscopy for adnexal masses when compared to conventional laparoscopy (3, 20, 21). Wang et al., Lee et al. (3, 20) compared the perioperative outcomes of single-port laparoscopy and conventional laparoscopy in adnexal mass removals and reported no difference in the median operation time, the median decreased level of hemoglobin from preoperative to postoperative day, or the median duration of postoperative hospital stay. Furthermore, Yim et al. (21) reported no difference in postoperative pain scores, operative time, perioperative complications, intraoperative blood loss, or duration of hospital stay between single-port laparoscopy and conventional laparoscopy in adnexal disease. However, only two reports have compared the use of single-port laparoscopy for ovarian mass removal during pregnancy with the use of conventional laparoscopy, but they both concluded that the techniques had comparable perioperative surgical and pregnancy outcomes (8, 10). We report a median surgical time of 112.50 min, a median blood loss of 25 ml, a median postoperative hospital stay of 3 days, a median postoperative pain (VAS) score of 3 at 6 h, and a median postoperative pain (VAS) score of 2 at 24 h. These results are similar to those detailed by Liu et al. (19) in their report on the perioperative data of laparoscopy used in adnexal masses during pregnancy. Our study reported no postoperative spontaneous abortions and one preterm birth. SPLS seems to be a safe alternative to conventional laparoscopy in treating patients with adnexal masses that require removal during pregnancy. However, there are still some shortcomings and challenges of SPLS compared to conventional laparoscopy during pregnancy. The ability to maneuver instruments in one port is limited and the enlarged uterus influences the view and

TABLE 2 | Perioperative characteristics of the patients.

| References | Country | Disease during pregnancy | Cases | Surgical complications | Obstetric outcome |
|--------------------|---------|--------------------------|-------|--|--|
| Jiang et al. (8) | China | Acute abdomen | 26 | None | 1 abortion, 4 preterm births (did not mention the gestational age) |
| Lee et al. (9) | Korea | Adnexal surgery | 14 | None | 1 preterm birth ($24 + 5$ week) and 1 abortion |
| Takeda et al. (10) | Japan | Adnexal masses | 29 | None | 4 preterm births (did not mention the gestational age |
| Scheib et al. (11) | USA | Adnexal Masses | 9 | None | 1 Preterm birth (36 weeks) |
| Kim et al. (12) | Korea | Ovarian mass | 1 | None | Not available |
| Dursun et al. (13) | Turkey | Adnexal mass | 2 | None | 1 preterm birth (32 weeks) |
| Xiao et al. (14) | China | Gynecological disease | 13 | None | 4 preterm births (35-36+2 weeks) |
| Koh et al. (15) | Korea | Acute appendicitis | 2 | None | Not available |
| Cho et al. (16) | Korea | Acute appendicitis | 12 | 2 superficial surgical site infections and 1 post-operative ileus. | 1 abortion |

operating space. As a result, the British Society for Gynecological Endoscopy (BSGE) recommends that laparoscopic surgery during pregnancy be performed by advanced laparoscopic surgeons with appropriate training and competencies (4).

There are two possible areas of future improvement for this technique. Minilaparoscopy uses 2-5 mm diameter laparoscopic instruments that can improve the cosmetic outcomes of surgery (22, 23). Minilaparoscopic single-site surgery is a new surgical procedure that combines the advantage of minilaparoscopic and single-site surgery. Casarin et al. (24) reported on this procedure to perform bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy. It is possible that this technique can be applied to the treatment of adnexal mass during pregnancy. In addition, it has been suggested that Endo Bags be used to extract suspected malignant masses to prevent spillage and the chance of spillage is rarely existed (25). In singleport laparoscopy, the cyst can be placed in a bag after cystectomy and retracted through the umbilical incision. However, if the cyst is ruptured during the cystectomy, the spillage cannot be avoided. In this case, the ovarian mass can be placed in the Endo Bag before the cystectomy is performed to reduce the spillage as suggested by Laganà et al. (26).

CONCLUSION

The limitation of our study was the small number of patients included; therefore, we did not compare our findings with those of traditional laparoscopy performed in our hospital. We intend

REFERENCES

- Kort B. Katz VL, Watson WJ. The effect of nonobstetric operation during pregnancy. Surg Gynecol Obstet. (1993) 177:371–6.
- Webb KE, Sakhel K, Chauhan SP, Abuhamad AZ. Adnexal mass during pregnancy: a review. Am J Perinatol. (2015) 32:1010–6. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1549216
- Wang SY, Yin L, Guan XM, Xiao BB, Zhang Y, Delgado A. Single port transumbilical laparoscopic surgery versus conventional laparoscopic surgery for benign adnexal masses: a retrospective study of feasibility

to include more cases and conduct large randomized trials with long-term follow-up in the future. However, based on the data we included, SPLS appears to be safe for the mother and fetus.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the West China Second University Hospital and informed consent was taken from all the patients. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LH and YC were responsible for the conception of the study and manuscript drafting. AZ, QW, and LH contributed to the revision and final approval of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank editors for providing language help.

and safety. Chin Med J. (2016) 129:1305-10. doi: 10.4103/0366-6999.18 2829

- Pearl J, Price R, Richardson W, Fanelli R, Society of American Gastrointestinal Endoscopic Surgeons. Society of American gastrointestinal endoscopic surgeons guidelines for diagnosis, treatment, and use of laparoscopy for surgical problems during pregnancy. *Surg Endosc.* (2011) 25:3479– 92. doi: 10.1007/s00464-011-1928-2
- Ball E, Waters N, Cooper N, Talati C, Mallick R, Rabas S, et al. Evidencebased guideline on laparoscopy in pregnancy: commissioned by the british society for gynaecological endoscopy (BSGE) endorsed by the royal college of

obstetricians & gynaecologists (RCOG). Facts Views Vis Obgyn. (2019) 11:5-25.

- Sedaghat N, Cao AM, Eslick GD, Cox MR. Laparoscopic versus open cholecystectomy in pregnancy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Surg Endosc.* (2017) 31:673–9. doi: 10.1007/s00464-016-5019-2
- Cox TC, Huntington CR, Blair LJ, Prasad T, Lincourt AE, Augenstein VA, et al. Laparoscopic appendectomy and cholecystectomy versus open: a study in 1999 pregnant patients. *Surg Endosc.* (2016) 30:593–602. doi: 10.1007/s00464-015-4244-4
- Jiang D, Yang Y, Zhang X, He F, Wu Y, Niu J, et al. Laparoendoscopic single-site compared with conventional laparoscopic surgery for gynaecological acute abdomen in pregnant women. J Int Med Res. (2021) 49:3000605211053985. doi: 10.1177/03000605211053985
- Lee JH, Lee JR, Jee BC, Suh CS, Kim SH. Safety and feasibility of a single-port laparoscopic adnexal surgery during pregnancy. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. (2013) 20:864–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2013. 06.002
- Takeda A, Imoto S, Nakamura H. Gasless laparoendoscopic single-site surgery for management of adnexal masses during pregnancy. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2014) 180:28–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2014. 06.019
- Scheib SA, Jones HH, Boruta DM, Simpson K, Bedaiwy M, Grumbine FC, et al. Laparoendoscopic single-site surgery for management of adnexal masses in pregnancy: case series. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol.* (2013) 20:701– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2013.02.024
- Kim WC, Kwon YS. Laparoendoscopic single-site surgery for exteriorization and cystectomy of an ovarian tumor during pregnancy. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. (2010) 17:386–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2009.12.024
- Dursun P, Gülümser C, Caglar M, Araz C, Zeyneloglu H, Haberal A. Laparoendoscopic single-site surgery for acute adnexal pathology during pregnancy: preliminary experience. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. (2013) 26:1282-6. doi: 10.3109/14767058.2013.783799
- Xiao J, Fu K, Duan K, Wang J, Sunkara S, Guan X. Pregnancy-preserving laparoendoscopic single-site surgery for gynecologic disease: a case series. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol.* (2020) 27:1588–97. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2020. 02.009
- Koh AR, Lee JH, Choi JS, Eom JM, Hong JH. Single-port laparoscopic appendectomy during pregnancy. *Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech.* (2012) 22:e83–6. doi: 10.1097/SLE.0b013e31824444a9
- Cho IS, Bae SU, Jeong WK. Single-port laparoscopic appendectomy for acute appendicitis during pregnancy. J Minim Access Surg. (2021) 17:37– 42. doi: 10.4103/jmas.JMAS_193_19
- Committee Opinion No. 696. American College of obstetricians and gynecologists. nonobstetric surgery during pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2017) 129:777-8. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000002014
- Chong GO, Hong DG, Lee YS. Single-port (OctoPort) assisted extracorporeal ovarian cystectomy for the treatment of large ovarian cysts: compare to conventional laparoscopy and laparotomy. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol.* (2015) 22:45–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2014.06.003

- Liu YX, Zhang Y, Huang JF, Wang L. Meta-analysis comparing the safety of laparoscopic and open surgical approaches for suspected adnexal mass during the second trimester. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet.* (2017) 136:272– 9. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.12069
- Lee YY, Kim TJ, Kim CJ, Park HS, Choi CH, Lee JW, et al. Single port access laparoscopic adnexal surgery versus conventional laparoscopic adnexal surgery: a comparison of peri-operative outcomes. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2010) 151:181–4. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2010.03.010
- Yim GW, Lee M, Nam EJ, Kim S, Kim YT, Kim SW. Is single-port access laparoscopy less painful than conventional laparoscopy for adnexal surgery? a comparison of postoperative pain and surgical outcomes. *Surg Innov.* (2013) 20:46–54. doi: 10.1177/1553350612439632
- Gencdal S, Aydogmus H, Aydogmus S, Kolsuz Z, Kelekci S. Mini-Laparoscopic versus conventional laparoscopic surgery for benign adnexal masses. J Clin Med Res. (2017) 9:613–7. doi: 10.14740/jocmr3060w
- Laganà AS, Garzon S, D'Alterio MN, Noventa M, Stabile G, Naem A, et al. Mini-laparoscopy or single-site robotic surgery in gynecology? let's think out of the box. J Invest Surg. (2020) 35:440–1. doi: 10.1080/08941939.2020.1857480
- Casarin J, Laganà AS, Pinelli C, Cromi A, Ghezzi F. Minilaparoscopic single-site bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy: a scarless prophylactic procedure. *Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol.* (2020) 16:1– 6. doi: 10.1080/13645706.2020.1790391
- Feghali EJ, Laganà AS, Daccache A, Bitar R, Garzon S, Uccella S, et al. Endobag use in laparoscopic gynecological surgeries: a systematic review. *Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol.* (2021) 3:1–6. doi: 10.1080/13645706.2021.1982727
- Laganà AS, Garzon S, Gisone B, Casarin J, Ghezzi F. Intraperitoneal ultrasound scan by culdotomy before laparoscopic ovarian resection: a novel approach. *Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol.* (2020) 9:1– 4. doi: 10.1080/13645706.2020.1815063

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Han, Wan, Chen and Zheng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Left External Iliac Vein Injury During Laparoscopic Pelvic Lymphadenectomy for Early-Stage Ovarian Cancer: Our Experience and Review of Literature

Raffaele Tinelli^{1*}, Miriam Dellino², Luigi Nappi³, Felice Sorrentino³, Maurizio Nicola D'Alterio⁴, Stefano Angioni⁴, Giorgio Bogani⁵, Salvatore Pisconti⁶, Stefano Uccella⁷ and Erica Silvestris²

¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, "Valle d'Itria" Hospital, Martina Franca, Taranto, Italy, ² Department of Gynecology Oncology, "Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS) Giovanni Paolo II", Bari, Italy, ³ Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, Institute of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Foggia, Foggia, Italy, ⁴ Department of Surgical Science, Cittadella Universitaria Blocco I, Asse Didattico Medicina P2, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy, ⁵ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University Medical School "La Sapienza", Rome, Italy, ⁶ Department of Medical Oncology, National Oncology Institute "Moscati", Taranto, Italy, ⁷ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Integrata Verona, Verona, Italy

Laparoscopic surgical staging is the standard treatment of early-stage ovarian tumors with similar survival outcomes if compared with laparotomic procedures. In this article, we report a case regarding an incidental external iliac vein injury during a pelvic lymphadenectomy for fertility sparing treatment of early-stage ovarian cancer with a video showing the laparoscopic repair without any consequence or side effect. A 36 year-old obese woman with Body Mass Index 30 kg/m² referred at our hospital with an histological diagnosis of high grade ovarian serous carcinoma after a left laparoscopic salpingooophorectomy performed in another hospital. After an hysteroscopy with endometrial biopsy, a laparoscopic surgical staging with a pelvic and aortic lymphadenectomy with lymph-node dissection until the left renal vein, omentectomy, and appendectomy were performed. A thermal injury to the left external iliac vein occurred using the bipolar forceps during lymphadenectomy and was repaired after an immediate clamping of the site using endoclinch and the suction irrigator probe. The laceration on the iliac vein was successfully repaired using 10 mm laparoscopic titanium clips; after a follow-up of 42 months no recurrence was detected. In conclusion, laparoscopy is a safe and effective therapeutic option for fertility sparing treatment patients with early stage ovarian carcinoma with a significantly low morbidity and postoperative hospitalization, but it should be reserved for oncologic surgeons trained in advanced laparoscopic procedures and repair of vascular injuries potentially associated with high mortality rate.

Keywords: injury, iliac vein, laparoscopy, lymphadenectomy, repair, ovarian cancer

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rafał Watrowski, University of Freiburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Luigi Turco, Mater Olbia Hospital, Italy Francesco Cosentino, University of Molise, Italy Antonino Ditto, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori di Milano, Italy

> *Correspondence: Raffaele Tinelli raffaeletinelli@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetrics and Gynecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Surgery

Received: 26 December 2021 Accepted: 31 January 2022 Published: 09 March 2022

Citation:

Tinelli R, Dellino M, Nappi L, Sorrentino F, D'Alterio MN, Angioni S, Bogani G, Pisconti S, Uccella S and Silvestris E (2022) Left External Iliac Vein Injury During Laparoscopic Pelvic Lymphadenectomy for Early-Stage Ovarian Cancer: Our Experience and Review of Literature. Front. Surg. 9:843641. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2022.843641

INTRODUCTION

Vascular interventions are frequently performed during gynecological oncological procedures for injury of pelvic blood vessels. Vascular repairs during gynecologic procedures are associated with an high morbidity and mortality and are associated to intraoperative vascular injury (1, 2).

Pelvic and aortic lymphadenectomy have a prognostic and therapeutic significance and are often performed during gynecological oncological procedures (1–3) operating in proximity to multiple vascular structures.

In a recent prospective study Uccella et al. (2) assessed safety and feasibility of the sentinel lymph node (SLN) technique with indocyanine green to identify the presence of lymph node metastases in patients with early stage epithelial ovarian cancer, although they observed that the detection of SLN in early epithelial ovarian cancer is low when patients are submitted to delayed-staging surgery. However, they concluded that SLN procedure is safe and feasible and has the potential to provide reliable and useful information on lymph nodal status in the majority of patients with a lower morbidity and hospitalization.

Given the high mortality associated with vascular repairs, strategies for increasing the availability of gynecological surgeons trained in vascular surgery should be adopted (2).

These complications mostly involve iliac veins (2, 3) for their anatomical variability and a deep positions with risks of serious intraoperative hemorrhage of about 2.21–4.44% (4–6).

In this article, we report a case regarding an incidental external iliac vein injury during a pelvic lymphadenectomy for fertility sparing treatment of early-stage ovarian cancer with a video showing the laparoscopic repair performed without any consequence or side effect.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A 36 year-old obese woman with Body Mass Index 30 kg/m² referred at our hospital with an histological diagnosis of high grade ovarian serous carcinoma after a left laparoscopic salpingo-oophorectomy performed in another hospital.

After an hysteroscopy with endometrial biopsy, a laparoscopic surgical staging with pelvic and aortic lymph-node dissection until the left renal vein, omentectomy and appendectomy was performed.

The pelvic lymphadenectomy started developing the right paravesical and pararectal spaces. The round ligament was coagulated and transected and the peritoneal layers of the broad ligament were opened.

Dissection of the paravesical space was completed by introducing the endoclinch and the bipolar forceps (BiClamp, 210 ERBE VIO System, Tübingen, Germany) in the space laterally to the internal iliac artery (obliterated umbilical artery) and external and common iliac lymph nodes were removed.

The obturator nerve and vessels were isolated and skeletonized and, finally, superficial, and deep obturator lymph nodes were dissected and removed.

During the left pelvic lymphadenectomy, a thermal injury at the medial surface of the left external iliac vein occurred using the bipolar forceps (**Figure 1**).

After an immediate clamping of the injury site using the endoclinch and the suction irrigator probe, the insufflation pressure was increased to 20 mm Hg to reduce bleeding (1, 2). After obtaining a better view by insinuating the suction irrigator probe and drawing the blood, we decided to try a laparoscopic management of the complication.

All the procedures for unexpected surgical vascular injury were activated: after releasing the tension of the Endoclinch the entity and the site of vascular lesion were recognized and detected.

The laceration on the left external iliac vein was successfully repaired using 10 mm laparoscopic titanium clips and the operative time for the left external iliac vein repair was 3 min.

Laparoscopic vessel repair was performed successfully without intracorporeal suture; to prevent thromboembolism, intravenous heparin was administered during the surgical procedure.

The patient was regularly discharged 4 days after laparoscopic procedure without blood transfusion with an hemoglobin value that was 11 g/dL.

Low molecular-weight heparin 4,000 U subcutaneously once daily was administered during hospitalization. No sign of thromboembolism was detected; no metastases were detected by intraoperative and definitive pathologic examination; after a follow-up of 42 months no recurrence was detected.

DISCUSSION

Vascular injuries can occur at entry during gynecological oncological procedures using a Veress needle or at the introduction of trocars and surgeons may suspect these damages when there is any evidence of bleeding or hematoma that cannot be explained (7).

External iliac vessel injury at the beginning of a laparoscopy is frequently due to the position of the aorta and vena cava near the umbilicus; frequently, this risk is highest in thinner patients due to the proximity of the vessels to the skin (1, 2).

Although data from randomized controlled trials has shown that laparoscopic hysterectomy results in reduced operative morbidity, shorter hospital stays, and similar oncologic outcomes when compared with laparotomy, this approach may be unsuccessful in patients with obesity because of technical challenges, limited anatomical exposure due to fat deposits around iliac vessels during lymphadenectomy, and cardiopulmonary compromise while in the Trendelenburg position (3, 4).

Vascular damages in gynecology are rare (0.2/1,000) but are associated with a 6–13% of mortality.

The most frequent sites of hemorrhage are iliac vessels, inferior vena cava, and abdominal aorta.

Frequently, electrosurgery during laparoscopy may cause vascular trauma and thermal injuries: in fact injury to iliac vessels due to thermal spread are frequently reported during



FIGURE 1 | A thermal injury at the medial surface of the left external iliac vein occurred while using the bipolar forceps during left pelvic lymphadenectomy.

laparoscopic and robotic lymph node dissection and are due to failure of the insulation around the scissors (8).

Managing of these complications includes immediate recognition and localization of the injury because vascular injuries are rare but can be fatal and may require midline laparotomy and vascular surgeons (9).

The vascular iatrogenic repairs during extensive oncologic laparoscopic procedures are increasing in frequency (5–7).

Clinical evaluation of severity of the injury should be immediately done: in cases of damage to the aorta, iliac vessels or IVC (inferior vena cava), a laparotomic repair should be performed.

Injuries to aortic branch like inferior mesenteric artery that is clearly visualized may be repaired laparoscopically. However, in case of aortic branch vessel damage, skeletonization could be difficult and there is a risk of concomitant visceral injury.

Control of the bleeding by applying a direct pressure on the injury site should be considered and it will nearly always suffice.

If the site of hemorrhage cannot be visualized, abdominal packing should be done: in this case a conversion from laparoscopic to open surgery with a midline laparotomy should be considered.

Most vascular injuries will occur in the pelvis and, after pack removal out of the pelvis for definitive management, it is important to determine the extent of injury.

Common iliac artery or distal aorta are best repaired with primary suture by a vascular surgeon. These injury sites should be compressed until a vascular surgeon is available. Repair of internal iliac artery can be performed by sutures and ligaclip because there is a great collateral blood vascularization.

Venous pelvic injuries are the most difficult to manage: in the first instance the bleeding site should be carefully packed and, after a temporarily closing of the abdomen, the patient should be re-operated the next day for pack removal and re-assessment.

If packing alone is not enough and the damage includes the sacral venous plexus, internal iliac vein or collateral veins then hemorrhage occluder pins can be directly applied to the hemorrhage site (8–10).

In a recent report Levin et al. investigated the incidence of vascular injury in patients who underwent open, laparoscopic and vaginal gynecologic surgery.

In their multicenter study including 201,224 surgical procedures they observed that vascular repairs were rare and occurred during laparotomic hysterectomies performed for malignant in patients with chronic anticoagulation, ASA class 3 or class 4 (0.2% of open, 0.04% of minimally invasive, and 0.03% of vaginal operations) (11).

In another multicenter study, of 482 gynecologic laparoscopies for benign or malignant disease performed in a USA center between 1996 and 2000, 1,165 laparoscopic hysterectomies for benign disease in Finland between 1993 and 1994, and 25,764 gynecologic laparoscopies for benign or malignant disease in the Netherlands, a 1.5, 1.2, and 0.25% of vascular injury was observed, respectively (10, 11).

A recent systematic review by King et al. on 1,097 patients reported the rate of vascular injuries during gynecologic

laparoscopic procedures for benign disease. One hundred and seventy-nine vascular injuries were reported with a percentage of 0.09%. The inferior epigastric vessels were the most commonly injured and the majority of injuries occurred during abdominal entry. Most injuries were recognized intraoperatively. Only two of the 179 major vascular injuries resulted in death with a mortality rate of 0.001%.

They concluded that the incidence of major vascular injury during gynecologic laparoscopy is very low, and that laparoscopy is a safe surgical technique if performed for benign gynecologic disease (11–13).

In recent studies regarding patients who underwent laparoscopic gynecologic surgery a correlation between lower BMI and increased injuries rate was observed in thinner patients.

In fact, in patients with lower BMI a shorter distance between the skin and retroperitoneal vessels was observed as well as an increased proximity of the aortic bifurcation to the level of the umbilicus that minimize the safe distance with an higher risk of vascular injury at introduction of the Verses needle and the trocar.

Long-term multicenter studies analyzing the association between vascular injury and morbidity or mortality in gynecologic patients are not available (12, 13).

The feasibility, safety, and efficacy of laparoscopic treatment of gynecologic malignancies has been reported by several articles in the last decades (3, 4) with a lower postoperative morbidity.

In fact, staging procedures including hysterectomy, pelvic and Para aortic lymph-node dissection, omentectomy, and peritoneal biopsy are actually completed by laparoscopy (14, 15).

In our study, the hemorrhage was controlled with endoscopic clips applied distally and proximally to the lesion, with the clip applier/remover (Aesculap, Braun, Germany) introduced into the abdomen through the surgeon trocar.

In fact, endoscopic clips are safe and effective therapeutic tools that ensure a great control of hemorrhage.

Laparoscopic treatment of vascular injuries is an effective and safe procedure: to better control the hemorrhage we suggest using immediately, in case of vascular injury, the endoclinch forceps applied directly to the lesion and to isolate the vessel that have to be repaired (16–18).

In selected cases before removing the endoclinch forceps, a laparoscopic bulldog clamp can be placed proximally, and another clamp should be used distally for a better repair and an improved suture.

During last decades several articles confirmed the role of laparoscopic and robotic pelvic lymphadenectomy in the treatment of gynecologic cancers (18, 19).

Current guidelines for complete surgical staging in earlystage ovarian cancer recommend systematic lumbo-aortic and pelvic lymphadenectomy, despite their controversial therapeutic value. Sentinel lymph node (SLN) detection with indocyanine green in early ovarian cancer is a feasible technique and could provide useful information on nodal status, avoiding future lymphadenectomy in the majority of patients. SLN biopsy in ovarian cancer is not yet the standard approach, and is currently under investigation. A recent report by Turco et al. confirmed the feasibility of laparotomy approach for SLN detection in voluminous ovarian cancer (6), although a recent prospective study by Uccella et al. observed that the detection of SLN in early epithelial ovarian cancer is low when patients are submitted to delayed-staging surgery but SLN procedure could avoid systematic lymphadenectomy in the majority of patients (2, 6).

However, strategies for increasing the availability of gynecological surgeons trained in vascular surgery should be adopted (4, 5, 20, 21).

In conclusion, laparoscopy is a safe and effective procedure for treatment of fertility sparing treatment patients with early stage ovarian carcinoma with a lower morbidity and hospital stay and a reported pelvic vessel injury rate during pelvic lymphadenectomy of about 1%.

Repair of this complications should be reserved for gynecologic surgeons trained in advanced laparoscopic procedures and repair of vascular damages potentially associated with an high mortality rate.

Strategies for prevention and treatment, including continuous training on this gynecological emergency situation should be adopted to increase the availability of gynecologic surgeons trained in vascular surgery.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RT, LN, MiD, ES, and FS were a major contributor in writing the manuscript. SA, MaD, SP, SU, and GB were in charge of the final approval of the version to be published. RT performed the surgery. All authors analyzed, interpreted the patient data according to the histological examination and the literature review, and read and approved the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the Department of Pathology at "Valle d'Itria" Hospital for assistance with pathological diagnosis.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fsurg. 2022.843641/full#supplementary-material

A video reported an incidental external iliac vein injury during a pelvic lymphadenectomy for early-stage ovarian cancer that was laparoscopically repaired without any problem.

REFERENCES

- Eslami MH, Saadeddin ZM, Rybin DV, Avgerinos ED, Eslami PW, Siracuse JJ, et al. Trends and outcomes of pediatric vascular injuries in the United States: an analysis of the National Trauma Data Bank. *Ann Vasc Surg.* (2019) 56:52–61. doi: 10.1016/j.avsg.2018.09.006
- Uccella S, Nero C, Vizza E, Vargiu V, Corrado G, Bizarri N, et al. Sentinel-node biopsy in early-stage ovarian cancer: preliminary results of a prospective multicentre study (SELLY). *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2019) 221:324.e1-e10. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2019.05.005
- Uccella S, Bonzini M, Malzoni M, Fanfani F, Palomba S. The effect of a uterine manipulator on the recurrence and mortality of endometrial cancer: a multicentric study by the Italian Society of Gynecological Endoscopy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2017) 216:592–4. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2017.01.027
- Tinelli R, Litta P, Meir Y, Surico D, Leo L, Fusco A, et al. Advantages of laparoscopy versus laparotomy in extremely obese women (BMI>35) with early-stage endometrial cancer: a multicenter study. *Anticancer Res.* (2014) 34:2497–502.
- Tinelli R, Stomati M, Trojano G, Uccella S, Cosentino F, Cicinelli E, et al. Laparoscopic treatment of ovarian granulosa cells tumor developed in the pelvic anterior preperitoneal space 20 years after laparotomic salpingooophorectomy: case report and review of literature. *Gynecol Endocrinol.* (2020) 3:1–3. doi: 10.1080/09513590.2020.1716329
- Turco LC, Vargiu V, Nero C, Fagotti A, Scambia G, Cosentino F. Laparotomy approach to sentinel lymph node detection in ovarian cancer using a near-infrared fluorescent system camera with indocyanine green dye. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. (2020) 30:712–3. doi: 10.1136/ijgc-201 9-001110
- Soulié M, Salomon L, Seguin P, Mervant C, Mouly P, Hoznek A, et al. Multi-institutional study of complications in1085 laparoscopic urologic procedures. Urology. (2001) 58:899–903. doi: 10.1016/s0090-4295(01) 01425-x
- Turco LC, Ferrandina G, Vargiu V, Cappuccio S, Fagotti A, Sallustio G, et al. Extreme complications related to bevacizumab use in the treatment of ovarian cancer: a case series from a III level referral centre and review of the literature. *Ann Transl Med.* (2020) 8:1687. doi: 10.21037/atm-20-4448
- Johnson CE, Manzur MF, Wilson TA, Weaver FA. The financial value of vascular surgeons as operative consultants to other surgical specialties. J Vasc Surg. (2018) 67:e31. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2017.11.018
- Asfour V, Smythe E, Attia R. Vascular injury at laparoscopy: a guide to management. J Obstet Gynaecol. (2018) 38:598– 606. doi: 10.1080/01443615.2017.1410120
- Tomita TM, Rodriguez HE, Hoel AW, Ho KJ, Pearce WH, Eskandari MK. Implications of intraoperative vascular surgery assistance for hospitals and vascular surgery trainees. *JAMA Surg.* (2016) 151:1032–8. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2016.2247
- Levin SR, de Geus SWL, Noel NL, Paasche-Orlow MK, Farber A, Siracuse J. Vascular repairs in gynecologic operations are uncommon but predict major morbidity and mortality. J Vasc Surg. (2020) 72:1059– 66.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2019.11.036
- Jansen FW, Kapiteyn K, Trimbos-Kemper T, Hermans J, Trimbos JB. Complications of laparoscopy: a prospective multicentre

observational study. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. (1997) 104:595–600. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1997.tb11539.x

- King NR, Lin E, Yeh C, Wong JMK, Friedman J, Traylor J, et al. Laparoscopic major vascular injuries in gynecologic surgery for benign indications: a systematic review. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2021) 137:434– 42. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000004280
- Afifi Y, Raza A, Balogun M, Khan KS, Holders R. New nomogram for safe laparoscopic entry to reduce vascular injury. J Obstet Gynaecol. (2011) 31:69–72. doi: 10.3109/01443615.2010.529517
- Tinelli R, Malzoni M, Cicinelli E, Fiaccavento A, Zaccoletti R, Barbieri F, et al. Is early stage endometrial cancer safely treated by laparoscopy? Complications of a multicenter study and review of recent literature. *Surg Oncol.* (2011) 20:80–7. doi: 10.1016/j.suronc.2009.11.002
- Chiantera V, Erdemoglu E, Vercellino G, Straube M, Schneider A. Laparoscopic management of external iliac artery injury using yasargil clamps and intracorporeal suture. *J Minimal Invasive Gynecol.* (2011) 18:516– 51. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2011.03.005
- Tinelli R, Uccella S, Nappi L, D'Amato G, Cicinelli E, Angioni S. Obturator nerve injury in a chemo and radio-resistant patient with a locally-advanced cervical cancer after two previous uterine artery embolizations for severe vaginal bleeding: case report and review of literature. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2020) 252:355–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2020.07.002
- Cianci S, Rosati A, Vargiu V, Capozzi VA, Sozzi G, Gioè A, et al. Sentinel lymph node in aged endometrial cancer patients "The SAGE Study": a multicenter experience. *Front Oncol.* (2021) 11:737096 doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.737096
- Malzoni M, Tinelli R, Cosentino F, Fusco A, Malzoni C. Total laparoscopic radical hysterectomy versus abdominal radical hysterectomy with lymphadenectomy in patients with early cervical cancer: our experience. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2009) 16:1316–23. doi: 10.1245/s10434-009-0342-7
- Cosentino F, Turco LC, Fagotti A, Cianci S, Gallotta V, Rosati A, et al. Arterialenteric fistula after pelvic lymphadenectomy in secondary cytoreductive surgery for recurrent ovarian cancer. J Obstet Gynaecol. (2019) 39:1049– 56. doi: 10.1080/01443615.2019.1586856

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Tinelli, Dellino, Nappi, Sorrentino, D'Alterio, Angioni, Bogani, Pisconti, Uccella and Silvestris. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Treatment of Placenta Increta With High-Intensity Focused Ultrasound Ablation and Leaving the Placenta *in situ*: A Multicenter Comparative Study

Xiaoping Guan^{1,2,3}, Xiaoqin Huang³, Min Ye³, Guohua Huang⁴, Xiao Xiao⁵ and Jinyun Chen^{1,2,5*}

¹ State Key Laboratory of Ultrasound in Medicine and Engineering, College of Biomedical Engineering, Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China, ² Chongqing Key Laboratory of Biomedical Engineering, Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China, ³ Department of Gynecology, Neijiang First People's Hospital, Neijiang, China, ⁴ Department of Gynecology, Suining Central Hospital, Suining, China, ⁵ Department of Gynecology, Chongqing Haifu Hospital, Chongqing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rafał Watrowski, University of Freiburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Nguyen Minh Duc, Pham Ngoc Thach University of Medicine, Vietnam Alessandro Favilli, University of Perugia, Italy

*Correspondence:

Jinyun Chen chenjy@cqmu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetrics and Gynecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 08 February 2022 Accepted: 10 March 2022 Published: 07 April 2022

Citation:

Guan X, Huang X, Ye M, Huang G, Xiao X and Chen J (2022) Treatment of Placenta Increta With High-Intensity Focused Ultrasound Ablation and Leaving the Placenta in situ: A Multicenter Comparative Study. Front. Med. 9:871528. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.871528 **Objective:** To explore the feasibility of simple high-intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU) ablation for placenta increta.

Methods: Ninety-five patients after a vaginal delivery were enrolled in this retrospective cohort study, 53 patients were treated with simple HIFU ablation, and 42 patients were treated with HIFU followed by uterine curettage.

Results: All 95 patients were successfully treated with a single-session HIFU procedure, and in the control group, the necrotic placental tissue was removed with curettage. Vaginal hemorrhage did not occur in either group. The duration of bloody lochia was 25.9 ± 8.6 days in the sHIFU group and 24.2 ± 8.8 days in the control group (P > 0.05). The median serum human chorionic gonadotropin (HCG) level was 3,222 mIU/mL and 2,838 mIU/mL in the sHIFU and control groups, respectively, which decreased and returned to normal within 30 days, and the differences were not significantly on comparing the blood HCG level in the two groups at 7, 15, and 30 days after HIFU (all P > 0.05). Decreased menstrual volume occurred in 85.71% of patients in the control group, which was higher than that in the sHIFU group (23.08%) ($\chi^2 = 6.839$, P < 0.001). During 2–8 years of follow-up, six pregnancies occurred in the control group, and one patient developed a repeat placenta increta.

Conclusion: Simple HIFU treatment is safe and effective for postpartum placenta increta and leaving the placenta *in situ*. It is a promising option for patients who wish to preserve their fertility and conceive.

Keywords: placenta increta, high-intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU), focused ultrasound therapy, leaving the placenta *in situ*, placenta accreta spectrum, abnormally invasive placentation

48

INTRODUCTION

Placenta accreta spectrum (PAS) refers to the range of pathologic adherence of the placenta, including placenta increta, placenta percreta, and placenta accreta (1). Placenta increta is defined as invasion of the placenta into the myometrium, but not beyond (2). Abnormally invasive placentation (AIP) is observed clinically when the placenta cannot be separated from the uterus (3). The MRI features considered indicative of invasive placenta previa are as follows (4-6): (1) myometrial thinning: the myometrium thins and the typical trilaminar appearance is undetectable; (2) interrupted myometrium: the myometrium is interrupted abruptly at the site of focal placenta bulging; and (3) loss of the placental-myometrial interface: the thin hypointense layer between the placenta and myometrium disappears. When an abnormally invasive placenta develops, the placenta may not be completely separated from the uterus at the time of delivery, resulting in potentially life-threatening massive intrapartum or postpartum hemorrhage and associated morbidities, such as multisystem organ failure, disseminated intravascular coagulation, and even death (2).

Leaving the placenta *in situ* after delivery of the fetus has been utilized as a treatment option in multiple studies, but it is generally used in conjunction with other conservative modalities (2). The recent International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) consensus guidelines have recommended "leaving the placenta *in situ*" as a suitable option with close follow-up in hospitals with adequate expertise (7). Infection and hemorrhage and reoperative interventions are associated with high morbidity rates during observation and can even be lifethreatening for the mother. Therefore, if the placental blood supply can be blocked in the clinical strategy of "leaving the placenta *in situ*," it may be an effective idea to reduce the maternal morbidity. The 2018 FIGO placenta accreta disease guidelines clearly indicate the advantages of high-intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU) for the treatment of PAS (7).

High-intensity focused ultrasound is an in vitro low-intensity ultrasound focused on the target area in vivo, which forms a high-energy density focal point and causes rapid heating of the tissue in the focal area and coagulative necrosis of the target area within a short period of time, and thus, it achieves the purpose of treating the disease. At present, HIFU has been widely used in clinical practice to block the blood supply of uterine fibroids to induce coagulative necrosis. In a study including 12 patients with PAS after vaginal delivery treated with HIFU, one case could clear off the coagulated necrotic placental tissue and the remaining patients had a mean time to residual placental degeneration of 36.9 days. HIFU treatment did not increase the risk of infection or bleeding, and none of the patients required hysterectomy (8). However, there is still a lack of clinical evidence on whether placenta increta can be treated with HIFU ablation alone and leaving the placenta in situ. The aim of this study was to confirm the feasibility, safety, and efficacy of HIFU treatment alone in the treatment of placenta increta by a combined comparative study of HIFU treatment alone and HIFU treatment followed by curettage.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

From 2013 to 2020, 95 women with postpartum placenta increta were treated in the First People's Hospital of Neijiang City, Suining Central Hospital and Chongqing Haifu Hospital, and were enrolled in this retrospective cohort study. Inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) vaginal delivery, incomplete delivery of the placenta, and close adhesion of the placenta to the uterine muscle wall that could not be detached on palpation during freehand placenta removal. (2) Vital signs were stable and there were no signs of active hemorrhage. (3) The diagnosis of placenta increta was confirmed by MRI. (4) Intention to be treated with HIFU and signature on the written informed consent form. Exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) penetrating placenta increta; (2) occurrence of major bleeding (bleeding volume \geq 500 mL); (3) residual placenta is large and extends to cervix or vagina; (4) current infection with body temperature >38.5°C. The study was approved by the ethics committee of the hospital (IRB approval number: 2020027). The Chinese Clinical Trial Registry (a nonprofit organization, established according to both the WHO International Clinical Trials Register Platform Standard and the Ottawa Group Standard) provided full approval for the study protocol, recruitment materials, and consent form (Registration No. ChiCTR2200056055).1

High-Intensity Focused Ultrasound Ablation

Ultrasound-guided HIFU was performed using a Focused Ultrasound Tumor Therapeutic System (Model-JC200, Chongqing Haifu Medical Technology Co., Ltd., Chongqing, China). The procedure of HIFU ablation has also been described in a previous publication (7). In summary, all patients were asked to consume only liquid food for 1 day, followed by a 6-h fasting period. An enema was performed on the morning of the treatment day. The hair on the abdominal wall from the umbilicus to the level of the upper margin of the pubic symphysis was shaved and degreased using 75% ethanol solution. The patient was positioned prone on the treatment table of the HIFU system with the abdominal wall in contact with degassed water over the transducer. The treatment plan was created automatically under ultrasonography guidance: the residual placenta increta was divided into slices of a thickness of 5 mm, acoustic power of 350-400 W was used, and HIFU treatment was terminated when guided ultrasonography showed a grayscale increase change in the target tissue or the signal of blood flow to the placental tissues disappeared. Contrast-enhanced ultrasound was also used to evaluate blood perfusion in the placental tissues (Supplementary Material). Patients were given low doses of fentanyl citrate injection (first 1 μ g/kg) and midazolam (first 0.03 mg/kg, total combined dose ≤0.15 mg/kg) via the intravenous (IV) route during the procedure. The patient's response was observed while the sonication was being performed, so that the patient was at the sedation level 3-4 Ramsay scale.

¹www.chictr.org.cn

Non-perfused Volume rate (NPVR) was measured on enhanced MRI after HIFU treatment. Monitoring and evaluation images are shown in **Figure 1**.

Management After High-Intensity Focused Ultrasound

After HIFU treatment, patients were informed about two management options. Allowing the placenta to be kept *in situ* to wait for absorption and expulsion, or curettage with removal of necrotic lesions after HIFU ablation and possible reduction of the postoperative observation time, but there was a risk of uterine perforation and hemorrhage. Patients who voluntarily chose to undergo curettage served as the control group. Curettage was performed by a team of experienced gynecologists from each hospital under ultrasound imaging guidance within 5 days after the HIFU procedure.

Follow-Up

Serum human chorionic gonadotropin (HCG) levels were rechecked on day 7, day 15, and day 30 after HIFU until return of normal levels. The time and volume of vaginal bleeding, the time and menstrual volume, and pregnancy achievement were assessed by a telephone interview.

Statistical Methods

The statistical software SPSS 26.0 was used for statistical description. The categorical variables were expressed as frequencies and percentages, and continuous variables were expressed as medians (interquartile range, IQR). The intergroup comparison of the count data was performed by the Chi-square test or Fisher's exact probability method. The Mann–Whitney U test was used for comparison of the measurement data between groups. Generalized estimating equations were used for intergroup comparisons of repeated measures at a test level of 0.05. Differences were considered statistically significant at P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Ninety-five patients were enrolled in this study. There were 53 patients in the sHIFU group; the median age was 29.0 years (IQR: 24.0-32.0 years); 12 women were primipara, 41 had a history of delivery and 21 cases underwent cesarean section; 32 females delivered at 28 weeks or more; the implanted placenta size (longest diameter) was 6.0 cm (IQR: 4.0-7.0 cm) and the area was 15.1 cm² (IQR: 9.6–26.3 cm²) (longest diameter \times vertical diameter of the longest diameter), and the placenta increta depth was 4.0 cm (IQR: 2.6-4.5 cm). In the control group, there were 42 patients, the median age was 28.0 years (IQR: 25.0-32.0 years); 5 women were primipara and 37 were multiparas, including 23 cases that underwent cesarean section; 18 females delivered at 28 weeks or more; the implanted placenta size was 7.0 cm (IQR: 5.2-9.0 cm) and the area was 31.3 cm² (IQR: 15.8-51.8 cm²), and the placenta increta depth was 4.5 cm (IQR: 3.6-4.9 cm). Details are presented in Table 1.

Results of High-Intensity Focused Ultrasound Treatment

All 53 patients in the sHIFU group and 42 patients in the control group completed HIFU treatment as per the treatment plan, and all patients appeared to have a non-perfused area within the implanted placenta, as shown in **Figure 2**. Patients complained of discomfort, such as pain and abdominal distension in the sacrococcygeal region and treatment area during HIFU treatment, which was tolerable. No complications, such as skin burns and lower limb paralysis, occurred after treatment. The median power of HIFU treatment was 400.0 W (IQR: 395.0–400.0 W), treatment time was 70.0 min (IQR: 59.0–92.2 min), and sonication time was 700.0 s (IQR: 550.0–950.0 s). The median NPVR of the implanted placenta was 83.0% (IQR: 75.0–87.0%) in the sHIFU group and 81.0% (IQR: 74.8–88.3%) in the control group, and the difference between the two groups was not significant (*Z* = 0.098, *P* = 0.922).

Tissue Expulsion and Vaginal Bleeding After Treatment

Forty-two patients were treated with curettage 1–5 days after HIFU, and necrotic tissue was expelled in 100% of the cases without any complications, such as uterine perforation. All 53 cases in the sHIFU group discharged necrotic tissues, while 41 cases in the control group experienced intermittent discharge of necrotic tissues after the curettage procedure. None of these 95 patients developed heavy bleeding after treatment, and only a few cases have a small volume of old blood vaginal discharge. The duration of bloody lochia was 24.0 days (IQR: 19.0–31.0 days) in the sHIFU group and 25.0 days (IQR: 16.0–31.0 days) in the control group, with no significant difference between the two groups (Z = 0.803, P = 0.422).

Changes in Serum Human Chorionic Gonadotropin After Treatment

Serum HCG levels decreased sharply after treatment in both groups, and serum HCG levels in both groups returned to normal within 30 days after treatment. There was no statistically significant difference between the HCG level in the sHIFU group and the control group at 7, 15, and 30 days postoperatively (P > 0.05), as listed in **Table 2**. The "interaction of grouping factors and time" was also not statistically significant (P > 0.05); i.e., there was no difference in the time trend of serum HCG between the two groups, as shown in **Table 2**.

Menstrual Resumption and Pregnancy Achievement

After HIFU treatment, menstruation resumed within 3 months in all 95 patients, and it took 62.0 days (IQR: 54.0–72.0 days) in the sHIFU group and 70.0 days (IQR: 6,254.0–82.0 days) in the control group; there was a significant difference between the two groups (Z = 2.685, P = 0.007). A total of 85.7% of patients in the control group experienced reduced menstrual volume, which was significantly higher than that in the sHIFU group (23.1%), with a significant difference ($\chi^2 = 6.839$, P = 0.000).



FIGURE 1 | Ultrasound and MR images of a 32-year-old patient with placenta increta. (A) Before HIFU ablation, monitoring ultrasound showed placenta invasion on the fundus-posterior wall of the uterus, about 50.5 × 44.3 mm, with thin myometrium surrounding; (B) during the procedure of HIFU ablation, the monitoring images showed that the target area was clumped with enhanced echo; (C) color Doppler flow imaging showed abundant blood flow signals both in the lesion and surrounding before HIFU ablation; (D) color Doppler flow imaging showed that the grayscale increased in the lesion and no blood flow signal was observed, also peripheral blood flow signal decreased and disappeared after HIFU ablation; (E) contrast-enhanced ultrasound showed that there was abundant blood perfusion in the lesion before HIFU ablation, and there were lacunar areas with less blood flow; (F) contrast-enhanced ultrasound showed that after HIFU ablation, the lesions were covered by grayscale increased images, and the posterior acoustic attenuation was observed. There was no blood perfusion in the lesions, and the boundary between the lesions and the surrounding uterine myometrium was clear; (G) contrast enhanced MR image 1 day after HIFU showed that the lesion in the uterine cavity was ablated with no blood perfusion.

TABLE 1 | Comparison of clinical characteristics of patients in two groups.

| | sHIFU group (<i>n</i> = 53) | Control group ($n = 42$) | P-value |
|--|------------------------------|----------------------------|---------|
| Age (years)* | 29.0 (24.0–32.0) | 28.0 (25.0–32.0) | 0.916 |
| Number of gravidities* | 3.0 (3.0–5.0) | 3.0 (2.0–5.0) | 0.753 |
| Number of parturitions* | 1.0 (1.0–2.0) | 1.0 (1.0–2.0) | 0.641 |
| History of cesarean section (n, %) | 21 (39.6%) | 23 (54.8%) | 0.154 |
| Gestational week (n, %) | | | 0.102 |
| <28 Weeks | 21 (39.6%) | 24 (57.1%) | |
| ≥28 Weeks | 32 (60.4%) | 18 (42.9%) | |
| Placenta increta size ¹ (cm)* | 6.0 (4.0-7.0) | 7.0 (5.2–9.0) | 0.042 |
| Placenta increta area ² (cm ²)* | 15.1 (9.6–26.3) | 31.3 (15.8–51.8) | 0.001 |
| Placenta increta depth (cm)* | 4.0 (2.6–4.5) | 4.5 (3.6–4.9) | 0.003 |
| Serum HCG (mIU/mL)* | 2,550.0 (996.5–5,523.0) | 1,895.2 (217.6–5,321.0) | 0.152 |
| Sonication time (sec)* | 660.0 (538.0–890.0) | 710.0 (585.0–1,024.0) | 0.438 |
| Power (W)* | 398.0 (394.0-400.0) | 400.0 (396.0–400.0) | 0.068 |
| NPVR (%)* | 83.0 (75.0–87.0) | 81.0 (74.8–88.3) | 0.922 |
| Duration of bloody lochia (days)* | 24.0 (19.0–31.0) | 25.0 (16.0–31.0) | 0.422 |
| Tissue expulsion (days)* | 9.0 (5.0–14.0) | 3.0 (3.0–6.0) | < 0.001 |
| Menstrual resumption (days)* | 62.0 (54.0-72.0) | 70.0 (62.0–82.0) | 0.007 |
| Treatment time (min)* | 71.0 (60.0–90.0) | 66.0 (55.0–95.0) | 0.860 |

HCG, human chorionic gonadotropin; NPVR, non-perfused volume ratio.

*Data are expressed as median (interquartile range).

¹ The longest diameter of the implanted placenta.

 2 The area of the implanted placenta = 1/4 π multiplied by the longest diameter times the vertical diameter of the longest diameter.



FIGURE 2 | Contrast enhanced MRI of A 23-year-old woman with placenta increta before and after HIFU treatment. (A) The depth of placenta invasion was 3.7 cm, close to the uterine serous surface, and uniform enhancement of the implanted placenta with perfusion slightly below the myometrium. (B) After HIFU treatment, contrast enhanced MRI shows no perfusion of the placental tissue.

During 2–8 years of follow-up, six pregnancies in the sHIFU group and three pregnancies in the control group were delivered at full term, and eight cases experienced uneventful delivery of the placenta after delivery. In the sHIFU group, five cases delivered *via* cesarean section and one case underwent a vaginal delivery.

In the control group, three cases delivered *via* cesarean section, and in one case, the placenta was incompletely detached and partially implanted for about 3×3 cm, bleeding on the detached surface was active with suturing, and then the bleeding was successfully stopped.

| | Before treatment | | After treatment | |
|---------------|-------------------------|---------------------|-------------------|----------------------|
| | | 7 days | 15 days | 30 days |
| sHIFU group | 2,550.0 (996.5–5,523.0) | 288.0 (100.0–633.0) | 78.0 (46.0–298.0) | <1.20 (<1.20, <1.20) |
| Control group | 1,895.2 (217.6–5,321.0) | 191.9 (44.8,- 5.5) | 79.5 (22.5–214.6) | <1.20 (<1.20, <1.20) |
| Z-value | -1.432 | -1.544 | -1.225 | -1.000 |
| P-value | 0.152 | 0.122 | 0.182 | 1.000 |

TABLE 2 | Comparison of the serum HCG level changes before and after treatment (mIU/mL).

Data are expressed as median (interquartile range).

DISCUSSION

Placenta accreta occurs in approximately 1:1,000 deliveries with a reported range from 0.04% rising up to 0.9% (9, 10). According to a large population-based pregnancy cohort study, the incidence of PAS reach up to 2.1% (11). Placenta increta accounted for 29.8% of PAS patients undergoing surgical management (12). Currently, there are clinical differences in the management of placenta increta (7, 13). For placenta increta combined with uncontrollable hemorrhage that endangers maternal life, hysterectomy remains the primary treatment (14). Hysterectomy deprives the patients of their fertility and normal menstrual cycles, and some studies have suggested that hysterectomy leads to premature ovarian failure and early onset of perimenopausal symptoms in women. "Leaving the placenta in situ" can successfully preserve the uterus and avoid hysterectomy in the majority of patients without any major bleeding, but there is still a risk of infection and bleeding, and whether residual placenta mechanization will affect later pregnancy is still a clinical concern. Focused ultrasound therapy is a non-invasive treatment technique that has been widely used in the clinical treatment of many diseases in recent years, and it has achieved satisfactory clinical outcomes (15-19). The HIFU ablation technique is used for the treatment of placenta increta, which is based on the strategy of "leaving the placenta in situ," where HIFU ablation causes in situ necrosis of the residual placental tissue, vascular blockage, peeling off of the necrotic tissue, and reduction in the number of medical operations, such as curettage. HIFU alone is feasible option for the treatment of patients who develop non-major bleeding postpartum placenta increta with in situ leaving of the placenta, and the return of menstruation and pregnancy achievement in some patients after treatment reveal its unique advantages.

The studies reported that HIFU combined with hysteroscopic resection is an effective and safe method for the management of placenta accreta (20, 21). But less is more. HIFU alone is more beneficial 53 patients were included in this study for HIFU ablation alone and 42 patients were treated with HIFU ablation followed by curettage; no significant differences were observed between the two groups in terms of patient age, gestational week and serum HCG. After HIFU ablation, the implanted placental lesion was necrotic *in situ*, and the lesion was not enhancing, as assessed by an enhanced MRI, leaving the placenta *in situ*, and avoiding the risk of re-injury of the uterus during curettage procedure. Disruption of the integrity of the uterine

endometrium and smooth muscle layers of the myometrium is the main cause of placental invasion (22). Therefore, reducing intrauterine surgery is an important measure to avoid the occurrence of placental implantation in second pregnancy.

In this study, although the placental size and placental implantation depth were statistically greater in the control group than in the sHIFU group (P < 0.05), all HIFU ablations achieved technical success with a median NPVR ≥80%. The key to the clinical benefit of the HIFU ablation technique is to obtain a high NPVR, with target tissue structure and blood supply being the major influencing factors. Keserci et al. (23) reported that enhanced MRI evaluation of adenomyosis with blood perfusion intensity below the myometrium obtained a mean NPVR of 89.2%, which was significantly higher than the NPVR of 42.9% in the group with blood perfusion equal to that above the myometrium. The placenta is an organ for material exchange between the mother and the fetus. There are two sets of blood circulation in the placenta, maternal and fetal blood circulation. When a fetus is delivered, the maternal-fetal material exchange is discontinued, and the placenta is detached from the mother. When the implanted placenta cannot be detached, the placental decidua basalis can still obtain blood supply from the myometrium, but most of the blood vessels in the placenta are occluded and some tissues become necrotic and degenerated; therefore, most of the residual placenta can be easily ablated and a high NPVR can be obtained. It needs to be further investigated whether the effect of ablation can be predicted by imaging means, such as enhanced MRI.

Although the safety of HIFU for uterine fibroids and adenomyosis has been extensively studied and reviewed (24–26), its safety still needs to be considered in terms of case selection, preoperative preparation, intraoperative monitoring, and dose control (27). Firstly, placental implantation is very deep and there is a risk of damage to the ectopic bowel during HIFU ablation; hence, patients with placenta penetration were excluded from case selection in this study. Specific treatment strategies need to be considered for placenta penetration.

Secondly, near-field acoustic channel scarring is also an important factor affecting the safety assessment of HIFU ablation (27). Ultrasound-guided HIFU ablation systems, with cryogenic circulating degassed water as the coupling medium and a continuous cooling effect on the acoustic channel skin, have a high safety profile in patients with abdominal surgery-related scarring (28). Some scholars have used scar patches in MRgHIFU treatment to avoid damage to the scar when high NPVR is

obtained (29). Due to different imaging principles, it needs to be further studied whether scar patches are suitable for USgHIFU. Thirdly, for placental implantation, the susceptibility of residual placenta to infection is a matter of concern and should therefore be taken into account while screening cases, and further consultation is needed in case of abnormalities by monitoring the temperature. Fulminant exacerbation of infection due to HIFU ablation should be avoided since it may be lifethreatening for the patient. Finally, death of patients reported in the literature, although rare, raises a higher level of warning for the clinical application of HIFU technology (27). In patients with placental implantation, the physiological situation is significantly different from that in non-pregnant women, and it is necessary to determine whether there are any problems related to vascular injury. In this early stage of HIFU technology application, attention needs to be paid to the possibility of uncertain risks in cases with pathological pregnancies, such as gestational hypertension disorder. Future studies should evaluate the safety of this technique in the context of obstetric conditions.

During the observation period, major bleeding did not occur in patients who underwent clearing and non-clearing of the uterus, and no obstetric complications, such as Asherman syndrome, were observed. A small amount of necrotic tissue was discharged vaginally, accompanied by only a small volume of old blood discharge. There were no statistically significant differences in the time to vaginal bloody lochia, time to HCG decline, and time for conversion to negative (P > 0.05). Therefore, leaving the placenta *in situ* after HIFU for treating postpartum placenta increta is a feasible and safe option, which has comparable efficacy to HIFU combined with curettage.

Individualized management is performed in young women with fertility preservation requirements (30). Menstrual recovery is an important outcome. In this study, patients had menstrual cycle resumption within 3 months after HIFU ablation leaving the placenta in situ and had a significantly lower incidence of menstrual volume decreased than in the HIFU combined with curettage group. Further study is needed to assess whether curettage induced the injury to the endometrium or affects the endometrial microenvironment. There is a lack of histological evidence on how the myometrium recovers in patients treated with leaving the placenta in situ after HIFU with the necrotic placental tissue expels spontaneously. However, on a long-term follow-up, nine women achieved a second pregnancy; eight women had an uneventful delivery of the placenta without any recurrence of placenta increta, and one case developed partial placenta increta along with the second pregnancy, and the uterus could still be preserved after intraoperative management by cesarean section. This finding suggests that the structure and physiological function of the myometrium and endometrium can be restored after HIFU ablation.

However, the present study has some limitations. The first limitation is the failure to establish the pathological diagnosis of implanted placenta and histological outcome evidence of myometrial and endometrial repair. Secondly, the small number of cases and design of the retrospective study may have resulted in patient selection biases, such as statistical differences in placenta size and depth of placental implantation; hence, the impact of patient selection on clinical application still needs to be considered, and they necessitate further validation of its clinical application in a prospective randomized controlled study. Further randomized controlled studies are needed to confirm whether the single-session HIFU treatment strategy of placental leaving *in situ* is superior to leaving the placenta *in situ* without any intervention in terms of the conception rate, pregnancy safety, and placenta accreta during postoperative pregnancy achievement, and whether this treatment strategy is superior to HIFU combined with curettage. In addition, patients who developed any major bleeding were excluded from this study, and it needs to be further explored whether effective hemostasis can be achieved by using the HIFU technique.

CONCLUSION

In summary, single-session HIFU is safe and effective in treating postpartum placenta increta *in situ*. HIFU alone opens a new era of leaving the placenta *in situ* treatment of placenta increta and is a promising option for those who wish to preserve their fertility and experience pregnancy.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Neijiang First People's Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XG and JC contributed to the conception and design of the study, performed the statistical analysis, and wrote and revised the manuscript. XG, XH, MY, GH, XX, and JC were responsible for data acquisition and interpretation. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the Chongqing Mentor Team Construction Project of Chongqing Municipal Education Commission (No. dstd201810).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed.2022. 871528/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine. Obstetric care consensus no. 7: placenta accreta spectrum. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2018) 132:e259–75. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000002983
- Silver RM, Barbour KD. Placenta accreta spectrum: accreta, increta, and percreta. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. (2015) 42:381–402. doi: 10.1016/j.ogc. 2015.01.014
- Marcellin L, Delorme P, Bonnet MP, Grange G, Kayem G, Tsatsaris V, et al. Placenta percreta is associated with more frequent severe maternal morbidity than placenta accreta. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2018) 219:193.e1–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.ajog.2018.04.049
- Kim JA, Narra VR. Magnetic resonance imaging with true fast imaging with steady-state precession and half-fourier acquisition single-shot turbo spinecho sequences in cases of suspected placenta accreta. *Acta Radiol.* (2004) 45:692–8. doi: 10.1080/02841850410001114
- Baughman WC, Corteville JE, Shah RR. Placenta accreta: spectrum of US and MR imaging findings. *Radiographics*. (2008) 28:1905–16. doi: 10.1148/rg. 287085060
- Kapoor H, Hanaoka M, Dawkins A, Khurana A. Review of MRI imaging for placenta accreta spectrum: pathophysiologic insights, imaging signs, and recent developments. *Placenta*. (2021) 104:31–9. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2020. 11.004
- Sentilhes L, Kayem G, Chandraharan E, Palacios-Jaraquemada J, Jauniaux E. FIGO placenta accreta diagnosis and management expert consensus panel. FIGO consensus guidelines on placenta accreta spectrum disorders: conservative management. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet.* (2018) 140:291–8. doi: 10. 1002/ijgo.12410
- Bai Y, Luo X, Li Q, Yin N, Fu X, Zhang H, et al. High-intensity focused ultrasound treatment of placenta accreta after vaginal delivery: a preliminary study. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. (2016) 47:492–8. doi: 10.1002/uog.14867
- Garmi G, Salim R. Epidemiology, etiology, diagnosis, and management of placenta accreta. Obstet Gynecol Int. (2012) 2012:873929. doi: 10.1155/2012/ 873929
- 10. Matsuzaki S, Mandelbaum RS, Sangara RN, McCarthy LE, Vestal NL, Klar M, et al. Trends, characteristics, and outcomes of placenta accreta spectrum: a national study in the United States. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2021) 225:534.e1–38. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2021.04.233
- Thurn L, Lindqvist PG, Jakobsson M, Colmorn LB, Klungsoyr K, Bjarnadóttir RI, et al. Abnormally invasive placenta-prevalence, risk factors and antenatal suspicion: results from a large population-based pregnancy cohort study in the Nordic countries. *BJOG.* (2016) 123:1348–55. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.13547
- Mitric C, Desilets J, Balayla J, Ziegler C. Surgical management of the placenta accreta spectrum: an institutional experience. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. (2019) 41:1551–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jogc.2019.01.016
- Allen L, Jauniaux E, Hobson S, Papillon-Smith J, Belfort MA. FIGO placenta accreta diagnosis and management expert consensus panel. FIGO consensus guidelines on placenta accreta spectrum disorders: nonconservative surgical management. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet.* (2018) 140:281–90. doi: 10.1002/ijgo. 12409
- Silver RM. Abnormal placentation: placenta previa, vasa previa, and placenta accreta. Obstet Gynecol. (2015) 126:654–68. doi: 10.1097/AOG. 000000000001005
- Chen J, Li Y, Wang Z, McCulloch P, Hu L, Chen W, et al. Evaluation of high-intensity focused ultrasound ablation for uterine fibroids: an IDEAL prospective exploration study. *BJOG*. (2018) 125:354–64. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.14689
- Zhao L, Deng Y, Wei Q, Chen J, Zhao C. Comparison of ultrasound-guided high-intensity focused ultrasound ablation and surgery for abdominal wall endometriosis. *Int J Hyperthermia*. (2018) 35:528–33. doi: 10.1080/02656736. 2018.1511836
- Hu L, Zhao JS, Xing C, Xue XL, Sun XL, Dang RF, et al. Comparison of focused ultrasound surgery and hysteroscopic resection for treatment of submucosal uterine fibroids (FIGO type 2). *Ultrasound Med Biol.* (2020) 46:1677–85. doi: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2020.02.018

- Li X, Zhu X, He S, Jiang Z, Li H, Tian X, et al. High-intensity focused ultrasound in the management of adenomyosis: long-term results from a single center. *Int J Hyperthermia*. (2021) 38:241–7. doi: 10.1080/02656736. 2021
- Wang W, Chen Y, Yang Y, Qu D, Jiang J. High-intensity focused ultrasound compared with uterine artery chemoembolization with methotrexate for the management of cesarean scar pregnancy. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet.* (2021). [Epub ahead of print]. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.14036
- Ye M, Yin Z, Xue M, Deng X. High-intensity focused ultrasound combined with hysteroscopic resection for the treatment of placenta accreta. *BJOG*. (2017) 3:71–7. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.14743
- He S, Xue M, Jiang J. Early versus late hysteroscopic resection after highintensity focused ultrasound for retained placenta accreta. *Int J Hyperthermia*. (2021) 38:257–62. doi: 10.1080/02656736.2021
- 22. Jauniaux E, Collins S, Burton GJ. Placenta accreta spectrum: pathophysiology and evidence-based anatomy for prenatal ultrasound imaging. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2018) 218:75–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2017.05.067
- Keserci B, Duc NM. The role of T1 perfusion-based classification in predicting the outcome of magnetic resonance-guided high-intensity focused ultrasound treatment of adenomyosis. *Int J Hyperthermia*. (2018) 34:306–14. doi: 10.1080/ 02656736.2017.1326634
- Chen J, Chen W, Zhang L, Li K, Peng S, He M, et al. Safety of ultrasoundguided ultrasound ablation for uterine fibroids and adenomyosis: a review of 9988 cases. Ultrason Sonochem. (2015) 27:671–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ultsonch.2015. 05.031
- Liu Y, Zhang W, He M, Gong C, Xie B, Wen X, et al. Adverse effect analysis of high-intensity focused ultrasound in the treatment of benign uterine diseases. *Int J Hyperthermia.* (2018) 35:56–61. doi: 10.1080/02656736.2018.14 73894
- Yang MJ, Yu RQ, Chen JY, Wang ZB. Comparison of dose and effectiveness of a single-session ultrasound-guided high-intensity focused ultrasound ablation of uterine fibroids with different sizes. *Front Oncol.* (2021) 11:725193. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.725193
- Duc NM, Huy HQ, Keserci B. Adverse events of focused ultrasound surgery for uterine fibroids and adenomyosis. *Rep Medical Imaging*. (2018) 11:15–26. doi: 10.2147/RMI.S166580
- Yin N, Hu L, Xiao ZB, Liu C, Chen WZ, Roberts N, et al. Factors influencing thermal injury to skin and abdominal wall structures in HIFU ablation of uterine fibroids. *Int J Hyperthermia*. (2018) 34:1298–303. doi: 10.1080/ 02656736.2018.1433880
- 29. Keserci B, Duc NM. Volumetric magnetic resonance-guided high-intensity focused ultrasound ablation of uterine fibroids through abdominal scars: the impact of a scar patch on therapeutic efficacy and adverse effects. *J Ther Ultrasound*. (2017) 5:22. doi: 10.1186/s40349-017-0100-4
- 30. Shamshirsaz AA, Fox KA, Erfani H, Clark SL, Salmanian B, Baker BW, et al. Multidisciplinary team learning in the management of the morbidly adherent placenta: outcome improvements over time. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2017) 216:612.e1–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2017.02.016

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Guan, Huang, Ye, Huang, Xiao and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Safety and Feasibility of Vaginal Delivery in Full-Term Pregnancy After Transvaginal-Natural Orifice Transluminal Endoscopic Surgery: A Case Series

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rafal Watrowski, University of Freiburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Dirk Rolf Bulian, Witten/Herdecke University, Witten, Germany Cihan Kaya, Clinics of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Bakirkoy Dr. Sadi Konuk Education and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey

*Correspondence:

Jiming Chen cjming@126.com Bairong Xia xiabairong@ustc.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Speciality section:

This article was submitted to Obstetrics and Gynecological Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Surgery

> Received: 02 March 2022 Accepted: 12 April 2022 Published: 28 April 2022

Citation:

Zhang S, Dong Z, Liu J, Qin Z, Wang H, Bao M, Wei W, Shi R, Chen J and Xia B (2022) Safety and Feasibility of Vaginal Delivery in Full-Term Pregnancy After Transvaginal-Natural Orifice Transluminal Endoscopic Surgery: A Case Series. Front. Surg. 9:888281. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2022.888281

Shoufeng Zhang^{1†}, Zhiyong Dong^{2†}, Junling Liu^{2†}, Zhenyue Qin¹, Huihui Wang¹, Mingyue Bao¹, Weiwei Wei², Ruxia Shi², Jiming Chen^{2*} and Bairong Xia^{3*}

¹Dalian Medical University, Dalian, China, ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, the Affiliated Changzhou No. 2 People's Hospital of Nanjing Medical University, Changzhou, China, ³Department of Gynecology, The First Affiliated Hospital of USTC, Division of Life Sciences and Medicine, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, China

Study Objective: The aim was to investigate the outcome of vaginal delivery of full-term pregnancies in patients after transvaginal-natural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery (vNOTES) treatment for gynecological disorders.

Design: A case series report.

Setting: A medical university hospital.

Patients: 12 cases of successful delivery after transvaginal-natural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery.

Interventions: Long-term follow-up of patients with fertility needs after transvaginalnatural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery.

Measurements and Main Results: From 2018 to 2021, 163 cases of gynecological diseases were treated by vNOTES. One hundred forty-seven patients were followed up, with a follow-up rate of 90.1%. The average follow-up time was 28 (15–47) months, including 66 cases with fertility requirements. Among these 66 patients, 12 patients successfully got pregnant and completed delivery, including 10 cases of vaginal delivery and 2 cases of cesarean section, with no adverse pregnancy outcomes associated with vNOTES arising.

Conclusion: Vaginal delivery of a full-term pregnancy after transvaginal-natural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery appears to be safe and feasible and would not be one of the bases for elective cesarean delivery.

Keywords: transvaginal-natural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery, Minimally invasive gynecology techniques, transvaginal delivery, full-term pregnancy, Childbirth ability

INTRODUCTION

vNOTES is an emerging minimally invasive technique that enables surgical access to the peritoneal cavity through the vagina, a natural body orifice. In recent years, with the rapid development of minimally invasive gynecology and the concept of accelerated recovery surgery, combined with the unique advantages of scarless skin and fast recovery, vNOTES has made not only a splash in the field of gynecology (1) but also became an emerging surgical modality in general surgery (2, 3) and urology (4, 5).

Although the therapeutic efficacy and safety of vNOTES in the treatment of a variety of benign and malignant gynecological diseases have been demonstrated (6–8), there is still a lack of research on its long-term postoperative effects, such as the safety of vaginal delivery in full-term pregnancies and the impact on sexual life. In this study, we investigated the impact of vNOTES on vaginal delivery of full-term pregnancies after surgery in patients by retrospectively analyzing a case series.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

This study retrospectively collected 163 patients with gynecological diseases treated by vNOTES in the Affiliated Changzhou No. 2 People's Hospital of Nanjing Medical University from 2018 to 2021. 147 patients were followed up, with a follow-up rate of 90.1%. The average follow-up time was 28 (15–47) months. Among the 66 patients with fertility requirements, 12 cases were successfully pregnant and completed delivery, including 10 cases of vaginal delivery and 2 cases of cesarean section. See **Supplementary Appendix S1 and Appendix S2** for case data.

Surgical Technique

The patient requires vaginal cleansing one day before the procedure. Anterior vaginal vault approach: cervical forceps or Allis forceps the anterior cervical lip and pull downward, make a transverse incision slightly below the cervical portion of the bladder attachment, bluntly separate the vesicovaginal space, free the bulging bladder, separate the cervical ligament of the bladder and push the bladder upward to the retroperitoneum of the bladder and open the retroperitoneum of the bladder and uterus into the pelvis; posterior vaginal vault approach: cervical forceps or Allis forceps the rear cervical lip and pull upward to expose the posterior vaginal vault. A transverse incision of approximately 2-3 cm is made 1.5-2.0 cm below the cervix to separate the rectal space and enter the pelvis bluntly. The pneumoperitoneum was established by inserting a particular HangT Port (Beijing HangTian KaDi Technology R&D Institute, Beijing, China) vaginal access (Figure 1). A standard 10-mm rigid 30° laparoscope was used through 1 trocar, whereas 2 endoscopic instruments were used through the other two trocars (Figure 2); through the surgical platform, access to remove



FIGURE 1 | Establish vaginal access.

the lesion peritoneal and vaginal vault incisions were closed with a running Vicryl 2 suture. All procedures were performed by a chief surgeon with extensive experience in vNOTES surgery.

Outcomes

Baseline characteristics of patients included age, body mass index (BMI), obstetric history, and history of previous pelvic surgery. Surgical correlates included time of surgery, location of the surgical incision, surgical approach, postoperative pathological diagnosis, need for conversion to laparoscopy or cesarean, and surgical complications as indicated by Clavien-Dindo classification. All patients were followed up at one week, 1, 3, and 6 months postoperatively and annually postoperatively. Assessment of the healing of the surgical incision, non-healing or delayed healing of the incision, abnormal sensation of the incision (pain, itching), rupture or fluid flow from the incision, narrowing or shortening of the vagina, and adhesion of the vault are noted as poor healing of the incision. Detailed obstetric and delivery data were recorded for all patients, such as the gestational week of delivery, pregnancy and delivery complications, the time interval from the first day after vNOTES to the next delivery, perineal incision rate, and grading of perineal rupture. After delivery of the placenta and three days after delivery, the





FIGURE 2 | Schematic diagram of laparoscopic operation devices.

vaginal vault is exposed using a speculum or vaginal puller to check for tears or bleeding from the surgical scar. All data were tallied by one physician and examined by two others.

Statistical Methodology

Percentages, mean, and standard deviation were performed. Statistical analysis was carried out with IBM-Microsoft SPSS version 26.0.

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

During the study period, a total of 12 patients completed their pregnancies and delivered successfully, and the characteristics of all patients are shown in **Table 1**.

Surgical Outcome

In this study, all 12 vNOTES patients had successful surgical completion. These included mature ovarian teratoma (n = 6), tubal ectopic pregnancy (n = 5), an ovarian cyst (n = 1); the mean operative time was 128.4 min and the longest operative time was 190 min; the operative incisions included anterior vaginal fornix incision (n = 6), posterior vaginal fornix incision (n = 6), and no additional vaginal wall injury due to

 TABLE 1 | Characteristics of 12 patients who delivered after vNOTES.

| Characteristics | Total (n = 12) |
|--|------------------|
| Mean age ± SD, y | 30.16±6.22 |
| Preoperative BMI \pm SD, kg/m ² | 20.71 ± 3.74 |
| Fertility history, n (%) | |
| <i>n</i> = 0 | 4 (33) |
| <i>n</i> = 1 | 8 (67) |
| $n \ge 2$ | 0 |
| Previous surgical history, n (%) | |
| Artificial abortion | 2 (16) |
| Laparoscopic myomectomy | 1 (8) |
| Cesarean | 0 |
| Others | 0 |

SD, standard deviation; BMI, body mass index.

TABLE 2 | Surgical data and postoperative review results of 12 patients.

| | Total (n = 12) |
|-----------------------------------|------------------|
| Diagnosis, n (%) | |
| Ovarian teratomas | 6 (50) |
| Tubal ectopic pregnancy | 5 (42) |
| Oophoritic cyst | 1 (8) |
| Operation time ± SD, min | 128.4 ± 37.7 |
| Surgical incision location, n (%) | |
| Anterior vaginal fornix | 6 (50) |
| Posterior vaginal fornix | 6 (50) |
| Laparoscopy or laparotomy, n | 0 |
| Clavien-Dindo classification, n | |
| 1 | 1 |
| 2 | 1 |
| ≥3 | 0 |
| Incision healing, n | |
| Good healing | 11 |
| Poor healing | 1 |

Poor healing is defined as nonunion or delayed healing of the incision, abnormal sensation of the incision (pain, itching), incision rupture or fluid flow, vaginal stenosis or shortening, and dome adhesion.

surgical manipulation was observed in all patients; according to Clavien-Dindo classification, there were two postoperative complications, one postoperative incisional infection, which healed well after incisional dressing change (Grade 1 complication); one postoperative fever due to abdominal infection (Grade 2 complication), which improved after antibiotic treatment. The surgical incision healing was reviewed at 1 week, 1 month, 3 months, and 6 months after surgery. One of the 12 patients had poor surgical incision healing due to infection. After cleaning and dressing change, the incision healed well within one week after the operation, and the patient delivered successfully through vagina in the follow-up (See **Table 2**).

Pregnancy and Delivery Outcomes

Among the 66 patients with reproductive needs, 46(69.7%) cases were successfully pregnant, but 6 (13%) cases had an abortion, and 3(50%) cases were successfully pregnant after abortion. At present, there are 31(67.4%) patients during pregnancy. Twelve cases of pregnancy and delivery were successful, conception modes were classified as natural (n = 11), and assisted reproduction (n = 1), and all patients were examined during pregnancy according to the maternity program. Complications of pregnancy included gestational diabetes (n = 2), gestational obesity (n = 1), gestational hypothyroidism (n = 1), gestational mild anemia (n = 1), cord encirclement (n = 3), and premature rupture of membranes (n = 2). The 12 cases of successful delivery were vaginal delivery (n = 10) and cesarean delivery (n = 2). One cesarean delivery was due to a twin pregnancy, and the fetal position did not allow for vaginal delivery. The other was due to a previous history of obstructed labor. The patient refused the attempt of vaginal delivery. Ten vaginal deliveries were full-term pregnancies, singleton in the first position, normal deliveries (n = 8), obstructed deliveries (n = 2), and one obstructed delivery due to a previous history of obstructed labor. The other case was cervical edema during pregnancy, which was not significantly associated with the vNOTES procedure. No bleeding or tearing of the vNOTES surgical scar was detected after delivery of the placenta and on the third postpartum day. Six patients with perineal rupture were all with first-degree perineal rupture, which was not significantly associated with the vNOTES procedure. No bleeding or tearing of the vNOTES surgical scar was detected after delivery of the placenta and on the third postpartum day. The mean interval from the first postoperative day to the next delivery was approximately 21.8 months, with the shortest being 11.1 months. (See Table 3)

DISCUSSION

vNOTES is a minimally invasive surgical technique for treating disease after endoscopic access to the pelvic and abdominal cavity via the vagina, a natural cavity. It is the most used and developed surgical technique for trans-natural cavity surgery. vNOTES was widely used to treat benign gynecological diseases after Lee reported using vNOTES for tubal resection for tubal pregnancy in 2012 (9). In vNOTES, the intraoperative blood transfusion and hospital days are comparable to trans umbilical single-port laparoscopic surgery. Still, vNOTES has more advantages in postoperative pain relief, reduction of incisional fat liquefaction, and cosmetic results (6-8). In recent years, vNOTES has been gradually explored in gynecologic malignancies (10). Due to the significant advantage of no scar on the abdominal wall, vNOTES has been favored by many young women of reproductive age. In China's open third-child policy, promoting fertility and reducing the cesarean section rate has been favored become a priority (11, 12). Therefore, we are concerned about the possible long-term effects of vNOTES on

TABLE 3 | Obstetric delivery outcomes of 10 patients undergoing vaginal delivery.

| | Total (n = 10 |
|---------------------------------------|------------------|
| Mean gestational age of delivery, wks | 39 ⁺⁶ |
| Interval time ± SD, mos | 21.89 ± 2.5 |
| Induced labor mode, n (%) | |
| Natural induction of labor | 6 (60) |
| Assisted induction of labor | 4 (40) |
| Oxytocin induced labor | 4 |
| Balloon induced labor | 2 |
| Mode of delivery, n (%) | |
| Natural childbirth | 8 (80) |
| Vacuum assisted | 2 (20) |
| Obstetric forceps assisted | 0 |
| Anesthesia mode, n (%) | |
| None | 7 (70) |
| Epidural anesthesia | 3 (30) |
| Labor time \pm SD, (h) | 4.58 ± 0.62 |
| First stage of labor | 3.94 ± 0.38 |
| Second stage of labor | 0.52 ± 0.24 |
| Third stage of labor | 0.10 ± 0.008 |
| Intrapartum hemorrhage ± SD, ml | 175.0±8.33 |
| Neonatus | |
| Biparietal diameter ± SD, cm | 9.31 ± 0.1 |
| Head circumference \pm SD, cm | 33.04 ± 0.52 |
| Abdominal circumference \pm SD, cm | 34.28 ± 0.51 |
| Weight ± SD, g | 3497 ± 118.3 |
| Perineum, n (%) | |
| Complete perineum | 2 (20) |
| Episiotomy | 2 (20) |
| Perineal tear | 6 (60) |
| Spontaneous labor, n | 8 |
| Dystocia, <i>n</i> | 2 |

wks, weeks; mos, months; h, hour; m, milliliter; g, gram.

vaginal delivery in term pregnancies. It has been reported that full-term delivery can lead to rupture of the vaginal vault (13), but whether vNOTES will receive long-term benefits on vaginal delivery of full-term pregnancy and female sexual function has been less reported (14, 15).

The location of the incision depends mainly on the location of the lesion. Although the vNOTES approach of the posterior vaginal fornix is enough to complete the surgical treatment of most diseases in general surgery, urology, and gynecological surgery, due to the natural barrier of the uterus, the posterior vaginal fornix approach is still a difficult challenge for the lesions of the anterior wall of the uterus and the front of the pelvic cavity, and the incision of the anterior vaginal fornix can well solve this difficulty. For examples, anterior wall myomas and cesarean scar pregnancies are suitable for the anterior vaginal vault approach. In contrast, most adnexal diseases, posterior uterine wall myomas (16), and pelvic lymph node dissection (17) are more suitable for posterior vaginal vault incisions. Simultaneously, the posterior vault is more extensible, and the surgical specimen is easier to obtain intact than the anterior vault. In our study, we found that in many patients, especially those with endometriosis, the incidence of posterior pelvic adhesions is higher than that in the front of the pelvic cavity. Posterior vaginal fornix adhesions or the closure of the uterine rectum depression often led to the failure of the establishment of posterior vaginal fornix approach in vNOTES surgery and the conversion to laparoscopic surgery or rectal injury. In this study, ten vaginal deliveries included anterior vaginal vault incisions (n = 5) and posterior vaginal vault incisions (n = 5), and none of them had surgical scar tears during delivery. The current research data show that the anterior vaginal fornix incision and the posterior vaginal fornix incision have no relevant impact on the vaginal delivery of full-term pregnancy. With further follow-up, we will obtain more data to confirm this view. Vaginal preparation 1 day before surgery can effectively reduce the number of bacteria in the vagina and reduce the risk of intraoperative infection (18), and surgical incision healing is unlikely to result in abnormal incision sensation (pain, itching), incision rupture, or fluid flow, or vault adhesions that could affect the patient's sexual life and ability to give birth. In addition, the surgical operation may damage the vaginal wall, or the suture may cause vaginal narrowing or shortening, which may affect the patient's sexual function after surgery and thus reduce the probability of natural conception. At present, there are few research reports in this field (14).

The vNOTES produce an old surgical scar between the anterior and posterior vault of the cervix, which lacks extensibility relative to healthy tissue and may become a factor that delays the progress of labor or causes scar tearing during vaginal delivery-becoming an indication for the choice of cesarean delivery? In this study, 10 patients delivered vaginally were full-term pregnancies, and 2 were delivered by cesarean section, with a mean cesarean section rate of 16.6%, which is lower than the cesarean section rate of 39.2% in the region; the mean neonatal weight was 3,497 g, and the maximum neonatal weight was 4,220 g. No slow progression of labor or tearing of the scar was observed during delivery, which may suggest that vNOTES surgery does not full-term affect the way full-term pregnancy is delivered vaginally. The shortest postoperative interval between the patient's surgery and fullterm delivery was 11.1 months, with a mean time of 21.8 months. It may still be a topic for discussion about how long it takes after vNOTES to qualify for transvaginal delivery.

Younger patient age is a distinctive feature of the vNOTES surgery population with high estrogen production and estrogen's ability to increase collagen deposition, increase wound strength, and promote healing of the vaginal vault surgical incision; low estrogen may increase inflammation production, prolong healing time, and affect wound healing relative to older age groups (19–21), and for those older than

45 years of age advanced maternal age, the safety of vaginal delivery after vNOTES for full-term pregnancies was not explored.

Study Limitations

The retrospective case report of the small sample is an essential limitation of this study and there was no systematic sexual function assessment for all patients with fertility requirements after vNOTES.

CONCLUSION

In this retrospective case series, all women who successfully conceived and delivered did not have adverse birth outcomes significantly associated with vNOTES; based on our data, vNOTES appears to be safe and feasible for vaginal delivery after a full-term pregnancy, does not become a basis for elective cesarean delivery, and has important implications for the promotion of vNOTES. Multicenter, randomized controlled studies are needed to confirm the long-term benefits of vNOTES for vaginal delivery and sexuality.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SZ: Conception and Design of Study. ZD: Data Collection. JL: Data Analysis and Interpretation. ZQ, RS, JC, BX: Responsible Surgeon or Imager. HW: Statistical Analysis. MB: Manuscript Preparation. WW: Patient Recruitment. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the maternal and child health research project of Jiangsu Province (F202138), the Scientific Research Support Program for Postdoctoral of Jiangsu Province(2019K064), and the Scientific Research Support Program for "333 Project" of Jiangsu Province (BRA2019161). JC disclosed the source of funding for this study.

IRB EXEMPTION

The institutional review board (IRB) of The Affiliated Changzhou No. 2 People's Hospital of Nanjing Medical University exempted the study. It was a retrospective case series with anonymous data and written informed consent.

REFERENCES

- Lee CL, Wu KY, Su H, Ueng SH, Yen CF. Transvaginal natural-orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery (NOTES) in adnexal procedures. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. (2012) 19(4):509–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2012.02.005
- Zhou H, Zhang J, Wang Q, Hu Z. Transvaginal natural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery cholecystectomy: is it the best route? *Ann Surg.* (2010) 251(3):578–9; author reply 579–80. doi: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181d0d3e3
- Benhidjeb T, Kosmas IP, Hachem F, Mynbaev O, Stark M, Benhidjeb I. Laparoscopic cholecystectomy versus transvaginal natural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery cholecystectomy: results of a prospective comparative single-center study. *Gastrointest Endosc.* (2018) 87(2):509–16. doi: 10.1016/j.gie.2017.09.039
- Xue Y, Zou X, Zhang G. Transvaginal natural orifice transluminal endoscopic nephrectomy in a series of 63 cases: stepwise transition from hybrid to pure NOTES. *Eur Urol.* (2015) 68(2):302–10. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2015.03.033
- Porpiglia F, Fiori C, Morra I, Scarpa RM. Transvaginal natural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery-assisted minilaparoscopic nephrectomy: a step towards scarless surgery. *Eur Urol.* (2011) 60(4):862–6. doi: 10.1016/j. eururo.2010.09.038
- Kaya C, Alay I, Cengiz H, Baghaki S, Aslan O, Ekin M, et al. Conventional laparoscopy or vaginally assisted natural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery for adnexal pathologies: a paired sample cross-sectional study. *J Invest Surg.* (2021) 34(11):1185–90. doi: 10.1080/08941939.2020.1789246
- Yassa M, Kaya C, Kalafat E, Tekin AB, Karakas S, Mutlu MA, et al. The comparison of transvaginal natural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery and conventional laparoscopy in opportunistic bilateral salpingectomy for permanent female sterilization. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. (2022) 29 (2):257–64.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2021.08.009
- Karakaş S, Kaya C, Yildiz Ş, Alay İ, Durmuş U, Aydiner İE, et al. Comparison of vNOTES technique with conventional laparoscopy in gynecological emergency cases. *Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol.* (2022) 24:1–7. doi: 10.1080/13645706.2021.2025111
- Li CB, Hua KQ. Transvaginal natural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery (vNOTES) in gynecologic surgeries: a systematic review. *Asian J Surg.* (2020) 43(1):44–51. doi: 10.1016/j.asjsur.2019.07.014
- Wang Y, Deng L, Tang S, Dou Y, Yao Y, Li Y, et al. vNOTES hysterectomy with sentinel lymph node mapping for endometrial cancer: description of technique and perioperative outcomes. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol.* (2021) 28(6):1254–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2021.01.022: S1553-4650(21)00055-8.
- Lumbiganon P, Laopaiboon M, Gülmezoglu AM; World Health Organization Global Survey on Maternal and Perinatal Health Research Group. Method of delivery and pregnancy outcomes in Asia: the WHO global survey on maternal and perinatal health 2007-08. *Lancet*. (2010) 375(9713):490–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61870-5
- Liang J, Mu Y, Li X. Relaxation of the one child policy and trends in caesarean section rates and birth outcomes in China between 2012 and 2016: observational study of nearly seven million health facility births. *BMJ*. (2018) 360:k817. doi: 10.1136/bmj.k817

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fsurg.2022. 888281/full#supplementary-material.

- Resnick L, Muller HW. Colporrhexis; with a report of a case of spontaneous primary rupture of the posterior vaginal vault during labour. S Afr Med J. (1955) 29(35):818–21. PMID: 13256025
- Bulian DR, Trump L, Knuth J, Cerasani N, Heiss MM. Long-term results of transvaginal/transumbilical versus classical laparoscopic cholecystectomy–an analysis of 88 patients. *Langenbecks Arch Surg.* (2013) 398(4):571–9. doi: 10. 1007/s00423-013-1071-8
- Thomaidis P, Weltermann NJ, Seefeldt CS, Richards DC, Sauerwald A, Heiss MM, et al. Transvaginal Hybrid-NOTES procedures-do they have a negative impact on pregnancy and delivery? *Langenbecks Arch Surg.* (2021) 406 (6):2045–52. doi: 10.1007/s00423-021-02105-z
- Baekelandt J. Transvaginal natural-orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery: a new approach to myomectomy. *Fertil Steril.* (2018) 109(1):179. doi: 10.1016/j. fertnstert.2017.09.009
- Lee C-L, Wu K-Y, Tsao F-Y, Huang C-Y, Han C-M, Yen C-F, et al. Natural orifice transvaginal endoscopic surgery for endometrial cancer. *Gynecol Minim Invasive Ther.* (2014) 3(3): 89–92. doi: 10.1016/j.gmit.2014.08.004
- Box GN, Bessler M, Clayman RV. Transvaginal access: current experience and potential implications for urologic applications. J Endourol. (2009) 23 (5):753–7. doi: 10.1089/end.2009.0150
- Abramov Y, Golden B, Sullivan M, Goldberg RP, Sand PK. Vaginal incisional wound healing in a rabbit menopause model: a histologic analysis. *Int* Urogynecol J. (2012) 23(12):1763–9. doi: 10.1007/s00192-012-1793-0
- Calvin M, Dyson M, Rymer J, Young SR. The effects of ovarian hormone deficiency on wound contraction in a rat model. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol.* (1998) 105:223–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1998.tb10057.x
- Ashcroft GS, Greenwell-Wild T, Horan M, Wahl SM, Ferguson M. Topical estrogen accelerates cutaneous wound healing in aged humans associated with an altered inflammatory response. *Am J Pathol.* (1999) 155:1137–4. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65217-0

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Zhang, Dong, liu, Qin, Wang, Bao, Wei, Shi, Chen and Xia. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Fertility-Sparing Treatment for Young Patients with Early-Stage Cervical Cancer: A Dawn of a New Era

Charalampos Theofanakis^{1,2}*, Aristotelis-Marios Koulakmanidis^{1,2}, Anastasia Prodromidou^{1,2}, Dimitrios Haidopoulos^{1,2}, Alexandros Rodolakis^{1,2} and Nikolaos Thomakos^{1,2}

¹School of Health Sciences, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece, ²Division of Gynaecologic Oncology, 1st Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Alexandra Hospital, Athens, Greece

Keywords: cervical cancer, fertility preservation, fertility-sparing surgery, radical trachelectomy, less radical surgery

INTRODUCTION

In the last decades, the incidence and mortality rate of cervical cancer in high-income countries have decreased due to the implementation of organized screening programs and recent advancements in diagnosis and prognosis (1). Potential candidates for surgical resection are women with locoregional tumors. Given the excellent 5-year survival rates for early-stage cervical cancer, surpassing 90%, and that up to 40% of these patients are of reproductive age, the need for fertility-sparing surgery (FSS) is mandatory (2). In the literature, many approaches are described, but in the last decade, the debate has been focused on radical and more conservative surgical approaches.

Vaginal Radical Trachelectomy

Vaginal radical trachelectomy (VRT), combined with laparoscopic pelvic lymphadenectomy, was introduced by Professor Daniel Dargent, back in 1987. The procedure begins with the incision of the vagina and the dissection of the bladder and ureters away from the cervix. Identification and, usually, preservation of the uterine arteries is succeeded through the dissection of the Douglas pouch and the resection of proximal parametria, bilaterally. The minimum tissue needed to be preserved from the uterine isthmus is between 0.5 and 1 cm, and the resection of the specimen includes approximately 1–2 cm of the vagina (3, 4). The specimen is then sent for a frozen section to ensure negative margins, with 5–10 mm being the recommendation in the literature (5, 6). Also, subsequent curettage of the fundus has been reported for the exclusion of remaining residual disease, especially in adenocarcinomas. In case that negative proximal margin in conjunction with the preservation of adequate cervical tissue (5–10 mm) cannot be obtained, radical hysterectomy is recommended (3, 7).

Abdominal Radical Trachelectomy

Abdominal radical trachelectomy (ART) was introduced by Smith et al. in 1997. The approach to the abdomen is succeeded through a low transverse or vertical abdominal incision, and it is similar to the surgical approach for abdominal radical hysterectomy. Uterine arteries can be preserved or ligated due to the ovarian vasculature that preserves the uterine blood supply.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rafał Watrowski, University of Freiburg, Germany

> **Reviewed by:** Marta Caretto, University of Pisa, Italy

*Correspondence: Charalampos Theofanakis charalampostheofanakis@yahoo.com

Specialty section: This article was submitted to Obstetrics and Gynecological Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Surgery

> Received: 01 February 2022 Accepted: 12 April 2022 Published: 06 May 2022

Citation:

Theofanakis C, Koulakmanidis A-M, Prodromidou A, Haidopoulos D, Rodolakis A and Thomakos N (2022) Fertility-Sparing Treatment for Young Patients with Early-Stage Cervical Cancer: A Dawn of a New Era. Front. Surg. 9:867993. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2022.867993 ART is the standard approach for patients with stage IB1 tumors, as stated by the ESGO/ESTRO/ESP Guidelines (8). However, the main disadvantages include higher blood loss, increased transfusion rates, greater incidence of wound infections, and prolonged hospital stay. The radicality of the parametrial resection in ART is more extensive, compared to the vaginal approach, and the oncologic outcomes are comparable to those after radical hysterectomy, with a recurrence rate of approximately 3.9% (9).

Minimal Invasive Surgery-Radical Trachelectomy

Minimal invasive surgery-radical trachelectomy (MIS-RT) includes either robotic or laparoscopic radical trachelectomy (RRT or LRT, respectively), and its main target is to accomplish radical parametrial resection as ART without the adverse effects of open surgery. The advantages of the MIS-RT approach are decreased blood loss, lower rates of wound dehiscence, and shorter hospital stay without significant prolongation in operative time compared to ART (10, 11).

The oncologic outcomes of MIS-RT are similar to those of VRT and ART, with a combined recurrence rate of 4.2% and a death rate of <1%; however, the data remain unclear, especially regarding the lesion size, due to the small size of samples in MIS-RT studies (12). However, after the publication of the LACC trial, the minimal invasive approach for young patients with cervical cancer is not recommended, and each treatment should be tailored (10, 13).

Less Radical Fertility-Sparing Surgery in Early-Stage Cervical Cancer

Although the gold standard for early-stage cervical cancer is radical hysterectomy, related complications regarding principally to the parametrial resection lead to decreased quality of life. The main negative effects include sexual dysfunction, bladder and rectal dysfunction, and fistula formation (14, 15). Furthermore, the rates of parametrial spread have been observed to be <1% in a selected group of patients with negative pelvic lymph nodes, tumor stage IB1, and a depth of invasion of <10 mm (16). The combination of increased possibility for severe complications with findings that show no significant improvement in oncologic outcomes from radical procedures has led to a more conservative surgical approach for early-stage disease. The less radical surgical management includes cervical conization and simple trachelectomy with sentinel lymph node mapping or complete pelvic lymphadenectomy.

Cervical conization refers to the excision of a cylindrical wedge or a cone-shaped resection of the uterine cervix, including the transformation zone. The NCCN guidelines recommend cone biopsy with negative margins in stage IA1 with negative LVSI; however, for stage IA1 with positive LVSI or stage IA2, the recommendations are cone biopsy or radical trachelectomy with pelvic node dissection or the consideration of sentinel lymph node mapping. The management of St IA1 with cone biopsy has been found to have no difference in the 5-year survival rate compared to hysterectomy (17). Simple trachelectomy is defined as the removal of the cervix, leaving the adjacent paracervical tissues *in situ*. It should be combined with lymph node dissection or sentinel lymph node mapping, and it serves as an alternative option for lesions <2 cm and negative pelvic lymph nodes (18).

Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy and Conservative Management of Early-Stage Cervical Cancer

Neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) poses an alternative approach for bulky tumors larger than 2 cm (19, 20). The philosophy of NACT is to reduce the tumor volume, which could lead to an FSS. There are little data in the literature showing the effectiveness of NACT followed by radical hysterectomy in reducing the size of the lesion in cervical cancer. The responses to NACT can be defined using the pathological outcomes on the trachelectomy\cone specimen as complete response, optimal partial response in cases where residual disease is less than 3 mm, and suboptimal partial response for those with residual disease greater than 3 mm. Globally, the response rate to NACT is reported to be approximately 70%, but the implementation of NACT includes some vague and confusing issues (21). Although NACT can potentially convert a positive node to a negative and proceed with the FSS option, outcomes from studies show a higher recurrence rate and identify node positivity as a negative prognostic factor for FSS (22).

Postsurgical Follow-Up

Patients after any kind of FSS are arbitrarily counseled for a postponement of pregnancy for 6–12 months to allow the detection of possible recurrent or persistent disease (8). Follow-up visits consist of pelvic examination, Pap smear, and colposcopy, combined with pelvic imaging through transvaginal sonography or MRI. The intervals of surveillance are intended to be every 3–6 months for the first 2–3 years and thereafter every 6–12 months for >2–4 years after surgery due to late recurrences (12). Finally, clearance hysterectomy is not recommended after the completion of childbearing (8).

DISCUSSION

Since 2014, the NCCN has recommended radical trachelectomy as a fertility-sparing treatment for young women with earlystage cervical cancer. Eligible patients for such surgical procedures are women younger than 40 years of age, with stage IA1 with LVSI, IA2, IB1 with lesions <2 cm, and some selected FIGO stage IB2 patients. Also, as an indicator for FSS, selection should be considered the infertility history and the adequate evaluation by a fertility specialist (23, 24). This workup can be completed within 8 weeks from the diagnosis, without impacting survival (25). Negative factors for FSS are bulky tumors (<4 cm) and lesions with high-risk histologic types, such as neuroendocrine tumors and gastric-type adenocarcinomas, due to the highest relapse rates. However, few data are currently available in the literature on bulky St IB2 tumors and the safety of FSS. Therefore, tailored treatment is necessary for these patients (6, 26).

Preoperative evaluation should concern tumor size and depth of invasion. The combination of clinical examination with pelvic magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is integral, prior to FSS, in order to estimate the tumor size, depth of invasion, and extension of the disease. Also, the addition of computerized tomography (CT) with or without the use of positron emission tomography (PET/CT) can help to evaluate lymphadenopathy and distant metastasis (2, 3). In some cases, cervical conization is used in addition to punch biopsies because it offers a more valuable and accurate estimation of histology, lymphovascular space invasion (LVSI), and tumor size (27).

Regarding the surgical approach, the open abdominal incision can be avoided by VRT, leading to lower complication rates. On the other hand, there is a need for specialized surgical skills in vaginal radical procedures, which are not universally common. Moreover, the use of VRT in tumors greater than 2 cm is limited due to the compromised oncologic outcomes and increased complication rates (18, 28).

The oncologic outcomes of VRT for early-stage cervical cancer in recurrences, 5-year recurrence-free survival, and 5-year overall survival are comparable to that of radical hysterectomy, with optimal prognosis, while death from the disease is 1.7% (12). The reported combined pregnancy rate is 49.4%, and complications from the procedure itself, such as cervical stenosis or female sexual dysfunction, may lead to reduced fertilization (29). For these reasons, preoperative counseling is necessary. Pregnancies after VRT are considered high-risk for preterm delivery and preterm premature rupture of membranes. Therefore, these women should be advised for extensive prenatal monitoring and planned delivery through a cesarean section. The live birth rate in these pregnancies is approximately 65% (12).

When referring to the abdominal approach, multiple studies have shown a greater recurrence rate for lesions >2 cm with ART, but death from disease is reported at <2% (9, 12). The pregnancy rate ranges between 13% and 67%, the combined live birth rate is 44%, and the severe preterm delivery occurs in up to 50% of the total pregnancies, establishing them as high-risk pregnancies (9).

Patients that are candidates for the laparoscopic or robotic approach should be counseled about the advantages compared with open surgery and for the possible higher recurrence risk and the unclear data regarding the MIS-RT approach. Patients with tumors >2 cm are not candidates for the MIS-RT FSS approach. The combined pregnancy rate is 36.2% and the live

REFERENCES

- 1. SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975–2018 [Internet]. 2021. Available from: https://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2018/ (accessed November, 2020).
- 2. Wethington SL, Sonoda Y, Park KJ, Alektiar KM, Tew WP, Chi DS, et al. Expanding the indications for radical trachelectomy: a report on 29

birth rate is 57.1%, which are comparable to those for radical procedures (9).

Furthermore, regarding NACT, a phase II multicentric study demonstrated that weekly topotecan, with cisplatin, is effective with acceptable toxicity (30). After the implementation of NACT in patients with complete or optimal partial response, large conization or simple trachelectomy seems to be an adequate option since the probability of occult parametrial disease is very low, while in suboptimal chemo responders, radical surgery is mandatory (21).

Patients should be informed about the possible adverse effects of chemotherapy agents on ovarian reserve and the possible premature menopause. However, favorable obstetrical outcomes that have resulted from NACT are related to fewer gonadotoxic agents and shorter chemotherapy cycles (19).

The hot topic of current treatment is, however, less radical surgery. Studies have shown that the risk of recurrence after conization or simple trachelectomy with lymph node sampling is approximately 4.2%, and the significance of lymph node evaluation is essential for the maintenance of oncologic safety after the nonradical fertility-sparing management. The pregnancy outcomes are superior to radical management, with a pregnancy rate of 55.1% and a live birth rate of 71% (12, 31).

Results of the ConCerv trial demonstrated that less radical surgery with conization and simple hysterectomy is a feasible approach for patients with early-stage cervical cancer. The positive lymph nodes rate was 5%, and the rate of residual disease in the hysterectomy group, following conization, was 2.5% (32). Provided that the ongoing SHAPE and GOG-278 prospective trials will present similar results to the ConCerv trial, we will have a more thorough opinion regarding the potential change in the standard of care for early-stage cervical cancer.

To conclude, fertility-sparing treatment for young patients with early-stage cervical cancer demands a tailored approach that is ever-evolving. New trends lead to less radical surgery, targeting optimizing the quality of life without compromising oncologic safety. If the results of the much-anticipated SHAPE and GOG-278 clinical trials match those of the ConCerv trial, then perhaps we will witness a paradigm shift to a more conservative surgical approach for these patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CP and A-MK wrote the manuscript, NT and CP edited the manuscript, and DH and AR approved the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

patients with stage IB1 tumors measuring 2 to 4 centimeters. Int J Gynecol Cancer. (2013) 23(6):1092-8. doi: 10.1097/IGC.0b013e318296034e

Hauerberg L, Hogdall C, Loft A, Ottosen C, Bjoern SF, Mosgaard BJ, et al. Vaginal radical trachelectomy for early stage cervical cancer. Results of the Danish National Single Center Strategy. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2015) 138(2): 304–10. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2015.05.016

- Marchiole P, Benchaib M, Buenerd A, Lazlo E, Dargent D, Mathevet P. Oncological safety of laparoscopic-assisted vaginal radical trachelectomy (LARVT or Dargent's operation): a comparative study with laparoscopicassisted vaginal radical hysterectomy (LARVH). *Gynecol Oncol.* (2007) 106(1): 132–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2007.03.009
- Sonoda Y, Chi DS, Carter J, Barakat RR, Abu-Rustum NR. Initial experience with Dargent's operation: the radical vaginal trachelectomy. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2008) 108(1):214–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2007.09.028
- Zusterzeel PL, Pol FJ, van Ham M, Zweemer RP, Bekkers RL, Massuger LF, et al. Vaginal radical trachelectomy for early-stage cervical cancer: increased recurrence risk for adenocarcinoma. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. (2016) 26(7): 1293–9. doi: 10.1097/IGC.000000000000763
- Rizzuto I, MacNab W, Nicholson R, Nalam M, Rufford B. Less radical surgery for women with early stage cervical cancer: our experience on radical vaginal trachelectomy and laparoscopic pelvic lymphadenectomy. *Gynecol Oncol Rep.* (2019) 28:65–7. doi: 10.1016/j.gore.2019.03.005
- Cibula D, Potter R, Planchamp F, Avall-Lundqvist E, Fischerova D, Haie Meder C, et al. The European Society of Gynaecological Oncology/ European Society for Radiotherapy and Oncology/European Society of Pathology guidelines for the management of patients with cervical cancer. *Radiother Oncol.* (2018) 127(3):404–16. doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2018.03.003
- Lintner B, Saso S, Tarnai L, Novak Z, Palfalvi L, Del Priore G, et al. Use of abdominal radical trachelectomy to treat cervical cancer greater than 2 cm in diameter. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. (2013) 23(6):1065–70. doi: 10.1097/IGC. 0b013e318295fb41
- Ramirez PT, Frumovitz M, Pareja R, Lopez A, Vieira M, Ribeiro R, et al. Minimally invasive versus abdominal radical hysterectomy for cervical cancer. N Engl J Med. (2018) 379(20):1895–904. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1806395
- Vieira MA, Rendon GJ, Munsell M, Echeverri L, Frumovitz M, Schmeler KM, et al. Radical trachelectomy in early-stage cervical cancer: a comparison of laparotomy and minimally invasive surgery. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2015) 138(3): 585–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2015.06.023
- Kuznicki ML, Chambers LM, Morton M, Son J, Horowitz M, Crean-Tate KK, et al. Fertility-sparing surgery for early-stage cervical cancer: a systematic review of the literature. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol.* (2021) 28(3):513–26 e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2020.10.013
- Vergote I, Magrina JF, Zanagnolo V, Magtibay PM, Butler K, Gil-Moreno A, et al. The LACC trial and minimally invasive surgery in cervical cancer. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. (2020) 27(2):462–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2019.09.767
- Bergmark K, Avall-Lundqvist E, Dickman PW, Henningsohn L, Steineck G. Lymphedema and bladder-emptying difficulties after radical hysterectomy for early cervical cancer and among population controls. *Int J Gynecol Cancer.* (2006) 16(3):1130–9. doi: 10.1136/ijgc-00009577-200605000-00028
- Frumovitz M, Sun CC, Schover LR, Munsell MF, Jhingran A, Wharton JT, et al. Quality of life and sexual functioning in cervical cancer survivors. *J Clin Oncol.* (2005) 23(30):7428–36. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2004.00.3996
- Palaia I, Musella A, Bellati F, Marchetti C, Di Donato V, Perniola G, et al. Simple extrafascial trachelectomy and pelvic bilateral lymphadenectomy in early stage cervical cancer. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2012) 126(1):78–81. doi: 10. 1016/j.ygyno.2012.04.004
- Wright JD, Nathavithrana R, Lewin SN, Sun X, Deutsch I, Burke WM, et al. Fertility-conserving surgery for young women with stage IA1 cervical cancer: safety and access. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2010) 115(3):585–90. doi: 10.1097/AOG. 0b013e3181d06b68
- Plante M, Renaud MC, Sebastianelli A, Gregoire J. Simple vaginal trachelectomy: a valuable fertility-preserving option in early-stage cervical cancer. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. (2017) 27(5):1021–7. doi: 10.1097/IGC. 000000000000989
- Di Donato V, Caruso G, Sassu CM, Santangelo G, Bogani G, Plotti F, et al. Fertility-sparing surgery for women with stage I cervical cancer of 4 cm or larger: a systematic review. J Gynecol Oncol. (2021) 32(6):e83. doi: 10.3802/ jgo.2021.32.e83
- 20. Tesfai FM, Kroep JR, Gaarenstroom K, De Kroon C, Van Loenhout R, Smit V, et al. Fertility-sparing surgery of cervical cancer >2 cm (International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics 2009 stage IB1-IIA) after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Int J Gynecol Cancer.* (2020) 30(1):115–21. doi: 10.1136/ijgc-2019-000647

- Plante M. Bulky early-stage cervical cancer (2-4 cm lesions): upfront radical trachelectomy or neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by fertility-preserving surgery: which is the best option? *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. (2015) 25(4):722–8. doi: 10.1097/IGC.00000000000410
- Vercellino GF, Piek JM, Schneider A, Kohler C, Mangler M, Speiser D, et al. Laparoscopic lymph node dissection should be performed before fertility preserving treatment of patients with cervical cancer. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2012) 126(3):325–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2012.05.033
- Guo J, Zhang Y, Chen X, Sun L, Chen K, Sheng X. Surgical and oncologic outcomes of radical abdominal trachelectomy versus hysterectomy for stage IA2-IB1 cervical cancer. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. (2019) 26(3):484–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2018.06.006
- Li X, Li J, Jiang Z, Xia L, Ju X, Chen X, et al. Oncological results and recurrent risk factors following abdominal radical trachelectomy: an updated series of 333 patients. *BJOG*. (2019) 126(9):1169–74. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.15621
- Nanthamongkolkul K, Hanprasertpong J. Longer waiting times for early stage cervical cancer patients undergoing radical hysterectomy are associated with diminished long-term overall survival. J Gynecol Oncol. (2015) 26(4):262–9. doi: 10.3802/jgo.2015.26.4.262
- Rychlik A, Querleu D, Bidzinski M. Fertility sparing treatment in gastric-type endocervical carcinoma. *Cancers (Basel)*. (2021) 13(20):5177. doi: 10.3390/ cancers13205177
- 27. Uzan C, Gouy S, Desroque D, Pomel C, Duvillard P, Balleyguier C, et al. Analysis of a continuous series of 34 young patients with early-stage cervical cancer selected for a vaginal radical trachelectomy: should "staging" conization be systematically performed before this procedure? *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. (2013) 23(2):331–6. doi: 10.1097/IGC.0b013e31827ef759
- Balaya V, Lecuru F, Magaud L, Ngo C, Huchon C, Bats AS, et al. Perioperative morbidity of radical trachelectomy with lymphadenectomy in early-stage cervical cancer: a French prospective multicentric cohort. *J Gynecol Oncol.* (2019) 30(3):e34. doi: 10.3802/jgo.2019.30.e34
- Froeding LP, Ottosen C, Rung-Hansen H, Svane D, Mosgaard BJ, Jensen PT. Sexual functioning and vaginal changes after radical vaginal trachelectomy in early stage cervical cancer patients: a longitudinal study. J Sex Med. (2014) 11(2):595–604. doi: 10.1111/jsm.12399
- 30. Zanaboni F, Grijuela B, Giudici S, Cormio G, Babilonti L, Ghezzi F, et al. Weekly topotecan and cisplatin (TOPOCIS) as neo-adjuvant chemotherapy for locally-advanced squamous cervical carcinoma: results of a phase II multicentric study. *Eur J Cancer*. (2013) 49(5):1065–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca. 2012.10.008
- 31. Theofanakis C, Haidopoulos D, Thomakos N, Rodolakis A, Fotopoulou C. Minimizing fertility-sparing treatment for low volume early stage cervical cancer; is less the (r)evolution? *Anticancer Res.* (2020) 40(7):3651–8. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.14354
- 32. Schmeler KM, Pareja R, Lopez Blanco A, Humberto Fregnani J, Lopes A, Perrotta M, et al. ConCerv: a prospective trial of conservative surgery for low-risk early-stage cervical cancer. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. (2021) 31(10): 1317–25. doi: 10.1136/ijgc-2021-002921

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Theofanakis, Koulakmanidis, Prodromidou, Haidopoulos, Rodolakis and Thomakos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Laparoscopic Lateral Suspension (LLS) for the Treatment of Apical Prolapse: A New Gold Standard?

Patrick Dällenbach*

Department of Pediatrics Gynecology and Obstetrics, Division of Gynecology, Urogynecology unit, Geneva University Hospitals, Geneva, Switzerland

Nowadays, the gold standard to treat apical pelvic organ prolapse (POP) is laparoscopic sacrocolpopexy (LSCP). However, LSCP is a difficult procedure associated with rare but potentially severe complications. Promontory dissection may expose to potential life-threatening intraoperative vascular injuries, and sacral roots or hypogastric nerve damage. There are also a few case reports of spondylodiscitis with consecutive lumbar vertebra bone erosion. Laparoscopic lateral suspension (LLS) with mesh is an alternative technique for apical POP repair. It lowers perioperative risks by avoiding sacral promontory preparation. Recent studies show similar anatomical and functional outcomes to LSCP, with the advantage of better preserving the vaginal axis. Moreover, LLS is well suited for hysteropexy which is important as an increasing number of women prefer uterine preservation during POP surgery. In this article, we discuss both techniques, and we share our opinion on a novel perspective in the treatment of apical POP with uterine preservation.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rafał Watrowski, University of Freiburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Guglielmo Stabile, Institute for Maternal and Child Health Burlo Garofolo (IRCCS), Italy Adi Y. Weintraub, Soroka Medical Center, Israel Magdalena Emilia Grzybowska, Medical University of Gdansk, Poland

> *Correspondence: Patrick Dällenbach Patrick.Dallenbach@hcuge.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetrics and Gynecological Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Surgery

> Received: 17 March 2022 Accepted: 26 April 2022 Published: 12 May 2022

Citation:

Dällenbach P (2022) Laparoscopic Lateral Suspension (LLS) for the Treatment of Apical Prolapse: A New Gold Standard? Front. Surg. 9:898392. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2022.898392 Keywords: pelvic organ prolapse, apical prolapse, sacrocolpopexy, lateral suspension, hysteropexy

INTRODUCTION

Pelvic organ prolapse (POP) is a condition affecting up to 40% of an outpatient setting and causes impaired body image and decreased quality of life (1–3). Most women suffer in silence and shame (4, 5). By the age of 85, 19% of women will have undergone a surgical cure for their prolapse (6). POP are hernias of the pelvic floor involving three compartments: anterior-related to the bladder, apical-related to the uterus, and posterior-related to the rectum. The gold standard to treat apical prolapse is sacrocolopopexy (SCP) (7). However, SCP is a difficult procedure with potentially severe complications. Promontory dissection exposes to potential life-threatening vascular injuries, spondylodiscitis, hypogastric nerve impairment (resulting in bladder or bowel dysfunction), or sacral roots damage (8–11). This step of the procedure may be challenging, especially in obese patients. Therefore, there is interest for alternative pelvic floor repair procedures which would

Abbreviations: POP, pelvic organ prolapse; ASCP, Abdominal sacralcolpopexy; LSCP, Laparoscopic sacrocolpopexy; RALSCP, Robotically assisted laparoscopic sacrocolpopexy; LLS, Laparoscopic lateral suspension; RALLS, Robotically assisted laparoscopic lateral suspension; SUI, Stress urinary incontinence.

guarantee the same anatomical and functional outcomes with less perioperative risks. Laparoscopic lateral suspension (LLS) with mesh is an alternative approach for apical POP repair avoiding promontory dissection, thereby lowering perioperative risks. Recent series show comparable results (**Table 1**). Moreover, LLS is well suited for hysteropexy which is an important feature as many women prefer uterine preservation during POP surgery (12, 13). The objective of this article is to show the advantages of LLS over LSCP and set a new gold standard for apical POP with uterine preservation.

BACKGROUND AND HISTORY

Sacrocolpopexy (SCP)

Historically, SCP was developed to treat recurrent vaginal vault prolapse. It was performed abdominally at the end of the 1950s, adapted to laparoscopy in the 1990s, and performed with robotic assistance since 2004 (14–17). It is nowadays the gold standard to treat apical POP (7). In case of apical POP in women without previous hysterectomy, surgeons often performed the procedure with associated hysterectomy. Studies showed that the rate of mesh exposure was nearly six times lower when the uterus was preserved, and progressively, total hysterectomy was replaced by supracervical hysterectomy to reduce this risk (18). To meet the expectations of women who increasingly prefer to keep their uterus, a symbol of femininity (12, 13), the technique started to be performed with uterine preservation (19).

Evolution of the Technique

Sacral colpopexy was initially developed by interposing a prosthesis between the apex of the vagina and the sacrum. In order to maintain a physiological orientation of the vagina, some authors have fixed the prosthesis directly at level S3-S4 (20). After experiencing threatening haemorrhages, the prostheses were fixed a little higher on the promontory, where

| TABLE 1 | LLS and | RALLS | main | studies. |
|---------|---------|-------|------|----------|
|---------|---------|-------|------|----------|

the middle sacral artery was well identified and damage avoided (8). In order to limit the risk of the prosthesis detaching from the vagina, it was gradually placed along the entire length of the rectovaginal septum and the vesico-vaginal septum to limit the risk of subsequent cystocele (9). Author agrees that today, in the event of significant prolapse of anterior and posterior compartment, a mesh should be placed deep in the vesico-vaginal and in the recto-vaginal septum until the levator ani muscles (21). However, there remains a certain heterogeneity of practices in various centres.

Outcomes and Safety of SCP

Results of SCP, whether abdominal, laparoscopic, or robotic, all show very high cure rate during short term follow-up with good results at a longer term. In a large review dated 2004 including abdominal (ASCP) and laparoscopic sacrocolpopexy (LSCP), Ingrid Nygaard described success rates between 78 and 100 percent for follow-ups from six months to three years (9). In a more recent review of LSCP and robotic sacrocolpoepxy (RSCP), Richard Lee described success rates of around 90% for both techniques with an average follow-up of 26 months (22). In a review analysing the longer-term results of ASCP, Ingrid Nygaard described reduced success rates of around 70%-75% with a 7-year follow-up (23). Sarlos and al in a LSCP study including 101 patients described an objective success rate at one year of 98% which decreased to 83.8% at five years (24, 25). The 2016 Cochrane review describes better results for SCP compared to the vaginal route in the treatment of apical prolapse. However, the differences in absolute values are relatively modest, since success rates for SCP are estimated at 93% in the short term, versus 86% for vaginal procedures. Reoperation for recurrence was of 4% in SCP and only between 5 and 18 percent for vaginal procedures (7).

Although LSCP has been performed for nearly 30 years and is considered the gold standard for apical prolapse, it remains less widely used than the vaginal route (26). The main reason for

| Study | Ν | Mean follow-up (months) | Objective ^a success rate (%) | Subjective ^b success rate (%) | Reoperation for recurrence (%) | Laparotomy conversion (%) | Perioperative complications (%) | Mesh erosion (%) |
|--|-----|-------------------------------|---|--|--------------------------------|------------------------------|---------------------------------|------------------------|
| LLS Dubuisson 2011 | 218 | 17.8 | 86.2 | NA | 4.6 | 0 | 1.8 ^c | 6 |
| LLS Martinello 2019 | 48 | 24 | >80 | NA | 6.3 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Chatzioannidou 2021 standardized LLS | 88 | 40 | 87.3 | 96.2 | 5.1 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Simoncini et al. 2016- RALLS (82) | 40 | 1 | 100 | NA | NA | 0 | 0 | 2.5 |
| LLS (60) and RALLS (60) Mereu et al 2019 | 120 | 24 | 94.2 | 89 | 6.4 | 0 | 0 | 0.8 |
| RALLS Dällenbach et al 2021 | 54 | 33 | 83.3 | 77.2 | 9.3 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

^aObjective success defined by the anatomical correction of the prolapse during the clinical examination.

^bSubjective success defined as the patient satisfaction measured by PGI-I (Patient Global Impression of Improvement for urogenital prolapse).

^c1 bladder perforation, 1 abdominal wall hematoma, 1 bowel obstruction due to trocar hernia, one umbilical trocar hernia.

disaffection for this technique is the perceived difficulty of this procedure compared to the ease of vaginal techniques. Claerhout in Belgium evaluated the learning curve of LSCP and found that it takes around 60 procedures to ensure anatomical success and limit the risk of complications. Operative time decreased rapidly after the first 30 procedures and reached a steady state after 90 procedures (27). Alex Mowat described in an article that a structured program could reduce this learning curve (28). The advent of robotic surgery facilitated the realization of laparoscopic sutures, and could help reduce this learning curve. However, studies on this subject report relatively similar numbers of 50 to 75 operations required before mastering the technique (29, 30).

Complications of SCP are rare but potentially severe. Ingrid Nygaard's comprehensive review described not only bladder (3.1%) and rectal wounds (1.6%) but above all haemorrhages or transfusions in 4.4% of cases. Mesh erosion rate was 3.4%. This review included many open ASCP which could explain the increase in bleeding complications (9). More recent studies using the minimally invasive route described, in addition to bladder and rectal wounds and haemorrhagic complications, the conversion to laparotomy in nearly 4% of cases (24, 31). Reoperation rate for mesh erosion were also close to 3% in these studies. In one of the largest series of LSCP published today comprising 1,238 procedures, the Clermont-Ferrand team described 2.7% of severe complications including hematomas, peritonitis and complications related to prostheses (32).

In Richard Lee's review, there was also a case of spondylodiscitis, which is a complication occasionally described after SCP and which can be destructive to the surrounding bone (22). There are several case reports of this complication in the medical literature (33, 34). In the same review by Lee, the rate of de novo stress urinary incontinence was between 0 and 30% after SCP, averaging around 9% (22).

Laparoscopic Lateral Suspension (LLS)

LLS is not a new technique. It was developed by laparotomy in the 1960s by Kapandji (35), and like SCP was adapted to laparoscopy by Cornier in 1994 (36), then developed by Dubuisson in the 2000s (37-41). The technique was first performed with robotic assistance in 2014 by ourselves, with improvements authorized by robotic ergonomics allowing less scars compared to the laparoscopic technique (42). Since the first description of the technique, the difference with SCP lies in the fact that LLS was a prosthetic suspension of the uterine isthmus (hysteropexy) in contrast to the suspension of the vaginal vault for SCP. However, in the first Dubuisson series, subtotal hysterectomy was also frequently performed. In a French randomized trial on 50 patients published in 1983 by comparing ASCP with lateral suspension according to Kapandji's technique, the results obtained for lateral suspension were better in terms of prolapse and urinary incontinence (43). Paradoxically, SCP has been the preferred and most widespread technique over the past 40 years and is accepted as the gold standard today.

Evolution of the Technique

Kapandji's initial description was a colpo-isthmo-cystopexy using a transverse band that he attached to the aponeurosis of the oblique muscle opposite the anterior and superior iliac spine. The strip used was 2 cm wide Crinoruban[®] (polyamide) or Teflon[®] (Polytetrafluoroethylene), or sometimes skin, and was attached to the posterior wall of the bladder, to the vaginal fascia, and to the uterine isthmus by Tergal[®] (polyester) threads. The fixation of the aponeurosis of the oblique muscle was done by a point of Catgut n°1. The technique associated a section and tensioning of the round ligaments plicated forwards, and a Douglassoraphy with plication of the uterosacral ligaments (35).

In 1994, Cornier and Madelanat described for the first time a laparoscopic hysteropexy according to Kapandji in 7 patients (36). The technique was similar, but with fixation of a Mersilene[®] (polyester) prosthesis comprising of a 2×2 cm anterior tongue, and 3 cm wide and 10 cm long lateral arms, fixed to the iliac spines. Unlike Kapandji's original technique, they simply fixed the strip to the vagina and the uterine isthmus, without fixing it to the posterior wall of the bladder. The anterior tongue was secured by transfixing vaginal stitches tied in the vagina with nylon 00. It was also associated with a Douglassoraphy and plication of the uterosacral ligaments by a vaginal transfixing thread of nylon 00. The prosthesis was then fixed by a nylon thread to the aponeurosis of the oblique muscle at the level of the iliac spines.

The technique was then further developed and described by Dubuisson by modifying the shape of the prostheses with an anterior tab 6 cm long and 4 cm wide, attached to the vesicovaginal fascia, with fixation entirely by laparoscopy. He initially used two lateral suspension prostheses, one anterior and one posterior, with two pairs of lateral arms fixed a little higher, about 5 cm above the anterior superior iliac spine, giving an even more physiological vaginal angulation (37, 38). He then developed the technique by placing a single anterior prosthesis with a 6×4 tab in the vesico-uterine space, associated either with a posterior prolapse cure by the vaginal route (posterior colporraphy), or with the placement of a posterior prosthetic tension free patch (39-41). He initially fixed the lateral arms to the abdominal fascia and progressively abandoned it creating a tension free sub peritoneal passage. He fixed the lateral arms to the peritoneum with absorbable tackers (AbsorbaTack[™]fixation Minneapolis,MN, device by Medtronic, USA). He subsequently used a prosthesis of polyester (Mersilene® by Ethicon), then of polypropylene (Gynecare Gynemesh®) and finally developed a prosthesis of macroporous polypropyene covered with titanium (TiLOOP^{\circ} "Prof Dubuisson"^{\circ} 9× 41.5 cm, 65 g/m², pfm medical, Germany). The prosthesis was fixed to the vesico-vaginal fascia and to the isthmus uteri with non-absorbable threads of Ethibon * (polyester sutures) and sometimes with synthetic glues (Glubran®). We have further standardized the Dubuisson technique and published two series of laparoscopic and robotic techniques using only absorbable sutures to fix the Ti-LOOP prosthesis to the



vaginal fascia (**Figure 1**). In case of associated rectocele, the treatment of the posterior compartment was done vaginally only when required (44, 45). These further developments reduced the vaginal mesh erosion rate to zero without impairing effectiveness. We believe it is unnecessary to use non absorbable polyester sutures to fix the mesh to the vesico-vaginal fascia as the subsequent fibrosis fixes the mesh. Non absorbable sutures may sometimes transfix the vaginal wall and carry bacteria to the mesh material enhancing the risk of erosion.

Outcomes and Safety of LLS

Results of the main studies are summarized in Table 1. They are very similar to the ones of SCP, with around 90% of success at short term follow-up and over 80% of success at 3 years. Thus far longer follow-up studies are unavailable to compare with SCP. An important feature in all the LLS series is the absence of major perioperative complications, in particular no severe bleeding and no conversion to laparotomy. In our experience, the learning curve is also shorter compared to SCP, but we have no comparative study to prove it. We believe 10-15 cases to be enough for mastering the technique for a trained surgeon in laparoscopic suturing. Some protagonists of SCP criticize the prosthetic lateral suspension for not treating the posterior compartment well. However, the global rate of recurrence is very low and comparable to SCP. We agree that in women for whom the posterior compartment was not treated initially, some developed posterior rectocele. However, this number remains low, and few women (between 2 and 7%) required a second surgery for this problem (39, 44–46). The mesh erosion rates were around 5% for Dubuisson's initial series, and between 0 and 2.5% in recent reports, which is comparable to the ones described for SCP (**Table 1**). As previously stated, it was zero in studies using Ti-LOOP* macroporous titanised mesh with only absorbable sutures to fix the mesh on the vesico-vaginal fascia. We have analysed risk factors for mesh erosion in a previous study, and showed the importance of customizing use of mesh material (47). As discussed, avoiding non absorbable suture to fix the mesh to the vesico-vaginal fascia may also decrease the risk of mesh erosion by limiting access of bacteria to the prosthesis.

POP DISTRIBUTION

Prolapse surgery should ideally correct all the pelvic floor defects. Many surgeons have aimed to do this, but in reality pelvic floor alterations are so complex that most of our surgical techniques are defect compensation approaches rather than actual repair. Knowing the distribution of defects can allow us to better adapt our repair techniques. We have shown in a series of 326 patients representing of a cohort of 1,811 women consulting for surgical correction of genital prolapse over a period of 20 years, that the anterior compartment is most frequently affected and often in association with the middle compartment (48). In this study we also showed that a previous hysterectomy increased the risk of developing posterior compartment prolapse. This is probably due to the section of the uterosacral ligaments (De Lancey level 1) which participates in the support of the posterior compartment (49). Other authors found similar distributions between the compartments, with a higher proportion of prolapse of the posterior compartment (50). If we consider their populations in detail, we realize that a significant proportion of women had undergone prior hysterectomy, which is consistent with our observations. If the defects of the anterior and apical compartment are most often associated, prosthetic lateral suspension is the treatment of choice as it concomitantly compensates for these two defects.

HYSTEROPRESERVATION DURING POP SURGERY

Historically, POP surgical procedure with native tissue repair included a vaginal hysterectomy. As we have seen before, SCP was initially validated for vaginal vault prolapse. Most SCP procedures nowadays still include a hysterectomy, and supracervical hysterectomy is preferred to limit the risk of erosion. However, an increasing number of women prefer uterine preservation as it represents a symbol of femininity (12, 13). Moreover, hysterectomy is probably an unnecessary act during POP surgery, and may increase the risk of posterior compartment prolapse (48). Recent studies also show a benefit of uterine preservation by reducing operating time and blood loss without affecting outcome (18, 51). Another advantage of hysteropreservation is to avoid uterine morcellation which lengthens the operating time, increases the risks, and can in some cases disseminate abnormal uterine tissue. Therefore, we believe hysterectomy should only be performed in case of genital prolapse with an underlying uterine pathology. LLS was developed for hysteropexy and is well suited for uterine conservation. The lateral suspension follows the natural ligament suspension of the uterus thus providing a more physiological orientation of the vaginal axis (52) than during SCP, which deflects it to the right and a little backwards.

POSTERIOR MESH AND RISK OF EROSION

The Cochrane review shows that the posterior compartment is best treated vaginally without a prosthesis with a simple posterior colporraphy (53). We showed previously that introduction of prosthetic material in the rectovaginal septum causes a fivefold risk of prosthetic erosion (47). This observation was corroborate by other authors (38, 54). We hypothesized that it might be due to a different vascular supply of the posterior vaginal wall, or due to dissection close to the vaginal wall thereby avoiding rectal injury. These elements have to be taken into account when performing a pelvic floor repair and choosing SCP, during which an anterior and posterior prosthesis is generally placed. From our point of view, it would suffice to place an anterior mesh and treat the posterior compartment vaginally, which is the case with LLS in most centres nowadays. As discussed, genital prolapses most often affect the anterior and middle compartment, so it does not seem necessary to concomitantly treat the posterior compartment. Some authors will argue that a preventive correction is useful to limit the risk of recurrence. This must be weighed against the risk of complications related to prostheses in the posterior compartment. If the rectocele is not clinically significant, we choose a shared decision approach to correct it later only if it becomes symptomatic. Indeed, cures for rectoceles can sometimes be accompanied by dyspareunia (55). Since prolapse surgery is above all a functional surgery, the goal is to relieve the symptoms without necessarily seeking for perfect anatomical correction. In our experience, the need to correct a rectocele at a later stage remains infrequent and if required, the cure provided by the vaginal route is simple and rapid.

PELVIC ORGAN PROLAPSE (POP) AND STRESS URINARY INCONTINENCE (SUI)

A similar reasoning applies with regard to urinary incontinence, where we only simultaneously correct if clinically relevant. In the event of occult urodynamic SUI, or mild SUI, we discuss a twostage intervention with the patient if necessary. In our experience, with good pre-operative explanations, this strategy is well understood and approved. We believe this saves patients from unnecessary gests and their possible complications. An increasing number of urogynecologists are adopting this strategy with regard to occult urinary stress incontinence, whereby they treat as a second step after repairing the prolapse only if it becomes symptomatic (56, 57). It is sustained by our recent studies. In our RALLS study, 60% of women with preoperative SUI were cured after the operation and there were only 5.9% of de novo SUI. In our LLS series, 40% were cured with the POP surgery alone (44). In other LLS series, de novo SUI was only 2.5% (46) and 3.7% (39), which is also less than the average 9% described for SCP (22).

ROBOTIC ASSISTANCE

Both techniques (SCP and LLS) have been reproduced by robotassisted laparoscopy. Robotic assistance offers many advantages, in particular 3D vision which allows for clean bloodless dissections. Several reviews show similar results of RSCP in relation to laparoscopy or the abdominal route (58). For lateral suspension, there is still little literature, but it is also very promising. The robot makes it possible to correct ergonomic problems and has enabled us to reduce the number of scars. It allowed us to place the working trocars very laterally, enabling removal of the prosthetic braces by the same route, rather than by additional supra-iliac incision, such as in the standard laparoscopic technique described by Dubuisson. The preliminary results do not show any difference with the laparoscopic approach encouraging the use of the robot in this restorative surgery (45, 46, 59).

DISCUSSION

Although we contrast SCP and LLS in this article, we believe these two POP repair techniques are complementary. Based on our expertise, prosthetic lateral suspension adapts particularly well to hysteropexy, and SCP remains a better option for vaginal vault prolapses. It is important that pelvic floor surgeons master both techniques in order to be able to manage any situation for best patient outcome. In this way, they may better adapt and reduce the perioperative risks when faced with an intraoperative difficulty. For example, dissection of the promontory can be challenging in obese patients, or in the case of vascular anatomical variations, and lateral suspension may represent a safer alternative. On the other hand, a high adhesion status in the right iliac fossa after appendicitis may require dangerous adhesiolysis to access the lateral strip, and SCP may in this case provide lower risks.

However, we attempt to demonstrate in this article that prosthetic lateral suspension is safer and easier to perform, with some advantages over SCP which can be summarized as follows.

Firstly, it avoids the risks associated with the dissection of the promontory, especially the risk of haemorrhage and of spondylodiscitis which can threaten patient prognosis. Contrary to SCP series, which report a 4% risk of laparotomy, there was no such occurrence available in all of the LLS series. Moreover, the learning curve for this technique also seems faster to us.

LLS is also particularly suitable for uterine preservation, which is chosen by many women today. Hysteropexy by prosthetic lateral suspension follows the anatomical attachments of the uterus and makes it possible to preserve

REFERENCES

- Swift SE. The distribution of pelvic organ support in a population of female subjects seen for routine gynecologic health care. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2000) 183(2):277–85. doi: 10.1067/mob.2000.107583
- Hendrix SL, Clark A, Nygaard I, Aragaki A, Barnabei V, McTiernan A. Pelvic organ prolapse in the Women's Health Initiative: gravity and gravidity. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2002) 186(6):1160–6. doi: 10.1067/mob.2002.123819
- Samuelsson EC, Victor FT, Tibblin G, Svardsudd KF. Signs of genital prolapse in a Swedish population of women 20 to 59 years of age and possible related factors. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (1999) 180(2 Pt 1):299–305. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(99)70203-6
- Dunivan GC, Anger JT, Alas A, Wieslander C, Sevilla C, Chu S, et al. Pelvic organ prolapse: a disease of silence and shame. *Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg.* (2014) 20(6):322–7. doi: 10.1097/SPV.00000000000077
- Jelovsek JE, Barber MD. Women seeking treatment for advanced pelvic organ prolapse have decreased body image and quality of life. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2006) 194(5):1455–61. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2006.01.060
- Smith FJ, Holman CD, Moorin RE, Tsokos N. Lifetime risk of undergoing surgery for pelvic organ prolapse. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2010) 116(5):1096–100. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181f73729

the vaginal axis (52). This can help maintain a normal suburethral support and potentially prevent the risk of de novo urinary incontinence, which seems less with LLS than with SCP. This remains however to be demonstrated by comparative studies.

As the distribution of genital prolapse mainly affects the anterior and middle compartments, LLS is perfectly suited to this anatomical situation. The absence of a mesh in the posterior compartment may reduce the risk of subsequent mesh erosion, thereby avoiding a number of unnecessary operations and their possible complications. Since the posterior compartment is best treated vaginally, it can be treated by standard vaginal surgery during the same operation if there is a significant rectocele, or later, if it appears secondarily at postoperative follow-up. Avoiding prophylactic posterior colporraphy may reduce the risk of dyspareunia.

In conclusion, for all these robust reasons stated above, we believe LLS should be upgraded and considered as the new gold standard for treating apical POP with a healthy uterus.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PD is the only author of this manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Dr. M Francis for correcting English language in the article.

- Maher C, Feiner B, Baessler K, Christmann-Schmid C, Haya N, Brown J. Surgery for women with apical vaginal prolapse. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2016) 10:CD012376. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD012376
- Sutton GP, Addison WA, Livengood 3rd. CH Hammond CB. Lifethreatening hemorrhage complicating sacral colpopexy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. (1981) 140(7):836–7. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(81)90750-X
- Nygaard IE, McCreery R, Brubaker L, Connolly A, Cundiff G, Weber AM, et al. Abdominal sacrocolpopexy: a comprehensive review. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2004) 104(4):805–23. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000139514.90897.07
- Giraudet G, Protat A, Cosson M. The anatomy of the sacral promontory: how to avoid complications of the sacrocolpopexy procedure. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2018) 218(4):457.e1-e3. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2017.12. 236
- Muller PC, Berchtold C, Kuemmerli C, Ruzza C, Z'Graggen K, Steinemann DC. Spondylodiscitis after minimally invasive recto- and colpo-sacropexy: report of a case and systematic review of the literature. J Minim Access Surg. (2020) 16(1):5–12. doi: 10.4103/jmas.JMAS_235_18
- Korbly NB, Kassis NC, Good MM, Richardson ML, Book NM, Yip S, et al. Patient preferences for uterine preservation and hysterectomy in women with pelvic organ prolapse. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2013) 209(5):470.e1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2013.08.003

- Frick AC, Barber MD, Paraiso MF, Ridgeway B, Jelovsek JE, Walters MD. Attitudes toward hysterectomy in women undergoing evaluation for uterovaginal prolapse. *Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg.* (2013) 19 (2):103–9. doi: 10.1097/SPV.0b013e31827d8667
- Huguier J, Scali P. [Posterior suspension of the genital axis on the lumbosacral disk in the treatment of uterine prolapse]. *Presse Med.* (1958) 66(35):781–4.
- Lane FE. Repair of posthysterectomy vaginal-vault prolapse. Obstet Gynecol. (1962) 20:72–7. doi: 10.1097/00006250-196207000-00009
- Nezhat CH, Nezhat F, Nezhat C. Laparoscopic sacral colpopexy for vaginal vault prolapse. Obstet Gynecol. (1994) 84(5):885–8.
- Di Marco DS, Chow GK, Gettman MT, Elliott DS. Robotic-assisted laparoscopic sacrocolpopexy for treatment of vaginal vault prolapse. Urology. (2004) 63(2):373–6. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2003.09.033
- Gutman R, Maher C. Uterine-preserving POP surgery. Int Urogynecol J. (2013) 24(11):1803–13. doi: 10.1007/s00192-013-2171-2
- Price N, Slack A, Jackson SR. Laparoscopic hysteropexy: the initial results of a uterine suspension procedure for uterovaginal prolapse. *BJOG*. (2010) 117 (1):62–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2009.02396.x
- Birnbaum SJ. Rational therapy for the prolapsed vagina. Am J Obstet Gynecol. (1973) 115(3):411–9. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(73)90599-1
- Gabriel B, Nassif J, Barata S, Wattiez A. Twenty years of laparoscopic sacrocolpopexy: where are we now? *Int Urogynecol J.* (2011) 22(9):1165–9. doi: 10.1007/s00192-011-1361-z
- Lee RK, Mottrie A, Payne CK, Waltregny D. A review of the current status of laparoscopic and robot-assisted sacrocolpopexy for pelvic organ prolapse. *Eur Urol.* (2014) 65(6):1128–37. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2013.12.064
- Nygaard I, Brubaker L, Zyczynski HM, Cundiff G, Richter H, Gantz M, et al. Long-term outcomes following abdominal sacrocolpopexy for pelvic organ prolapse. JAMA. (2013) 309(19):2016–24. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.4919
- 24. Sarlos D, Brandner S, Kots L, Gygax N, Schaer G. Laparoscopic sacrocolpopexy for uterine and post-hysterectomy prolapse: anatomical results, quality of life and perioperative outcome-a prospective study with 101 cases. *Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct.* (2008) 19(10):1415–22. doi: 10.1007/s00192-008-0657-0
- Sarlos D, Kots L, Ryu G, Schaer G. Long-term follow-up of laparoscopic sacrocolpopexy. Int Urogynecol J. (2014) 25(9):1207–12. doi: 10.1007/ s00192-014-2369-y
- Subramanian D, Szwarcensztein K, Mauskopf JA, Slack MC. Rate, type, and cost of pelvic organ prolapse surgery in Germany, France, and England. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2009) 144(2):177–81. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2009.03.004
- 27. Claerhout F, Roovers JP, Lewi P, Verguts J, De Ridder D, Deprest J. Implementation of laparoscopic sacrocolpopexy-a single centre's experience. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. (2009) 20(9):1119–25. doi: 10.1007/s00192-009-0914-x
- Mowat A, Maher C, Pelecanos A. Can the Learning Curve of Laparoscopic Sacrocolpopexy Be Reduced by a Structured Training Program? *Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg.* (2018) 24(4):272–6. doi: 10.1097/SPV.000000000000441
- Lenihan Jr JP., Kovanda C, Seshadri-Kreaden U. What is the learning curve for robotic assisted gynecologic surgery? J Minim Invasive Gynecol. (2008) 15 (5):589–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2008.06.015
- 30. van Zanten F, Schraffordt Koops SE, Pasker-De Jong PCM, Lenters E, Schreuder HWR. Learning curve of robot-assisted laparoscopic sacrocolpo (recto)pexy: a cumulative sum analysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol. (2019) 221 (5):483.e1-e11. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2019.05.037
- Vandendriessche D, Sussfeld J, Giraudet G, Lucot JP, Behal H, Cosson M. Complications and reoperations after laparoscopic sacrocolpopexy with a mean follow-up of 4 years. *Int Urogynecol J.* (2017) 28(2):231–9. doi: 10. 1007/s00192-016-3093-6
- 32. Campos S, Billone V, Durao M, Beguinot M, Bourdel N, Rabischong B, et al. Complications of laparoscopic sacropexy: as harmless as they seem? Acta Obstet Ginecol Port. (2016) 10(1):21–31.
- Luzarraga Aznar A, Mora Hervas I, Magret Descamps E, Rovira Negre R. Laparoscopic Colposacropexy Mesh Excision Secondary to Severe Spondylodiscitis. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. (2021) 28(11):1816. doi: 10. 1016/j.jmig.2021.08.029
- 34. Propst K, Tunitsky-Bitton E, Schimpf MO, Ridgeway B. Pyogenic spondylodiscitis associated with sacral colpopexy and rectopexy: report of

two cases and evaluation of the literature. Int Urogynecol J. (2014) 25 (1):21-31. doi: 10.1007/s00192-013-2138-3

- Kapandji M. [Treatment of urogenital prolapse by colpo-isthmo-cystopexy with transverse strip and crossed, multiple layer, ligamento-peritoneal douglasorrhaphy]. Ann Chir. (1967) 21(5):321–8.
- Cornier E, Madelenat P. [The M. Kapandji hysteropexy: a laparoscopic technic and preliminary results]. J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod (Paris). (1994) 23(4):378–85.
- Dubuisson JB, Chapron C. Laparoscopic iliac colpo-uterine suspension for the treatment of genital prolapse using two meshes: a new operative laparoscopic approach. *Journal of Gynecologic Surgery*. (1998) 14(4):153–9. doi: 10.1089/gyn.1998.14.153
- Dubuisson JB, Chapron C, Fauconnier A, Babaki-Fard K, Dendrinos S. Laparoscopic management of genital prolapse: lateral suspension using two meshes. *Gynaecological Endoscopy*. (2000) 9(6):363–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2508.2000.00368.x
- Dubuisson JB, Eperon I, Jacob S, Dubuisson J, Wenger JM, Dallenbach P, et al. [Laparoscopic repair of pelvic organ prolapse by lateral suspension with mesh: a continuous series of 218 patients]. *Gynecol Obstet Fertil.* (2011) 39(3):127–31. doi: 10.1016/j.gyobfe.2010.12.007
- Dubuisson JB, Jacob S, Chapron C, Fauconnier A, Decuypere F, Dubernard G. [Laparoscopic treatment of genital prolapse: lateral utero-vaginal suspension with 2 meshes. Results of a series of 47 patients]. *Gynecol Obstet Fertil.* (2002) 30(2):114–20. doi: 10.1016/S1297-9589(01)00277-6
- Dubuisson JB, Yaron M, Wenger JM, Jacob S. Treatment of genital prolapse by laparoscopic lateral suspension using mesh: a series of 73 patients. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. (2008) 15(1):49–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2007.11.003
- Dallenbach P, Veit N. Robotically assisted laparoscopic repair of anterior vaginal wall and uterine prolapse by lateral suspension with mesh: initial experience and video. *Int Urogynecol J.* (2014) 25(8):1137–9. doi: 10.1007/ s00192-014-2349-2
- 43. Hoff J, Manelfe A, Portet R, Giraud C. Promontofixation ou suspension par bandelette transversale? Etude comparée de ces deux techniques dans le traitment des prolapsus génitaux. Ann Chir. (1984) 38(5):363–7.
- Chatziioannidou K, Veit-Rubin N, Dallenbach P. Laparoscopic lateral suspension for anterior and apical prolapse: a prospective cohort with standardized technique. *Int Urogynecol J.* (2021) 33(2):319–25 doi: 10.1007/ s00192-021-04784-0.
- 45. Dallenbach P, Alec M, Boulvain M, Shabanov S. Outcomes of robotically assisted laparoscopic lateral suspension (RALLS) with mesh for anterior and apical prolapse. J Robot Surg. (2021) 16(2):287–94. doi: 10.1007/ s11701-021-01234-3
- 46. Mereu L, Tateo S, D'Alterio MN, Russo E, Giannini A, Mannella P, et al. Laparoscopic lateral suspension with mesh for apical and anterior pelvic organ prolapse: a prospective double center study. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2020) 244:16–20. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2019.10.026
- 47. Dallenbach P, De Oliveira SS, Marras S, Boulvain M. Incidence and risk factors for mesh erosion after laparoscopic repair of pelvic organ prolapse by lateral suspension with mesh. *Int Urogynecol J.* (2016) 27(9):1347–55. doi: 10.1007/s00192-016-2974-z
- Payebto Zoua E, Boulvain M, Dallenbach P. The distribution of pelvic organ support defects in women undergoing pelvic organ prolapse surgery and compartment specific risk factors. *Int Urogynecol J.* (2021) 33(2):405–409. doi: 10.1007/s00192-021-04826-7
- Wei JT, De Lancey JO. Functional anatomy of the pelvic floor and lower urinary tract. *Clin Obstet Gynecol.* (2004) 47(1):3–17. doi: 10.1097/ 00003081-200403000-00004
- Ellerkmann RM, Cundiff GW, Melick CF, Nihira MA, Leffler K, Bent AE. Correlation of symptoms with location and severity of pelvic organ prolapse. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2001) 185(6):1332–7; discussion 7-8. doi: 10.1067/mob.2001.119078
- 51. Meriwether KV, Antosh DD, Olivera CK, Kim-Fine S, Balk EM, Murphy M, et al. Uterine preservation vs hysterectomy in pelvic organ prolapse surgery: a systematic review with meta-analysis and clinical practice guidelines. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2018) 219(2):129–46.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2018.01.018
- Pulatoglu C, Yassa M, Turan G, Turkyilmaz D, Dogan O. Vaginal axis on MRI after laparoscopic lateral mesh suspension surgery: a controlled study. *Int Urogynecol J.* (2021) 32(4):851–8. doi: 10.1007/s00192-020-04596-8

- Mowat A, Maher D, Baessler K, Christmann-Schmid C, Haya N, Maher C. Surgery for women with posterior compartment prolapse. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2018) 3:CD012975.
- 54. Giraudet G, Cosson M. Intra and post operative complications of sacrocolpopexy/management and prevention [Power point presentation]. Nice: IUGA 40th annual meeting; 2015 [Diapositive10/29]. Available from: http://2015.iuga.org/wp-content/uploads/workshops/ws13_cosson.pdf.
- Espuna M, Puig M, Carmona F. De novo dyspareunia after pelvic organ prolapse surgery. *Gynecol Surg.* (2010) 7:217–25. doi: 10.1007/s10397-010-0553-8
- Christmann-Schmid C, Bruehlmann E, Koerting I, Krebs J. Laparoscopic sacrocolpopexy with or without midurethral sling insertion: is a two- step approach justified? A prospective study. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2018) 229:98–102. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2018.08.009
- 57. Schierlitz L, Dwyer PL, Rosamilia A, De Souza A, Murray C, Thomas E, et al. Pelvic organ prolapse surgery with and without tension-free vaginal tape in women with occult or asymptomatic urodynamic stress incontinence: a randomised controlled trial. *Int Urogynecol J.* (2014) 25(1):33–40. doi: 10. 1007/s00192-013-2150-7
- Costantini E, Brubaker L, Cervigni M, Matthews CA, O'Reilly BA, Rizk D, et al. Sacrocolpopexy for pelvic organ prolapse: evidence-based review and recommendations. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol.* (2016) 205:60–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2016.07.503

 Simoncini T, Russo E, Mannella P, Giannini A. Robotic-assisted apical lateral suspension for advanced pelvic organ prolapse: surgical technique and perioperative outcomes. *Surg Endosc.* (2016) 30(12):5647–55. doi: 10.1007/ s00464-016-4924-8

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Dällenbach. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Nomogram Predicting Lymph Node Metastasis in the Early-Stage Cervical Cancer

Shimin Yang^{1†}, Chunli Liu^{2†}, Chunbo Li^{1*} and Keqin Hua^{1*}

¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ² Shanghai Universal Medical Imaging Diagnostic Center, Shanghai, China

Background: Accurately predicting the risk level of lymph node metastasis is essential for the treatment of patients with early cervical cancer. The purpose of this study is to construct a new nomogram based on 2-deoxy-2-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography/computed tomography (¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT) and clinical characteristics to assess early-stage cervical cancer patients' risk of lymph node metastasis.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rafał Watrowski, University of Freiburg, Germany

Reviewed by:

Benedetta Guani, Fribourg Cantonal Hospital, Switzerland Yfat Kadan, Ha'Emek Medical Center, Israel

*Correspondence:

Chunbo Li lichunbo142@126.com Keqin Hua huakeqinjiaoshou@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Obstetrics and Gynecological Surgery, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 31 January 2022 Accepted: 09 June 2022 Published: 30 June 2022

Citation:

Yang S, Liu C, Li C and Hua K (2022) Nomogram Predicting Lymph Node Metastasis in the Early-Stage Cervical Cancer. Front. Med. 9:866283. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.866283 **Materials and Methods:** From January 2019 to November 2020, the records of 234 patients with stage IA-IIA [International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) 2018] cervical cancer who had undergone PET/CT examination within 30 days before surgery were retrospectively reviewed. A nomogram to predict the risk of lymph node metastasis was constructed based on it. The nomogram was developed and validated by internal and external validation. The validation cohorts included 191 cervical cancer patients from December 2020 to October 2021.

Results: Four factors [squamous cell carcinoma associated antigen (SCCA), maximum standardized uptake value of lymph node (nSUVmax), uterine corpus invasion in PET/CT and tumor size in PET/CT] were finally determined as the predictors of the nomogram. At the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve cohort was 0.926 in the primary and was 0.897 in the validation cohort. The calibration curve shows good agreement between the predicted probability and the actual probability. The decision curve analysis showed the clinical utility of the nomogram.

Conclusion: We had established and verified a simple and effective nomogram, which can be used to predict the lymph node metastasis of cervical cancer patients before surgery.

Keywords: cervical cancer, nomogram, lymph node metastasis, PET/CT, decision curve analysis

INTRODUCTION

Cervical cancer (CC) is one of the most common gynecological malignancies worldwide. It is estimated that an estimated 569,847 new cases and 311,365 related deaths were diagnosed each year. More than 85% of these cases occur in developing countries (1). The treatment of choice depended on cancer stage. The hallmark of a good staging system is the ability to define anatomical

extent of disease and differentiate survival outcomes. Cancer staging is an evolving process that responds to developments in technology that improves diagnosis and treatment. Since 2018, the presence of pelvic or para-aortic lymph node metastases assigns the case to stage IIIC regardless of other findings for CC instead of clinical assessment of staging (2). Because information on the lymph node (LN) status is necessary to determine the treatment strategy, an accurate and effective preoperative diagnostic approach for lymph node (LN) metastases is urgently required.

Imaging techniques, including magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), computed tomography (CT), positron emission tomography (PET), positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET/CT), positron emission tomography/magnetic resonance imaging (PET/MRI), and trans-vaginal ultrasound, can detect lymph node involvement with CC, facilitate determination of spread to the retroperitoneum. However, the sensitivity of these methods for detecting nodal metastasis varies from 60 to 88% (3-5). The role of PET/CT to detect lymph nodal metastasis has been studied in various centers and the results are unsatisfactory with a sensitivity of 48.6-82% (6, 7). Several studies have added radiomics for LN metastasis prediction in CC. In early phase, Kim et al. constructed a nomogram based on age, tumor size by MRI, LN metastasis on PET/CT, and their model could accurately identify patients at low risk of lymph node metastasis (LNM). Similarity, Liu et al. developed a non-invasive and convenient nomogram based on two parameters [squamous cell carcinoma associated antigen (SCCA), maximum standardized uptake value of lymph node (nSUVmax)] for preoperative identification of pelvic lymph node metastasis in early-stage CC and reported a high sensitivity and specificity compared to single parameter (6, 8). Both the nSUVmax of PET/CT and SCCA is very important to confirm the diagnose of CC and the positive lymph node. However, their nomogram just focused on the 2-deoxy-2-fluorodeoxyglucose (18F-FDG) uptake of lymph node (LN), ignoring the size of tumor and the spread of tumor. It is known that endometrial cancer is associated with the high risk of lymphatic metastasis. Previous studies also reported that patients with uterine invasion of CC exhibited high rates of pelvic lymph node metastasis, increased risk of distant metastasis, high rates of recurrence, and poor survival. Recently, Turan et al. reported that patients with uterine invasion had a higher rate of para-aortic lymph node metastasis than patients without uterine invasion (35 vs. 22.8%, p = 0.046) (9). Thus, we believed that uterine invasion and size defined by PET/CT is very important to evaluate the pelvic lymph node metastasis.

In this study, we aimed to explore a simple and effective predictive model based on four factors (SCCA, nSUVmax, uterine corpus invasion, and tumor size in PET/CT) for LN metastasis of clinically early-stage cervical cancer. We defined a low-risk group of patients who would least benefit from a surgical treatment and pointed out a guideline in the decision for the need for adjuvant radiotherapy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

In this retrospective study, we enrolled 425 cervical cancer patients who underwent surgery at the Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital of Fudan University from January 2019 to October 2021. All patients were diagnosed with early-stage CC [IA1 with lymph-vascular space invasion (LVSI), IA2-IIA2]. A total of 234 patients from January 2019 to November 2020 and 191 patients from December 2020 to October 2021 was assigned into primary and external validation cohorts, respectively. All private information is strictly secret and only used for the purpose of this research. The clinical and pathological staging of cervical cancer is based on FIGO 2018 guidelines. The ethics committee of Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital of Fudan University approved this study.

The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) patients had undergone PET/CT in the 30 days before surgery; (2) patients underwent pelvic lymph node dissection; (3) patients had no chemotherapy or radiation before PET/CT examination. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) patients were lack of postoperative pathological report; (2) pathological report suggested that patients had cervical carcinoma *in situ*; (3) Patients undergone hysterectomy or pelvic lymph node dissection before PET/CT examination.

Patients performed pelvic lymph node dissection, and the bilateral common iliac lymph nodes as well as obviously enlarged lymph nodes were used for frozen section during the operation. Not all patients performed para-aortic lymph node dissection. Patient characteristics including age, FIGO stage, number of pregnancies, preoperative SCCA level, menopause, pathological LN metastasis, and PET/CT image date were obtained from the medical records.

Positron Emission Tomography/Computed Tomography Examination

All patients received PET/CT with an integrated PET/CT scanner (Biograph-64, Siemens, Munich, Germany) within the 30 days before surgery. The patients fasted for at least 6 h before the PET/CT examination. The blood glucose level of patients was controlled at <10.0 mmol/L before 2-deoxy-2-fluorodeoxyglucose (18 F-FDG) injection (2.9–5.6 MBq/kg body weight). Before scanning, patients were required to be quiet for approximately 1 h after urination. Images were included CT and PET scans from the base of the skull to the mid-thigh level. Then, the attenuation correction of CT data was used to reconstruct PET image data sets and the images were displayed on a workstation.

The most common regions of lymph node metastases for cervical cancer patients are pelvic lymph nodes, para-aortic lymph nodes, and inguinal lymph nodes. Two experienced nuclear medicine physicians analyzed and interpreted all PET/CT parameters independently, such as LN in PET/CT, LN diameter, and maximum standardized uptake value (SUVmax). They were blindly without knowledge of patient's information, medical data, and pathological results. We reported the lymph node status and uterine corpus invasion in PET/CT scan (the invasion of tumor beyond the internal cervical orifice in PET/CT), and measured the maximum standardized uptake value of tumor (tSUVmax),

maximum standardized uptake value of lymph node (nSUVmax), tumor size and LN diameter in PET/CT, and also calculated the value of nSUVmax/tSUVmax. The pathological results served as the gold standard for comparison with the PET/CT results. Pathological stage follows FIGO 2018 guidelines.

TABLE 1 | Patient characteristics and univariate analysis of the risk of lymph node metastasis.

| Variable | Prima | ary cohort ($n = 234$) | Validation cohort ($n = 191$) | | | |
|--|---------------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------|---------|
| | Node negative $(n = 173)$ | Node positive $(n = 61)$ | Р | Node negative $(n = 131)$ | Node positive $(n = 60)$ | Ρ |
| Age (year), n (%) | | | 0.346 | | | 0.008 |
| <50 | 83 (48.0) | 25 (41.0) | | 64 (48.9) | 17 (28.3) | |
| ≥50 | 90 (52.0) | 36 (59.0) | | 67 (51.1) | 43 (71.7) | |
| Menopause, n (%) | | | 0.257 | | | 0.027 |
| No | 94 (54.3) | 28 (45.9) | | 75 (57.3) | 24 (40.0) | |
| Yes | 79 (45.7) | 33 (54.1) | | 56 (42.7) | 36 (60.0) | |
| Number of pregnancies, n (%) | | | 0.442 | | | 0.635 |
| <3 | 75 (43.4) | 23 (37.7) | | 52 (39.7) | 26 (43.3) | |
| ≥3 | 98 (56.6) | 38 (62.3) | | 79 (60.3) | 34 (56.7) | |
| Hypertension, n (%) | | | 0.185 | | | 0.500 |
| No | 151 (87.3) | 49 (80.3) | | 112 (85.5) | 49 (81.7) | |
| Yes | 22 (12.7) | 12 (19.7) | | 19 (14.5) | 11 (18.3) | |
| Diabetes, n (%) | | | >1.000 | | | > 1.000 |
| No | 167 (96.5) | 59 (96.7) | | 122 (93.1) | 56 (93.3) | |
| Yes | 6 (3.5) | 2 (3.3) | | 9 (6.9) | 4 (6.7) | |
| Tumor histology, n (%) | | | 0.099 | | | 0.337 |
| Squamous cell cancer | 138 (79.8) | 54 (88.6) | | 108 (82.4) | 52 (86.7) | |
| Adenocarcinoma | 22 (12.7) | 6 (9.8) | | 13 (10.0) | 2 (3.3) | |
| Adenosequamous cancer | 9 (5.2) | 0 (0.0) | | 7 (5.3) | 5 (8.3) | |
| Others | 4 (2.3) | 1 (1.6) | | 3 (2.3) | 1 (1.7) | |
| 2018 FIGO stage, n (%) | | | < 0.001 | | | <0.001 |
| IA | 9 (5.2) | 0 (0.0) | | 9 (6.9) | 0 (0.0) | |
| IB | 136 (78.6) | 27 (44.3) | | 77 (58.8) | 26 (43.3) | |
| IIA | 28 (16.2) | 34 (55.7) | | 45 (34.3) | 34 (56.7) | |
| SCCA (ng/mL) | , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , | х <i>у</i> | | × , | × , | |
| Mean (SD) | 1.9 (2.4) | 8.8 (13.1) | < 0.001 | 2.8 (3.4) | 12.5 (15.3) | <0.001 |
| Tumor size in PET/CT (cm) | | | | | | |
| Mean (SD) | 2.2 (1.7) | 4.1 (1.9) | < 0.001 | 2.7 (1.5) | 4.3 (1.7) | <0.001 |
| LN diameter in PET/CT (cm) | | | | | | |
| Mean (SD) | 0.4 (0.4) | 1.0 (0.7) | < 0.001 | 0.3 (0.4) | 1.2 (1.1) | <0.001 |
| tSUVmax | | | | | | |
| Mean (SD) | 8.3 (6.1) | 11.2 (6.3) | < 0.001 | 8.6 (6.3) | 11.7 (5.1) | <0.001 |
| nSUVmax | | | | | | |
| Mean (SD) | 0.7 (1.1) | 4.5 (4.5) | < 0.001 | 0.6 (1.1) | 4.6 (5.4) | <0.001 |
| nSUVmax/tSUVmax | | | | | | |
| Mean (SD) | 0.1 (0.2) | 0.5 (0.5) | < 0.001 | 0.1 (0.2) | 0.4 (0.6) | <0.001 |
| Uterine corpus invasion in PET/CT, n (%) | | | <0.001 | | | <0.001 |
| No | 163 (94.2) | 34 (55.7) | | 114 (87.0) | 27 (45.0) | |
| Yes | 10 (5.8) | 27 (44.3) | | 17 (13.0) | 33 (55.0) | |
| LN status in PET/CT, n (%) | × , | . , | <0.001 | | . , | <0.001 |
| No | 132 (76.3) | 12 (19.7) | | 105 (80.2) | 18 (30.0) | |
| Yes | 41 (23.7) | 49 (80.3) | | 26 (19.8) | 42 (70.0) | |

LN, lymph node; SCCA, squamous cell carcinoma associated antigen; SUVmax, maximum standardized uptake value; nSUVmax, SUVmax of lymph node; tSUVmax, SUVmax of tumor; PET/CT, positron emission tomography/computed tomography.

Statistical Analysis

IBM SPSS (version 23.0; IBM, Inc., Chicago, IL, United States) and R (version 4.1.2¹; The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) were used for statistical analysis. Continuous variables were described as mean with standard deviation (SD), and categorical variables were described as frequencies with percentages. Univariate and multivariable analysis were performed, and used an odds ratio (OR) with a 95% confidence interval (CI) to estimate correlation strength. Predictors (P < 0.05) in univariate analysis were entered a multivariable regression analysis. A nomogram capable of predicting the risk of lymph node metastasis in cervical cancer patients was then developed based on the multivariable regression analysis.

The performance of the nomogram was assessed internally and externally by discrimination and calibration. The discriminative ability of the nomogram in predicting lymph node metastasis was evaluated by calculating the area under the receiver operating characteristics curve (AUC-ROC). The calibration of the model was performed by comparing the predicted and actual probability of lymph node metastasis. The internal verification of the nomogram used 1,000 bootstrap resample in the primary cohort, and the model was applied to the validation cohort for external validation. In addition, decision curve (DCA) was used to determine the clinical usefulness of the nomogram by calculating the net benefits at different threshold probabilities in the primary data set (10). We also analyzed the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV), negative predictive value (NPV), and accuracy of PET/CT alone and nomogram in each cohort. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

The characteristics of the enrolled patients are shown in Table 1. All patients underwent pelvic lymph node dissection during operation. In the primary cohort, LN metastasis was pathologically confirmed after surgery in 61 cases and 173 cases had no LN metastasis. In a survey, 49 (80.3%) patients with positive LN metastasis in PET/CT and pathological results. The mean (SD) of preoperative SCCA was 1.9 (2.4) ng/ml in patients with negative LN metastasis and the positive patients was 8.8 (13.1) ng/ml. The mean (SD) of nSUVmax of positive or negative LN metastasis was 4.5 (4.5) and 0.7 (1.1). In a survey, 27 (44.3%) cases with LN metastasis had uterine corpus invasion in PET/CT scan. According to the pathological reports, there were 60 cases with LN metastasis and 131 cases without LN metastasis among the validation cohort. Among them, 105 (80.2%) PET/CT scannegative patients had no LN metastasis, while 42 (70.0%) PET/CT scan-positive patients were confirmed LN metastasis.

According to the results of our final analysis in primary cohort (**Table 2**), SCCA (OR: 1.134; 95% CI: 1.005–1.278; P = 0.041), nSUVmax (OR: 1.890; 95% CI: 1.075–3.323; P = 0.027), uterine corpus invasion in PET/CT (OR: 4.229; 95% CI: 1.269–14.092;

¹http://www.r-project.org

P = 0.019), and tumor size in PET/CT (OR: 1.420; 95% CI: 1.049– 1.921; P = 0.023) are independent hazardous factors for lymph node metastasis in patients with cervical cancer. Ultimately, SCCA, nSUVmax, uterine corpus invasion, and tumor size in PET/CT were chosen to construct a nomogram to predict the lymph node metastasis in cervical cancer patients (**Figure 1**).

The area under the receiver operating characteristic curve was 0.926 (95% CI: 0.890–0.962) in the primary cohort and was 0.897 (95% CI: 0.843–0.951) in the validation cohort, indicating that the nomogram has robust discrimination (**Figures 2A,B**). And calibration curves of the nomogram showed that the excellent concordance between the probability predicted by the nomogram and the actual probability in both groups (**Figures 2C,D**). The decision curve showed that if the threshold probability of a patient is between 5 and 90%, using the nomogram to predict lymph node metastasis can add more benefit than either the treat-all or treat-none scheme (**Figure 3**).

The sensitivity, specificity, PPV, NPV, and accuracy of PET/CT for LN metastasis were 75.2, 78.0, 57.6, 88.8, and 77.2, respectively. Compared with PET/CT alone, our nomogram showed risen sensitivity (82.0, 78.3%), specificity (89.0 and 90.8%), PPV (72.5 and 79.7%), NPV (93.3 and 90.2%), and accuracy (87.2 and 86.9%) in both the primary and validation cohorts (**Table 3**).

DISCUSSION

In 2018, the presence of lymphatic involvement is included in FIGO staging system because of the prognostic importance of lymphatic involvement. In addition, except for the clinical examination, imaging and pathologic findings could be used to determine the stage of the disease. Thus, the precise evaluation of lymph node is very key to guide the treatment and adjuvant

TABLE 2 The variables identified by logistic multivariable regression analysis.

| Variable | ſ | is | |
|-----------------------------------|-------|--------------|-------|
| | OR | 95% CI | Р |
| Age (year) | | | 0.520 |
| <50 | F | Reference | |
| ≥50 | 1.662 | 0.353-7.827 | |
| Menopause | | | 0.300 |
| No | F | Reference | |
| Yes | 0.444 | 0.096-2.064 | |
| SCCA (ng/mL) | 1.134 | 1.005-1.278 | 0.041 |
| Tumor size in PET/CT (cm) | 1.420 | 1.049-1.921 | 0.023 |
| LN diameter in PET/CT (cm) | 1.183 | 0.360-3.886 | 0.781 |
| tSUVmax | 0.950 | 0.850-1.062 | 0.366 |
| nSUVmax | 1.890 | 1.075-3.323 | 0.027 |
| nSUVmax/tSUVmax | 1.725 | 0.051–58.313 | 0.762 |
| Uterine corpus invasion in PET/CT | | | 0.019 |
| No | F | Reference | |
| Yes | 4.229 | 1.269-14.092 | |

OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval.



radiotherapy postoperatively. In the present study, based on the univariate and multivariate analysis, we identified four factors that were associated with prediction of lymph node metastasis: SCCA, nSUVmax, uterine corpus invasion, and tumor size in PET/CT. Then, we constructed a nomogram to predict the risk of nodal metastasis in early-stage CC. The model presented high specificity and sensitivity.

In recent years, MRI is increasingly applied for the pretreatment evaluation of local spread of cervical cancer, on the basis of its excellent soft-tissue contrast and high spatial resolution. Radiomics involves the process of the conversion of medical images into high-dimensional, mineable data via the automated high-throughput extraction of quantitative imaging features. Hou et al. developed and validated a multiparametric MRI-based radiomics model to evaluate the tumor size, local invasive and LN status in patients with CC (11). Similarly, Xiao et al. constructed a nomogram that incorporates the radiomics signature, MRI-reported LN status, and FIGO stage to predict LN status in patients with early-stage CC (12). Although these studies based on MRI parameters showed favorable discriminative ability for tumor size and local invasive, it presents limitation for evaluating the status of LN metastasis. ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT is a functional method based on the increased glucose metabolism of cancer cells, and can often detect tiny metastatic lymph nodes ranging in size from 5 to 9 mm (13). PET/CT has a unique role

in differentiating benign and malignant tumors, evaluating the efficacy of radiotherapy and chemotherapy and the prediction of tumor metastasis, etc. (14, 15). Previous studies had shown that PET/CT was superior to CT and MRI in the evaluation of retroperitoneal lymph nodes, whose sensitivity and specificity was 48.6-82% and 75-98%, respectively (6, 7, 16). However, PET/CT also has some shortcomings. Some benign lymph node diseases can also display high levels of ¹⁸F-FDG uptake, making it misdiagnosed as a metastatic lymph node and increasing the false positive rate (17). Therefore, many studies aiming to improve the accurate of PET/CT was performed. For example, Wang et al. developed a nomogram to predict para-aortic lymph node (PALN) involvement. However, all stages of cervical cancer were included. PALN was only assessed by imaging (PET/CT or CT). As previously stated, assessment of node involvement by imaging is far from perfect. A Korean team developed a score based on tumor size and PALN involvement on PET/CT with patient who underwent para-aortic lymphadenectomy in locally advanced cervical cancer (LACC). Likewise, the main limitation of this study is that patients with LACC did not undergo surgical staging. These two studies may have under-estimated the FIGO stage and may have included patients with an initially advanced cervical cancer. Recently, Liu et al. constructed a noninvasive and convenient nomogram based on two parameters (SCCA and nSUVmax) for preoperative evaluation of pelvic



Calibration curves of the nomogram for the primary (C) and validation cohort (D).

lymph node metastasis in early-stage CC and confirmed it had good diagnostic ability (18–20). However, this study focused on only quantitative parameters of PET/CT (SUVmax), ignoring the effect of tumor size and the uterine corpus invasion.



In early staging systems, patients with a lesion confined to the cervix but extending to the endometrium were regarded as Stage II. However, uterine corpus invasion was disregarded over time. In the 2018 FIGO cervical cancer staging system, uterine corpus invasion has also been disregarded as in previous FIGO staging systems. According to this stage system, involvement of adjacent anatomic structures is associated with a worse prognosis and alters the FIGO stage, except uterine corpus invasion

TABLE 3 | Accuracy values of PET/CT and nomogram in LN metastasis.

| Variable | PET/CT | Nomogram | | |
|---------------------------------|--------|-----------------|----------------------|--|
| | | Training cohort | Validation cohort | |
| Sensitivity | 75.2% | 82.0% | 78.3% | |
| Specificity | 78.0% | 89.0% | 90.8% | |
| Positive predictive value (PPV) | 57.6% | 72.5% | 79.7% | |
| Negative predictive value (NPV) | 88.8% | 93.3% | 90.2% | |
| Accuracy | 77.2% | 87.2% | 86.9% | |

PET/CT, positron emission tomography/computed tomography; LN, lymph node.

(9). However, previous studies have shown uterine corpus invasion was an independent risk factor for the prognosis of early cervical cancer patients and verified that it had an association to pelvic lymph node metastasis in CC (21). Hope et al. demonstrated that uterine corpus invasion of cervical cancer was correlated with the presence of lymph node metastasis in PET/CT (22). Uterine corpus invasion in MRI was independently associated with lymph node metastasis (23). It is known that paraaortic/pelvic nodal metastasis is very important in the decision for the need for adjuvant radiotherapy, the need for para-aortic lymphadenectomy or the border of the radiotherapy field. By evaluating the uterine invasion, it is easy to predicate the paraaortic/pelvic nodal metastasis. Another predictive factor of our nomogram was tumor size in PET/CT. Evaluation by PET/CT is part of the standard local-regional spread assessment for CC. Various studies have demonstrated that tumor size is an independent prognostic factor in determining the stage of CC. Togami et al. showed that tumor size greater than 2 cm was independently associated with LNM. Similarly, Han et al. proven tumor size > 3.5 cm was connected with para-aortic lymph node metastasis. This was confirmed by Kim et al., who found that a larger tumor size assessed by MRI was an independent predictor of nodal metastases (8, 24-26). In the present study, our univariate and multivariate analysis also confirmed that uterine corpus invasion and tumor size in PET/CT were associated with high risk of LN metastasis in CC. This may explain the high rate of distant metastasis in endothelial cancer or the presence of uterine invasion of CC in patients treated with radiotherapy (27). Our study confirmed that tumor histology was not associated with LNM, which was consistent with previous reports (8). Recently, a large-scale retrospective study also demonstrated that histological type was not an independent risk factor for LNM in cervical cancer (28). Thus, our nomogram included the corpus invasion and tumor size in PET/CT. When we constructed the nomogram based the four factors, we found our nomogram had higher sensitivity (82.0%, 78.3% vs. 70.5%, 73.1%) and NPV (93.3%, 90.2% vs. 72.3%, 73.1%) and accuracy (87.2%, 86.9% vs. 81.3%, 79.2%) than previous, whether in the primary cohort or the validation cohort (6). Meanwhile, the calibration curve and DCA showed that the nomogram has good clinical applicability.

Our study still had some limitations. First of all, although internal and external verification certificated the model fits well, the retrospective nature may therefore introduce the possibility of some inevitable recall bias. Prospective studies are still required to confirm the predictive value of the model in a clinical practice environment. In addition, in spite of all patients accepting pelvic lymph node dissection, not all underwent para-aortic lymph

REFERENCES

- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel R, Torre L, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: globocan estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2018) 68:394–424. doi: 10.3322/ caac.21492
- Bhatla N, Aoki D, Sharma D, Sankaranarayanan R. Cancer of the cervix uteri. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. (2018) 143:22–36. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.12611

node dissection, and patients who did not undergo para-aortic lymph node dissection were regarded their para-aortic lymph nodes negative. In fact, lymph node metastasis has always been considered a gradual process in cervical cancer. However, some studies reported that 25–31.2% CC patients had skip lymph node metastases. The latest multiple prospective studies had certified that the rate of skip para-aortic lymph node metastases in cervical cancer was 3.3–6.0% (29–31).

In conclusion, we have established and validated an effective nomogram for predicting preoperative LN metastasis in earlystage cervical cancer. This individualized model provides a more effective and non-invasive preoperative means of assessing patients risk of LN metastasis. The model may identify a lowrisk group of patients who would least benefit from a surgical treatment and give a further guideline in the decision for the need for appropriate adjuvant treatment after surgery.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China (No. 2020-183). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KH: protocol/project development. CBL: manuscript editing. SY and CLL: manuscript writing, data analysis, and data collection or management. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the Clinical Research Plan of SHDC (SHDC2020CR1045B) for KH, the Shanghai Municipal Health Commission (20194Y0085) for CBL, and the Shanghai "Rising Stars of Medical Talent" Youth Development Program (SHWSRS2020087) for CBL.

- Lee SI, Atri M. 2018 FIGO staging system for uterine cervical cancer: enter cross-sectional imaging. *Radiology*. (2019) 292:15–24. doi: 10.1148/radiol. 2019190088
- Bagade S, Fowler KJ, Schwarz JK, Grigsby PW, Dehdashti FPET. MRI evaluation of gynecologic malignancies and prostate cancer. *Semin Nucl Med.* (2015) 45:293–303. doi: 10.1053/j.semnuclmed.2015.03.005
- Steiner A, Narva S, Rinta-Kiikka I, Hietanen S, Hynninen J, Virtanen J. Diagnostic efficiency of whole-body 18F-FDG PET/MRI, MRI alone, and SUV

and ADC values in staging of primary uterine cervical cancer. *Cancer Imaging.* (2021) 21:16–27. doi: 10.1186/s40644-020-00372-5

- Liu S, Feng Z, Zhang J, Ge H, Wu X, Song S. A novel 2-deoxy-2fluorodeoxyglucose (18F-FDG) positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET/CT)-based nomogram to predict lymph node metastasis in early stage uterine cervical squamous cell cancer. *Quant Imaging Med Surg.* (2021) 11:240–8. doi: 10.21037/qims-20-348
- Choi HJ, Ju W, Myung SK, Kim Y. Diagnostic performance of computer tomography, magnetic resonance imaging, and positron emission tomography or positron emission tomography/computer tomography for detection of metastatic lymph nodes in patients with cervical cancer: meta-analysis. *Cancer Sci.* (2010) 101:1471–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2010.01532.x
- Kim D, Shim S, Kim S, Lee S, Park J, Suh D, et al. Preoperative nomogram for the identification of lymph node metastasis in early cervical cancer. Br J Cancer. (2014) 110:34–41. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.718
- Turan T, Kimyon Comert G, Boyraz G, Kilic F, Cakir C, Kilic C, et al. What is the impact of corpus uterine invasion on oncologic outcomes in surgically treated cervical cancer? *J Obstet Gynaecol Res.* (2021) 47:10–20. doi: 10.1111/ jog.14953
- Lv X, Wu Z, Cao J, Hu Y, Liu K, Dai X, et al. A nomogram for predicting the risk of lymph node metastasis in T1-2 non-small-cell lung cancer based on PET/CT and clinical characteristics. *Transl Lung Cancer Res.* (2021) 10:430–8. doi: 10.21037/tlcr-20-1026
- Hou L, Zhou W, Ren J, Du X, Xin L, Zhao X, et al. Radiomics analysis of multiparametric MRI for the preoperative prediction of lymph node metastasis in cervical cancer. *Front Oncol.* (2020) 10:1393. doi: 10.3389/fonc. 2020.01393
- Xiao M, Ma F, Li Y, Li Y, Li M, Zhang G, et al. Multiparametric MRI-based radiomics nomogram for predicting lymph node metastasis in early-stage cervical cancer. J Magn Reson Imaging. (2020) 52:885–96. doi: 10.1002/jmri. 27101
- Liu B, Gao S, Li S. A comprehensive comparison of CT, MRI, positron emission tomography or positron emission tomography/CT, and diffusion weighted imaging-MRI for detecting the lymph nodes metastases in patients with cervical cancer: a meta-analysis based on 67 studies. *Gynecol Obstet Invest.* (2017) 82:209–22. doi: 10.1159/000456006
- He J, Wang Q, Zhang Y, Wu H, Zhou Y, Zhao S. Preoperative prediction of regional lymph node metastasis of colorectal cancer based on F-FDG PET/CT and machine learning. *Ann Nucl Med.* (2021) 35:617–27. doi: 10.1007/s12149-021-01605-8
- Rahmim A, Lodge MA, Karakatsanis NA, Panin VY, Zhou Y, McMillan A, et al. Dynamic whole-body PET imaging: principles, potentials and applications. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*. (2019) 46:501–18. doi: 10.1007/s00259-018-4153-6
- Brunette L, Bonyadlou S, Ji L, Groshen S, Shuster D, Mehta A, et al. Predictive value of FDG PET/CT to detect lymph node metastases in cervical cancer. *Clin Nucl Med.* (2018) 43:793–801. doi: 10.1097/rlu.00000000002252
- Khiewvan B, Torigian D, Emamzadehfard S, Paydary K, Salavati A, Houshmand S, et al. An update on the role of PET/CT and PET/MRI in ovarian cancer. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*. (2017) 44:1079–91. doi: 10.1007/ s00259-017-3638-z
- Wang T, Gao T, Yang J, Yan X, Wang Y, Zhou X, et al. Preoperative prediction of pelvic lymph nodes metastasis in early-stage cervical cancer using radiomics nomogram developed based on T2-weighted MRI and diffusionweighted imaging. *Eur J Radiol.* (2019) 114:128–35. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2019. 01.003
- Wang W, Liu X, Meng Q, Zhang F, Hu K. Nomogram for predicting paraaortic lymph node metastases in patients with cervical cancer. Arch Gynecol Obstet. (2018) 298:381–8. doi: 10.1007/s00404-018-4829-y
- 20. Lee J, Kim Y, Lee T, Jeon Y, Kim K, Chung H, et al. Cost-effectiveness of para-aortic lymphadenectomy before chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced

cervical cancer. J Gynecol Oncol. (2015) 26:171-8. doi: 10.3802/jgo.2015.26. 3.171

- Matsuo K, Machida H, Blake E, Takiuchi T, Mikami M, Roman L. Significance of uterine corpus tumor Invasion in early-stage cervical cancer. *Eur J Surg* Oncol. (2017) 43:725–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2017.01.017
- Hope A, Saha P, Grigsby P. FDG-PET in carcinoma of the uterine cervix with endometrial extension. *Cancer.* (2006) 106:196–200. doi: 10.1002/cncr.21573
- Kim H, Kim W, Lee M, Song E, Loh J. Tumor volume and uterine body invasion assessed by MRI for prediction of outcome in cervical carcinoma treated with concurrent chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Jpn J Clin Oncol.* (2007) 37:858–66. doi: 10.1093/jjco/hym109
- 24. Olthof EP, van der Aa MA, Adam JA, Stalpers LJA, Wenzel HHB, van der Velden J, et al. The role of lymph nodes in cervical cancer: incidence and identification of lymph node metastases-a literature review. *Int J Clin Oncol.* (2021) 26:1600–10. doi: 10.1007/s10147-021-01980-2
- Togami S, Kamio M, Kobayashi H, Douchi T. Is it possible to perform less radical surgery for invasive uterine cervical cancer? *Gynecol Obstet Invest.* (2016) 81:251–5. doi: 10.1159/000439528
- Han X, Wen H, Ju X, Chen X, Ke G, Zhou Y, et al. Predictive factors of para-aortic lymph nodes metastasis in cervical cancer patients: a retrospective analysis based on 723 para-aortic lymphadenectomy cases. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:51840–7. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16025
- Prempree T, Patanaphan V, Viravathana T, Sewchand W, Cho Y, Scott R. Radiation treatment of carcinoma of the cervix with extension into the endometrium: a reappraisal of its significance. *Cancer.* (1982) 49:2015–20. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(19820515)49:103.0.co;2-3
- Ferrandina G, Pedone Anchora L, Gallotta V, Fagotti A, Vizza E, Chiantera V, et al. Can we define the risk of lymph node metastasis in early-stage cervical cancer patients? A large-scale, retrospective study. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2017) 24:2311–8. doi: 10.1245/s10434-017-5917-0
- Chéreau E, Feron J, Ballester M, Coutant C, Bezu C, Rouzier R, et al. Contribution of pelvic and para-aortic lymphadenectomy with sentinel node biopsy in patients with IB2-IIB cervical cancer. *Br J Cancer.* (2012) 106:39–44. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2011.541
- 30. Azaïs H, Ghesquière L, Petitnicolas C, Borghesi Y, Tresch-Bruneel E, Cordoba A, et al. Pretherapeutic staging of locally advanced cervical cancer: inframesenteric paraaortic lymphadenectomy accuracy to detect paraaortic metastases in comparison with infrarenal paraaortic lymphadenectomy. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2017) 147:340–4. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2017.09.012
- 31. Leblanc E, Katdare N, Narducci F, Bresson L, Gouy S, Morice P, et al. Should systematic infrarenal para-aortic dissection be the rule in the pretherapeutic staging of primary or recurrent locally advanced cervix cancer patients with a negative preoperative para-aortic PET imaging? *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. (2016) 26:169–75. doi: 10.1097/igc.00000000000588

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Yang, Liu, Li and Hua. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

